

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	e
Declarationv	'n
Acknowledgements	i
Summaryix	ζ
List of Abbreviationsx	i
List of Tablesxi	i
List of Figures	V
Preface	l
Chapter 1: General Introduction	3
Chapter 2: Literature Review: Canola meal, corn dried distiller's grains and	1
recent developments in amino acid nutrition of dairy cows	б
2.1. What is Canola meal?	6
2.2. What is corn dried distiller's grain?	8
2.3. Comparing protein sources	1
2.3.1. Animal performance	1
2.3.1.1. Corn dried distiller's grains	1
2.3.1.2. Canola meal	3
2.3.1.3. Comparing CM and DDGS	3
2.3.2. Possible nutritional limitations of canola meal and high protein corn dried distiller?	S
grains14	4
2.3.2.1. Protein degradability	4
2.3.2.2. Amino acid profile	5
2.4. Protein and amino acid nutrition of dairy cows	6
2.4.1. <i>Microbial protein production and estimation</i>	6
2.4.2. Predicting amino acid limitations	9
2.4.2.1. Uptake to output ratios	9
2.4.2.2. Amino acid transfer efficiency	0
2.4.2.3. Amino acid extraction efficiency	0
2.4.3. Amino acid supplementation	1
2.4.3.1. Lactational responses to supplementation of other amino acids	3



2.4.3.1.1. Histidine	
2.4.3.1.2. Branched-chain amino acids (BCAA)	
2.4.3.1.3. Phenylalanine and Tyrosine	

Chapter 3: Project Objectives	
-------------------------------	--

Chapter 4. Experiment 1: Determining the optimal ratio of car	ola meal and
high protein dried distiller's grain in rations of high producing I	Holstein dairy
cows	
4.1. Introduction	
4.2. Materials and methods	
4.2.1. Farm and management	
4.2.2. Diets	
4.2.3. Sample collection, preparation and analytical methods	
4.2.3.1. Total mixed rations and ingredients	
4.2.3.2. Animal measurements	
4.2.3.2.1. Milk production and composition	
4.2.3.2.2. Body condition score	
4.2.3.2.3. Urine	
4.2.3.2.4. Girth measurements	
4.2.3.2.5. Blood plasma	
4.2.4. Calculations.	
4.2.5. Statistical analysis.	
4.3. Results.	
4.3.1. Ration evaluation.	
4.3.2. Animal measurements	
4.3.2.1. Milk production and composition	
4.3.2.2. Body condition score	
4.3.2.3. Urine	
4.3.2.4. Blood plasma	
4.3.2.5. Partial net energy balance	
4.4. Discussion.	
4.4.1. Potential impacts of differences in dietary CP profile	
4.4.2. <i>Potential impacts of differences in dietary AA profile</i>	
4.5. Conclusions.	



Chapter 5. Experiment 2: Effects of ruminally protected	methionine and/or
phenylalanine on performance of high producing Holstei	in cows fed rations
with very high levels of canola meal.	
5.1. Introduction	
5.2. Materials and methods.	
5.2.1. Farm and management.	
5.2.2. Diets	
5.2.3. The rumen protected AA products.	
5.2.4. Sample collection, preparation and analytical methods	
5.2.4.1. Total mixed rations and ingredients.	61
5.2.4.2. Animal measurements.	
5.2.4.2.1. Milk production and composition.	
5.2.4.2.2. Body condition score.	
5.2.4.2.3. Urine	
5.2.4.2.4. Blood plasma	
5.2.5. Calculations.	
5.2.6. Statistical analysis.	
5.3. Results.	
5.3.1. Ration evaluation and intakes.	
5.3.2. Animal measurements.	
5.3.2.1. Intake, milk production and its composition	
5.3.2.2. Body condition score	
5.3.2.3. Urine	
5.3.2.4. Blood plasma	
5.3.2.5. Partial net energy balance.	72
5.4. Discussion.	
5.5. Conclusions.	

Chapter 6. Experiment 3: Rumen microbial protein flow, and plasma amino acid concentration, spectrum in early lactation multiparity Holstein cows fed commercial rations. 85 6.1. Introduction. 86 6.2. Materials and methods. 87 6.2.1. Farm and management. 87 6.2.2. Sample collection, preparation and analytical methods. 88



6.2.2.1. Total mixed ration	88
6.2.2.2. Animal measurements	89
6.2.3. Calculations.	
6.2.4. Statistical analysis.	
6.3. Results.	
6.3.1. Dairy farm and total mixed ration characteristics.	
6.3.2. Characteristics of cows in the blood and urine sample groups	
6.3.3. Urine analysis of cows in the urine sample group	
6.3.4. Plasma amino acid concentrations of cows in the blood sample group	
6.4. Discussion	
6.4.1. Estimating rumen microbial CP production.	96
6.4.1.1. Ranges of estimated MCP flow from the rumen	
6.4.1.2. Possible drivers of MCP synthesis	
6.4.2. Determining plasma AA concentrations.	
6.4.2.1. Ranges of plasma AA concentrations	
6.4.2.2. Possible drivers of plasma AA concentrations	
6.4.2.2.1. Correlations of plasma AA with MCP flow from the rumen	105
6.4.2.2.2. Correlations of plasma AA with nutrient profiles of the TMR	105
6.4.2.2.3. Correlations of plasma AA with ingredient profiles of the TMR	
6.4.2.2.4. Correlations of plasma AA with milk production	109
6.4.2.2.5. Inter-correlations of plasma AA	
6.5. Conclusions	

Chapter 7. Experiment 4: Impacts of increased levels of rumina	lly protected		
phenylalanine, supplemented to rations containing high levels of canola meal,			
on performance of high producing Holstein cows			
7.1. Introduction.			
7.2. Materials and methods.			
7.2.1. Farm and management.			
7.2.2. Diets.			
7.2.3. The rumen protected AA products.			
7.2.4. Sample collection, preparation and analytical methods.			
7.2.4.1. Total mixed rations and ingredients.	123		
7.2.4.2. Animal measurements.	123		
7.2.4.2.1. Milk production and composition.			



7.2.4.2.2. Body condition score	
7.2.4.2.3. Urine	
7.2.4.2.4. Blood plasma	
7.2.4.2.5. Fecal	
7.2.5. Calculations.	
7.2.6. Statistical analysis.	
7.3. Results	
7.3.1. Ration evaluation.	
7.3.2. Animal measurements	
7.3.2.1. Dry matter intake and apparent whole tract digestibility	
7.3.2.2. Milk production and its composition	
7.3.2.3. Body condition score	
7.3.2.4. Urine	
7.3.2.5. Blood plasma	
7.3.2.6. Partial net energy balance	
7.4. Discussion.	
7.5. Conclusions.	

Chapter 8: General Discussion	141
8.1. Conclusions and implications	141
8.2. Future research and critical evaluation.	144

References



Declaration

I, Nadia Swanepoel, declare that this thesis, which I hereby submit for the PhD Animal Science degree at the University of Pretoria, is my own work, conducted under the supervision of Prof. L.J. Erasmus and Dr. P.H. Robinson and that it has not previously been submitted by me for a degree at this or any other tertiary institution.

N. Swanepoel Davis, CA, USA September 2015 vi



Acknowledgements

No matter how much I say thank you, nothing will ever be enough to convey how thankful I am to everybody that supported me during my PhD program. I will therefore keep it short and sweet, but without all of you, completing my program would not have been possible.

First of all I would also like to express my appreciation to my supervisor at the University of Pretoria, Prof. Lourens Erasmus for his encouragement, support and ideas during all research studies. Also for helping with the technical difficulties of getting, and staying, registered at the University while living abroad.

There is also Dr. Peter Robinson, the driving force that kept me working from dusk until dawn, reminding me that no PhD ever got done by keeping office hours. An infinite source of knowledge that just "happens to be floating around out there" and the wall to bounce ideas off.

To all my fellow students that took part in collection weeks on the farms, thank you all for being open to new experiences and putting a smile on your faces even when collecting cow urine, during freezing winter temperatures, in the rain, at 5 am: Jill Soderstrom, Blanca Camacho, Jason Serrano, Stacy Tsang, Kristan Reed, Noe Gomez and Casey Dykier. Special thanks to Krystal Baker, you did not have to join us on the farm but your inquisitive nature made you a valued part of the team.

A very special thanks to Grace Cun for going above and beyond in both assistance and support. Without you I would not have gone very far and your sunny personality was always able to disarm the most volatile atmosphere, which frequently developed under these stressful conditions.

Thanks also to Kara Ortega and Theros Ng in the UCD Nutrition lab, as well as Douglas Gisi on the UCD dairy, for helping with lab procedures and showing me how to work with the cannulated cows for gas production procedures.

Thanks has to be given to Mr. William van Die, Aaron Highstreet and other personnel at Cloverdale Dairy (*i.e.*, George, Nacho, Pedro, Junior, José) for their interest, assistance and



patience during the completion of the study. Efforts of the DHIA staff, especially Kari Furtado, in Hanford in arranging and sorting extra milk test samples are also greatly appreciated.

On a more personal note, I want to thank Meg, Emma and Sarah Robinson for your support during my years in Davis. There are not words for how much I appreciate your friendship. As for my own family, Marmie and Parpie, you were always just a Skype call away, ready with advice and moral support when I thought I couldn't go on. And Hugo, even though we had our tough times, you were the one constant thing in my life, keeping me focused and on track. Always ready with a cup of coffee after a long hard day on the farm or in the office, blankies ready to cuddle me up and massaging my feet until I fell asleep. My pride and joy - what have I ever done to deserve a little star like you!

Thank you God for giving me the strength to finish this on time, even with all the delays and other things getting in the way. I hope that I honour You by using my talents to further our knowledge in my field and I pray that I will continue to serve You to the best of my abilities.



Summary

Effects of rumen protected amino acid supplementation on performance of Holstein cows fed rations containing high levels of

canola meal

by

N. Swanepoel

Supervisor:	Prof L.J. Erasmus	
Co-supervisor:	Dr P.H. Robinson	
Department:	Animal and Wildlife Sciences	
Faculty:	Natural and Agricultural Science	
	University of Pretoria	
	Pretoria	
Degree:	PhD Animal Science	

As supplies of canola meal (CM) and dried distiller's grains (DDGS) increase, so does the incentive to use these feeds as protein supplements at higher inclusion levels in dairy cattle rations. However, this could have detrimental effects on animal production due to imbalances of amino acids (AA) or dietary rumen degradable protein (RDP) vs. rumen undegradable protein (RUP) ratios. Few studies have been completed comparing performance of dairy cattle fed CM and DDGS, and little information is available on inclusion levels higher than 120 g/kg dry matter (DM) for either protein source. Overall project objectives were to (1) determine the highest level at which CM and the high protein, low fat DDGS (HPDDG) alternative can be included in dairy rations before adversely affecting production, (2) identify nutritional limitations at high inclusion levels of CM, and (3) identify resolutions for the limitations associated with feeding very high levels of CM to high producing dairy cows. Treatments in Experiment 1 were created by varying List of research project topics and materials



ration inclusion levels of CM and HPDDG: (1) 0 g CM/kg and 200 g HPDDG/kg, (2) 65 g CM/kg and 135 g HPDDG/kg, (3) 135 g CM/kg and 65 g HPDDG/kg, (4) 200 g CM/kg and 0 g HPDDG/kg TMR DM. Results suggest that the optimum level of CM in the ration was in the range of 120 to 135 g/kg DM, and Met and Phe were identified as limiting AA. In Experiment 2 these AA were supplemented in a ruminally protected (RP) form, either alone or in combination, to a Control ration containing 200 g CM/kg DM. Compared to Control, supplemental Met shifted milk energy amongst milk components without affecting milk energy output. Phe alone had no effect on animal performance, but adding it in combination with Met diverted energy away from milk components towards body condition score (BCS) gain. While results suggest that neither Met nor Phe was a 'limiting' AA in this experiment, at least in a classical sense, results suggest that both were metabolically bioactive. Experiment 3 used multiparity cows fed a wide range of contemporary early lactation dairy rations in California (USA), employing sampling practices easily performed on a routine basis on commercial dairy farms, in order to (a) determine normal ranges of microbial crude protein (MCP) flowing from the rumen, and plasma AA concentrations, in early lactation multiparity Holstein cows, to (b) benchmark their high, low and mean levels using sampling methods possible under commercial conditions in order to assist in evaluation of commercial rations formulated with or without the aid of metabolic models, and to (c) create a reference database to help interpret the biological meaning of treatment concentrations of these parameters under commercial and experimental conditions. Since relationships between milk production, total mixed ration (TMR) ingredient profiles and plasma AA concentrations from Experiment 3 confirmed the hypothesis that Phe is important relative to milk production, Experiment 4 was designed to determine if supplementing higher levels of RP Phe would enhance performance of early lactation dairy cows by supplying enough Phe to support increased milk production, after fulfilling its apparent 1st priority of restoring previously mobilized peptides to muscle protein. Indeed this was confirmed since increased Phe supplementation regained the animal energy output lost when CM inclusion was increased above the optimal level.



List of Abbreviations

		1	
AA	amino acid	PD	purine derivatives
ADF	acid detergent fiber	PDC index	PD to creatinine index
ADICP	AD insoluble CP	PDV	portally-drained viscera
ADIN	acid detergent insoluble N	PUFA	polyunsaturated FA
AL	allantoin	PUN	plasma urea N
aNDF	amylase-treated NDF	RDP	rumen degradable CP
aNDFom	aNDF free of residual ash	RFDDGS	reduced fat DDGS
AP	absorbable protein	RP	rumen protected
BCAA	branched-chain AA	RPM	RP methionine
BCS	body condition score	RPP	RP phenylalanine
BUN	blood urea N	RSM	rapeseed meal
BW	body weight	RUP	ruman undegradable CP
CCC	Canola Council of Canada	SBM	soybean meal
CM	canola meal	SCC	somatic cell count
CP	crude protein	SG	specific gravity
CR	creatinine		total mixed ration
CSM DC205	cottonseed meal		total mixed fation
DC305	dried distillant area	11	title protein
DDG		List of AA.	
DDGS	dried distillers grains with solubles	LIST OF AA.	
DHIA	Dairy Herd Improvement Association	Ala	Alanine
DIM	days in milk	Arg	Arginine
	ary matter	Asp	Aspartic acid
	so ii <i>in vitro</i> NDFoin digestibility	Glu	Glutamic acid
EAA	essential AA	Gly	Glycine
FA		His	Histidine
GSL	glucosinolates	Ile	Isoleucine
HCM	high CM treatment with RP Met	Leu	Leucine
НСМР	HCM with RP Phe	Met	Methionine
HPDDG	high protein DDG	Phe	Phenylalanine
LCM	low CM treatment	Pro	Drolino
LSD	least square difference	r io Sor	Sorino
MCP	microbial CP	Ser	Serine
MP	metabolizable protein	Ihr	Threonine
MUN	milk urea nitrogen	Trp	Tryptophan
Ν	nitrogen	Tyr	Tyrosine
NDF	neutral detergent fiber	Val	Valine
NE	net energy		
NEAA	non-essential AA		
NEL	net energy for lactation		
NH ₃	ammonia		
NSC	non-structural carbohydrates		
ОМ	organic matter		
	~		



List of Tables

Table 2.1: Chemical composition (g/kg DM) of 16 samples of canola meal
Table 2.2: Essential amino acid concentration (g/kg DM) of 13 samples of canola meal
Table 2.3: Chemical composition (g/kg DM) of several samples of corn, dried corn distiller's grains
(DDGS), reduced fat DDGS (RFDDGS) and high protein DDG (HPDDG)9
Table 2.4: Essential amino acid concentration (g/kg DM) of several samples of corn, dried corn
distiller's grains (DDGS), reduced fat DDGS (RFDDGS) and high protein DDG (HPDDG) 10

Table 4.1: Chemical analysis (± standard errors) of ingredients used in the total mixed rations (g/kg
dry matter) fed to cows
Table 4.2: Ingredient profile and chemical composition (g/kg dry matter) of total mixed rations fed
to cows
Table 4.3: Production performance and body measurements for cows fed rations with different levels
of canola meal and HPDDG
Table 4.4: Urine allantoin and creatinine concentrations (mg/L) for cows fed rations with different
levels of canola meal and HPDDG
Table 4.5: Free amino acid and urea concentrations (µg/ml) in plasma of cows fed rations with
different levels of canola meal and HPDDG45
Table 4.6: Partial net energy balance for cows fed rations with different levels of canola meal and
HPDDG
Table 5.1: Chemical analysis of ingredients used in the total mixed rations (g/kg dry matter) fed to
the treatment groups
Table 5.2: Ingredient profile and chemical composition (g/kg dry matter) of total mixed rations fed
to the treatment groups



Table 6.1: Some characteristics of the 20 dairy sites and the chemical composition of the total mixed
rations (TMR) fed to the target pen of early lactation cows on the dairy sites
Table 6.2: Ingredient composition (g/kg TMR DM) of the total mixed rations (TMR) fed to the target
pens of early lactation cows on the dairy sites
Table 6.3: Characteristics and analysis of the early lactation cows sampled for blood and urine on the
dairy sites
Table 6.4: Microbial protein flow (g/d) from the rumen as influenced by the nutrient and ingredient
profiles of the total mixed rations (TMR; g/kg DM)100
Table 6.5: Milk production (kg/d) as influenced by the nutrient profile of the total mixed ration
(g/kg)101
Table 6.6: Correlations of plasma amino acid concentrations ($\mu g/mL$) and the nutrient profile of the
rations (g/kg DM) of the 20 dairy sites106
Table 6.7: Correlations of plasma amino acid concentrations (µg/mL) and the ingredient profile of
the rations (g/kg TMR DM) of the 20 dairy sites
Table 7.1: Chemical analysis of ingredients used in the total mixed rations (g/kg dry matter) fed to
the treatment groups
Table 7.2: Ingredient profile and chemical composition (g/kg dry matter) of total mixed rations fed to cows 127
Table 7.3: Dry matter (DM) intakes (kg/d) and apparent total tract digestibility (g/kg DM) of total
mixed rations (TMR) and urine analysis of cows fed TMR with low canola meal (CM), high CM and
high CM supplemented with ruminally protected Phe
Table 7.4: Production performance and body scores for cows fed total mixed rations with low canola
meal (CM), high CM and high CM supplemented with ruminally protected Phe
Table 7.5: Free amino acid, ammonia (µg/ml) and urea concentrations (mg/dL) in plasma of cows
fed total mixed rations with low canola meal (CM), high CM and high CM supplemented with
ruminally protected Phe
Table 7.6: Partial net energy balance for cows fed total mixed rations with low canola meal (CM).
high CM and high CM supplemented with ruminally protected Phe



List of Figures

Figure 4.1: Production and body condition	data with po	olynomial	regressions	(to the 2^{nd}	order)	fitted
to determine the maximum response treatme	nt points	•••••				44

Figure 6.1: Microbial crude protein (MCP) flow from the rumen (g/d) as related to milk production
(kg/d) for techniques using duodenally collected samples (Robinson et al., 1985, 1994, 1996a, 1996b,
1998; Khorasani et al., 1993, 1994; Stensig and Robinson, 1997) to analyze MCP () compared to
the urine allantoin sampling technique (�) from this study97
Figure 6.2: Box-and-whisker plot show the distribution of estimated microbial crude protein (MCP)
flowing from the rumen (g/kg) with the shaded box indicating the median, upper quartile (80 th
percentile) and lower quartile (20th percentile) of measured data points and the whiskers representing
the maximum and minimum measured data points
Figure 6.3: Relationships between the ash and neutral detergent fiber (aNDFom) levels of the TMR
on a DM basis to microbial crude protein (MCP) flow (g/kg) from the rumen in the 20 groups of
cows100
Figure 6.4: Box-and-whisker plots show the distribution of plasma AA concentrations ($\mu g/mL$) for
EAA (a, b, c) and NEAA (d, e) with the shaded box indicating the median, upper quartile (80 th
percentile) and lower quartile (20 th percentile) of measured data points and the whiskers representing
the maximum and minimum measured data points
Figure 6.5: Relationship between the contribution of corn crude protein (CP) to total TMR CP (g/kg
CP) and plasma AA concentrations (μ g/ml) and milk production (kg/d) in the 20 groups of sampled
cows
Figure 6.6: Relationship between methionine (Met), lysine (Lys) and their ratio to milk production
(kg/d) in the 20 groups of sampled cows
Figure 6.7: Inter-relationships amongst plasma AA concentrations in the 20 groups of sampled cows.
Dotted lines represent correlations of $r^2=0.20-0.49$, solid lines for correlations of
r ² >0.50111
Figure 6.8: Relationship between Phenylalanine (Phe) and Tyrosine (Tyr) and to milk production
(kg/d) in the 20 groups of sampled cows





Preface

This thesis consist of a number of chapters which includes two papers already published in peer reviewed journals and two submitted for publication and currently under review. Chapters four to seven were therefore originally written in the format required by the Elsevier publishing company, but was adapted to fit the format of this thesis:

- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2014. Determining the optimal ratio of canola meal and high protein dried distillers grain protein in diets of high producing Holstein dairy cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol., 189, 41-53.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2015. Effects of ruminally protected methionine and/or phenylalanine on performance of high producing Holstein cows fed rations with very high levels of canola meal. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol., 205, 10-22.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2015. Rumen microbial protein flow, and plasma amino acid concentration, spectrum in early lactation multiparity Holstein cows fed commercial rations. (Under review. Submitted to Livestock Science in June 2015).
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2015. Impacts of ruminally protected phenylalanine supplemented to rations containing high levels of canola meal on performance of high producing Holstein cows. (Under review. Submitted to Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. in August 2015).

Chapters four and five are already published but minor changes have been made to the versions included in this thesis as per examiner suggestions during the thesis review process.

As supplies of canola meal (CM) and corn dried distiller's grains (DDGS) increase, so does the incentive to use these feeds as protein supplements at higher inclusion levels in dairy cattle rations, which is addressed as a general discussion in Chapter one. Few studies have been completed comparing dairy cattle performance between CM and DDGS directly, and little information is available on inclusion levels higher than 120 g/kg DM for either protein source. The history of CM and DDGS and recent developments in amino acid (AA) nutrition are therefore reviewed in Chapter



two. The main project objectives of determining the highest feeding level of CM and DDGS, identifying the nutritional limitations of high inclusion levels of CM, and possible resolutions for these limitations, are outline in Chapter three. Chapter four starts with a study to determine the impacts of different inclusion levels of CM and DDGS protein, in the form of high protein DDG, on lactating dairy cows. Since Met and Phe were identified as potentially limiting AA at high inclusion levels of CM, effects of supplementing Met and/or Phe in ruminally protected (RP) form, to rations with high inclusion levels of CM, were studied in Chapter five. In Chapter six a survey was completed to determine total mixed ration (TMR) ingredient profiles across California, and plasma AA concentrations in early lactation multiparity Holstein cows, to create a reference database to help interpret the biological meaning of these parameters under commercial and experimental conditions. Relationships between milk production, TMR ingredient profiles and plasma Phe concentrations confirmed the hypothesis that Phe is important relative to milk production. In Chapter seven, the effects of supplementing higher levels of RP Phe on performance of early lactation dairy cows were therefore studied. Finally, general conclusions and implications, recommendations for future research and critical evaluation of the experimental work are presented in Chapter eight.



Chapter 1: General Introduction

Protein nutrition is critical to high production efficiency of lactating dairy cows, with the ultimate goal and challenge being optimization of rumen efficiency and milk production with a minimum level of dietary crude protein (CP) in order to reduce costs while minimizing negative environmental impacts. Dietary CP is utilized with a relatively low efficiency of 250-350 g/kg ingested CP expressed as milk and body protein creation. The remainder is excreted in urine and feces, with proportions dependent on the level of dietary CP (Broderick, 2003). Ammonia (NH₃) is considered a major air and water pollutant that can negatively impact water quality in its immediate vicinity and at a considerable distance from the emission source, thereby impairing atmospheric quality to pose considerable risks to human health (Hristov et al., 2011). Since NH₃ starts forming and volatilizing almost instantaneously after urine and feces are excreted, due to combination of urine urea with urease in feces on barn floors and soil (Burgos et al., 2010), farm animals were identified as the biggest contributors of gaseous NH₃ emissions in the United States by the NRC (2003). Even though NH₃ is not a greenhouse gas, it may indirectly contribute to nitrous oxide emissions, which contribute to increased greenhouse gas effects and atmospheric ozone layer depletion. Therefore, in order to improve efficiency of CP use by ruminants, it has been suggested that rations be balanced for specific amino acid (AA) requirements of the cows with assumed resultant improved postruminal AA delivery, which would allow use of lower CP rations.

The major protein sources used in rations of dairy cattle in Western areas of North America include high quality alfalfa hay, whole cottonseed and cottonseed meal (CSM), dried corn distillers grains with solubles (DDGS) and canola meal (CM), with alfalfa being substantial if it serves as the main forage source in rations. However, due to the high price of alfalfa hay, and the presence of secondary compounds (*i.e.*, tannins, gossypol) in cottonseed, their inclusion levels in dairy rations are often limited. Therefore, use of CM and DDGS as major supplemental protein sources are very important in many Western US dairy rations.

The USA is the main market for CM exports from Canada, receiving over 50% of total CM exports with over 90% of this imported CM being utilized by the California dairy industry (USDA, 2011;



Nernberg, 2012). In 2011 the Canola Council of Canada (CCC) developed an initiative (Growing Great 2015) which aimed to double Canada's production of CM by 2015 through increased seed production and crushing capacity. By 2013 canola seed production and processing had exceeded 2015 projections, and by 2015 the production aims were far surpassed. Together with an increasing demand for monounsaturated vegetable oils for human consumption (Canola Council of Canada Annual Reports, 2011-2014) it had a cascading effect, resulting in increased amounts of CM produced and available for use in animal feeds. Since CM trades at a discount relative to the price-setting protein soybean meal (SBM), dairy producers continue to increase CM inclusion levels in North American dairy rations.

Due to steadily increasing crude oil prices, the corn ethanol production industry in the Midwestern USA has been expanding rapidly since 2000, and increased production of DDGS, the major by-product of the corn-starch ethanol industry, is projected to continue in coming years, at least as long as government subsidies persist (Wisner, 2010; Liu and Rosentrater, 2011).

As supplies of CM and DDGS increase, so will pressure and incentive to use these products as major protein supplements, at higher inclusion levels, in dairy cattle rations. However, with as much as 400 g/kg of the CP in contemporary California total mixed rations (TMR) already coming from corn products, inclusion of even more corn DDGS protein could have a detrimental effect on animal production. This is because excessive levels of corn protein, which are known to be limiting for milk protein synthesis in AA, particularly lysine (Schwab et al., 1976; Nichols et al., 1998; Schingoethe, 2008), can cause AA imbalances at the intestinal absorptive site, while adding excessive amounts of corn oil to already corn oil rich diets can cause a depression in milk fat due to the fatty acid profile of corn oil (Bauman and Griinari, 2003). Many studies have documented milk protuction responses, when comparing CM to other protein supplements, most showing improved milk and protein yields with CM inclusions, although most of these are grass silage, not corn silage, based rations (Huhtanen et al., 2011).

As CM and DDGS have very different CP degradability profiles, CM being primarily a rumen degradable CP (RDP) source (RDP = 600 - 720 g/kg CP) while DDGS is a high rumen undegradable List of research project topics and materials



CP (RUP) source (RUP = 550 - 650 g/kg CP; data summarized by Mulrooney et al., 2009), high inclusion levels of either could lead to an imbalance in the dietary RDP:RUP ratio, thereby negatively affecting rumen function, and/or creating an imbalance in AA available to support milk production.

Few studies have been completed comparing dairy cattle performance when fed CM and DDGS combinations, and even less information is available on inclusion levels higher than 120 g/kg for either protein source alone or in the presence of the other. The main focus of this project was therefore to determine what the highest level is at which CM and DDGS can be included in dairy rations before adversely affecting production, including the two protein sources at levels higher than 120 g/kg DM. The use of a high protein, low fat DDGS (HPDDG) alternative avoids possible detrimental effects associated with high corn oil inclusions in these dairy rations. If cow production is adversely affected, the next step would be to identify what is limiting performance at high inclusion levels of CM, which could related to protein degradability or even limited AA availability. Once the nutritional limitation has been identified, finding possible resolutions for these limitations, such as feeding a higher/lower bypass protein source or supplementing AA that may be limiting cow production and performance, will be investigated.



Chapter 2: Literature Review: Canola meal, corn dried distiller's grains and recent developments in amino acid nutrition of dairy cows

2.1. What is Canola meal?

Rapeseed (*Brassica napus*) is a member of the *Brassicaceae* family (mustard or cabbage) and is generally grown as an animal feed, for vegetable oil for human consumption, and for biodiesel. It produces a bright-yellow flower and contains about 40% oil, which can be used as salad and cooking oil, or in the manufacture of margarine. However, rapeseed oil is high in erucic acid (~50%) and the rapeseed meal (RSM) produced as a byproduct of oil extraction contains high levels of glucosinolates (GSL). Early RSM varieties had GSL levels between 125 – 207 µmol/g dry oil-free meal (Tripathi and Mishra, 2007), depending on variety and origin, thereby limiting its use in animal feeding. Glucosinolates are known to reduce palatability, and therefore animal intake, as well as having detrimental effects on animal growth and production through endocrine disturbances, inducing iodine deficiency with deleterious impacts on the liver, kidney and thyroid function which can lead to death (Tripathi and Mishra, 2007). Varieties have since been bred for reduced GSL concentration and more palatable oil, with "summer rape" (*Brassica napus* L.) being the first cultivar to contain both characteristics (Stefansson and Kondra, 1975).

The name Canola, derived from "Canadian oil" was named as such to distinguish it from traditional rapeseed since Canola contains low levels of erucic acid (<2%) in the oil and low GSL (<30 µmol/g) in the meal, therefore also known as "double-zero rapeseed" (Newkirk, 2009). As levels of these compounds continue to drop due to selection pressure by plant breeders, they are no longer considered to be a problem (Newkirk et al., 2003). Most CM is produced through a process called pre-press solvent extraction during which canola seeds are cleaned, pre-conditioned and flaked, cooked, mechanically pressed to remove some of the oil, followed by solvent extraction to remove most residual oil. The press-cake is then desolventized and toasted at an optimum temperature



(Newkirk, 2009), and can be distributed for animal feeding as a meal, or pelleted to create a more consistent product.

	Dry matter	Crude	RUP ¹	NDF ²	ADF ³	Fat	Ash	
	-	Protein						
Canola meal	933	440	-	199	129	56	72	а
	924	437	-	220	164	38	91	b
	928	441	395	-	185	11	75	с
	929	410	410	-	121	-	-	d
	976	367	499	-	155	-	-	d
	977	392	498	-	131	-	-	d
	944	422	557	-	143	-	-	d
	945	399	461	-	137	-	-	d
	919	427	440	237	158	-	94	e
	949	440	-	275	208	24	62	f
	879	403	290	-	175	-	75	g
	910	458	274	-	197	-	74	g
	915	383	-	215	175	36	-	h
	928	395	366	272	205	-	-	i
	903	397	-	379	234	43	82	j
	903	378	357	298	205	54	74	k
	-	401	525	319	225	36	80	1
	907	407	243-321#	288	185	42	82	m
	-	-	428	-	-	-	-	n
	-	-	395	-	-	-	-	0
	896	406	-	299	182	30	90	р

Table 2.1: Chemical composition	(g/kg DM) of 1	5 samples of Canola meal
---------------------------------	----------------	---------------------------------

¹ Rumen undegradable protein (g/kg CP). ² Neutral detergent fiber. ³ Acid detergent fiber.

Sources: ^a Mulrooney et al., (2009), ^b Christen et al., (2010), ^c Piepenbrink and Schingoethe (1998), ^d Kendall et al., (1991), ^e Brito and Broderick (2007), ^f Maesoomi et al., (2006), ^g Zinn (1993), ^h Bell (1993), ⁱ Boila and Ingalls (1994), ^j Acharya et al. (2015), ^k NRC (2001), ¹ Maxin et al., (2013), ^m Paz et al., (2014), [#]RUP range depending on analytical method used, ⁿ Jayasinghe et al., (2014), *n*=7, ^o Huang et al., (2015), *n*=5, ^p Broderick et al., (2015).

Table 2.2: Essential amino acid concentration (g/kg DM) of 13 samples of Canola meal

	Arg	His	Ile	Leu	Lys	Met	Phe	Thr	Trp	Val	
Canola meal	28.1	11.9	18.4	33.1	24.3	8.3	18.4	19.6	5.7	24.1	а
	-	14.0	16.5	25.7	20.7	6.9	16.1	16.1	-	19.7	b
	-	12.3	14.1	21.7	17.7	5.3	13.5	14.1	-	16.3	b
	-	13.5	15.7	23.6	18.8	7.4	15.6	16.1	-	17.8	b
	-	14.8	16.4	24.7	18.6	7.6	16.0	16.2	-	19.3	b
	-	13.5	16.4	24.7	19.7	7.8	15.6	16.4	-	18.8	b
	25.0	11.7	16.5	29.5	20.3	6.9	16.9	18.1	-	21.2	c
	28.8	12.7	18.6	32.9	23.2	7.4	18.7	19.1	-	23.8	c
	21.7	10.2	11.3	25.7	20.9	10.6	16.2	16.0	-	14.9	d
	25.4	11.5	16.7	30.4	23.8	8.9	17.4	19.6	4.7	23.3	e
	23.4	12.4	17.3	28.0	23.5	7.7	15.3	17.4	-	21.8	f
	25.9	12.1	16.9	27.6	21.6	8.1	15.0	17.1	-	21.4	f
	26.5	10.6	14.5	25.6	21.2	7.1	15.4	16.7	5.5	17.9	g
	-	10.2	14.9	27.2	19.6	9.3	15.8	17.6	-	17.4	h
	24.1	10.8	15.9	28.8	21.8	7.9	16.4	16.8	5.7	20.9	i

Sources: ^a Piepenbrink and Schingoethe (1998), ^b Kendall et al. (1991), ^c Zinn (1993), ^d Boila and Ingalls (1994), ^e Acharya et al. (2015), ^f Newkirk et al. (2003), ^g NRC (2001), ^h Maxin et al., (2013), ⁱ Paz et al., (2014).



The basic nutrient composition of CM on a dry matter (DM) basis is in Table 2.1, with essential AA (EAA) contents in Table 2.2. The average CP concentration of CM is 411 g/kg DM with 37 g/kg DM fat and a rumen undegradable protein (RUP) fraction of 404 g/kg CP. Since all GSL share a common base structure, but has a variable side chain that is derived from Met, Trp or Phe (Tripathi and Mishra, 2007), the selection process to reduce total GSL in the CM plant resulted in a relatively low Phe concentration.

2.2. What is corn dried distiller's grain?

The two primary processes used to make ethanol in the United States are wet and dry milling (Murthy et al., 2006). It is the dry milling process that produces the most common form of distiller's grains (DDG) where the solubles are mixed with the residual non-fermentable coarse corn kernel components and sold as either wet or dried corn distiller's grains with solubles (DDGS). Native (unprocessed) corn grain has a starch concentration of ~670 g/kg DM and, since starch is converted to glucose and eventually ethanol through fermentation, all other nutrients increase by about 3x in DDGS compared to corn grain (Table 2.3).

The vast quantities and variability in quality of DDG led to development of new generation ethanol production facilities aiming at improving quality of DDG products to create animal feed DDG with specific purposes through technological advances and procedure adjustments (Robinson et al., 2008). There are currently a number of different DDG products available on the market, differing in nutrient levels, depending on the manufacturing process (Table 2.2).

Research showing the detrimental effects of high levels of DDGS on milk fat production (Bauman and Griinari, 2003; Kleinschmit et al., 2007b) led to development of modified DDGS products with different nutrient profiles and fermentation characteristics *vs.* conventional DDGS to replace conventional protein sources without sacrificing animal performance (Liu and Rosentrater, 2011). These include reduced fat DDGS (RFDDGS), produced by extracting the oil from the final DDGS product through solvent extraction, and high protein DDG (HPDDG), which is produced through a pre-fermentation fractionation process by which the germ and bran is removed from the corn meal



	Dry	Crude	RUP ¹	NDF ²	ADF ³	Fat	Ash	
	Matter	Protein						
Corn, steam flaked	881	94	745	95	34	42	15	v
Corn, rolled	718	92	430	103	36	43	15	v
Dried distiller's grains, corn	905	297	-	388	159	107	53	а
C I	889	302	-	421	162	109	58	b
	-	314	-	-	168	120	46	с
	-	274	-	-	-	117	44	d
	912	278	-	336	121	113	42	e
	-	308	550	390	161	112	57	f
	908	278	-	297	-	121	-	g
	853	205	-	183	48	107	62	h
	888	321	645	329	160	-	50	i
	877	313	-	312	92	108	45	k
	900	321	-	369	119	101	46	m
	850	309	-	303	120	125	63	n
	869	259	563	339	252	118	63	р
	867	269	332*	302	131	133	76	р
	899	298	-	261	52	96	51	q
	935	375	658	458	181	-	-	r
	935	410	593	414	152	-	-	r
	963	436	635	361	156	-	-	r
	917	282	365*	320	79	114	55	u
	902	297	508	388	197	100	52	v
	885	308	523	315	94	106	44	w
High protein DDGS corn	939	411	-	230	111	53	19	e
	-	446	-	273	204	42	19	f
	921	400	-	326	-	47	-	g
	914	461	-	264	156	46	25	n
	914	461	561	264	156	46	-	0
	947	454	552	225	66	40	42	р
	904	445	-	287	101	34	19	q
	931	396	-	284	86	58	30	s
	929	424	450^	365	101	39	28	u
	932	415	545	304	101	32	20 24	w
	-	403	636	262	135	40	35	x
Reduced fat DDGS corn	903	319	-	339	155	-+0 55	55 60	j
Reduced fat DD05, com	902	321	_	358	_	53	61	j
	902 875	340	_	128	125	35	53	k
	860	3/15	-	450	120	35	55	1
	907	377	-	31/	101	55 64	52 54	t
	877	340	-	J14 125	101	35	53	w
	807	31/	231_/88#	316	105	55 61	55 60	у

Table 2.3: Chemical composition (g/kg DM) of several samples of corn, dried corn distiller's grains (DDGS), reduced fat DDGS (RFDDGS) and high protein DDG (HPDDG)

¹ Rumen undegradable protein (g/kg CP). ² Neutral detergent fiber. ³ Acid detergent fiber.

Sources: ^a Cromwell et al., (1993), *n*=9, as cited by Liu and Rosentrater (2011), ^b Spiehs et al., (2002), *n*=118, as cited by Liu and Rosentrater (2011), ^c Belyea et al., (2004), *n*=235, cited by Liu and Rosentrater (2011), ^d Liu (2008), *n*=6, as cited by Liu and Rosentrater (2011), ^e Robinson et al., (2008), *n*=10, ^f Schingoethe (2009), ^g Havlin et al., (2015), ^h Liu et al., (2000), ⁱ Kleinschmit et al., (2007), *n*=5, ^j Castillo-Lopez et al., (2014), ^k Mjoun et al., (2010a), ¹ Mjoun et al., (2010b), ^m Mulrooney et al., (2009), ⁿ Kelzer et al., (2009), ^o Hubbart et al., (2009), ^p Kelzer et al., (2010) *Dried distillers product with no heat or cooking before fermentation, ^q Christen et al., (2010), ^r Boila and Ingalls (1994), ^s Acharya et al. (2015), ^t Paz and Kononoff (2014), ^u Williams et al., (2010) ^Calculated for kp = 0.04/h, ^v NRC (2001), ^w Mjoun et al., (2010c), ^x Maxin et al., (2013), ^y Paz et al., (2014), [#]RUP range depending on analytical method used.



Table 2.4: Essential amino acid concentration (g/kg DM) of several samples of corn, dried corn distiller's grains (DDGS), reduced fat DDGS (RFDDGS) and high protein DDG (HPDDG)

	Arg	His	Ile	Leu	Lys	Met	Phe	Thr	Trp	Val	
Corn, steam flaked	4.45	2.94	3.14	10.2	2.87	1.92	4.34	3.44	0.68	4.47	1
Corn, rolled	3.54	2.34	3.11	10.7	2.43	1.94	4.20	3.39	0.90	4.51	1
Dried distiller's grains, corn	11.8	8.0	11.3	36.9	7.8	5.7	16.1	11.3	2.2	14.9	а
C I	12.0	7.6	11.2	35.5	8.5	5.5	14.7	11.3	2.5	15.0	b
	12.9	9.1	10.3	35.0	10.4	7.2	15.0	11.7	-	15.6	с
	14.0	8.0	11.0	33.0	10.0	6.0	14.0	11.0	2.0	15.0	d
	12.1	6.8	9.3	35.3	7.1	5.8	14.2	10.7	-	13.1	e
	14.8	9.4	12.7	36.8	10.9	6.4	14.2	11.8	2.5	16.6	f
	14.0	7.8	10.7	28.2	6.9	10.8	16.9	11.1	-	10.0	i
	15.7	8.8	11.9	31.1	8.5	7.4	19.1	12.1	-	15.4	i
	16.0	8.3	10.5	25.7	8.9	7.6	18.5	11.8	-	14.1	i
	7.6	5.0	6.2	23.3	5.6	4.1	9.1	7.8	1.0	8.3	h
	5.7	3.5	4.4	18.2	3.7	2.9	7.2	5.6	1.0	6.3	h
	12.1	7.4	11.0	28.5	6.7	5.4	14.5	10.2	2.6	14.0	1
	14.6	9.2	12.4	36.2	10.7	6.3	13.9	11.6	-	16.3	m
High protein DDGS, corn	9.6	6.7	9.9	41.2	6.9	6.6	15.3	10.7	1.9	12.3	h
	15.1	10.4	15.4	52.4	12.1	8.0	21.3	15.0	2.3	20.4	j
	15.4	11.5	17.4	56.2	12.2	8.5	21.1	15.2	-	21.3	m
	-	10.2	15.2	51.7	11.0	9.1	20.8	15.4	-	17.2	n
Reduced fat DDGS, corn	16.0	10.4	14.7	42.6	11.0	6.8	16.1	12.9	2.6	18.2	f
	13.1	8.4	11.3	38.8	8.8	5.7	15.7	11.9	3.0	15.7	g
	13.8	8.1	12.1	35.1	9.6	5.6	14.8	10.7	2.6	16.3	k
	16.0	10.4	14.7	42.6	11.0	6.8	10.1	12.9	-	18.2	m
	14.6	9.0	12.2	36.1	10.9	6.3	15.5	11.9	2.7	16.7	0

Sources: ^a Cromwell et al., (1993), n=9, as cited by Liu and Rosentrater (2011), ^b Spiehs et al., (2002), n=118, as cited by Liu and Rosentrater (2011), ^c Han and Liu (2010), n=3, as cited by Liu and Rosentrater (2011), ^d Kim et al., (2008), n=1, as cited by Liu and Rosentrater (2011), ^e Kleinschmit et al., (2007), n=5, ^f Mjoun et al., (2010a), ^g Mjoun et al., (2010b), ^h Kelzer et al., (2010), ⁱ Boila and Ingalls (1994), ^j Acharya et al. (2015), ^k Paz and Kononoff (2014), ¹ NRC (2001), ^m Mjoun et al., (2010c), ⁿ Maxin et al., (2013), ^o Paz et al., (2014).

Corn DDGS contain high levels of RUP which is generally considered to be a high quality protein source relative to milk protein requirements (Grings et al., 1992), and is not very different from CP in HPDDG. However, due to the relatively low Lys concentration in corn-based products (Table 2.3), milk production may be limited by low intestinally absorbable Lys concentrations with high DDGS



inclusion levels if not supplemented with additional Lys through various dietary means (Nichols 1998, Schingoethe 2009).

2.3. Comparing protein sources

2.3.1. Animal performance

2.3.1.1. Corn dried distiller's grains

Data is available on impacts of increasing levels of supplemental DDGS in lactation TMR. A review by Schingoethe et al. (2009) suggests that a nutritionally balanced diet can be formulated with up to 200 g/kg of ration DM as DDGS since studies have reported feeding DDGS up to 300 g/kg TMR DM to lactating dairy cows, often showing positive lactation responses with higher levels of DDGS due to the higher fat concentration leading to more net energy for lactation (NE_L) in the DDGS diets. Other studies also show equal or better performance when DDGS is compared to other protein sources at levels up to 200 g/kg of ration DM (Kelzer et al., 2009; Mjoun et al., 2010a).

Even though there is a consensus amongst commercial dairymen that higher DDGS levels in dairy rations can cause milk fat depression, and some publications have suggested this to be a challenge due to ruminal production of deleterious intermediates from the biohydrogenation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) in corn oil (Bauman and Griinari, 2003), Schingoethe et al. (2009) suggested that these claims are not supported by research results and that it is not the feeding levels of DDGS *per se* that causes milk fat depression, but rather poor ration formulation. Also, a meta-analysis of lactational performance responses to DDGS (Hollmann et al., 2011) could neither support nor refute this claim since milk fat concentration response was not related to ration DDGS level, but was directly related to the milk fat concentration of the Control rations. Therefore, no matter the DDGS inclusion level of the ration, if milk fat concentration was higher than 36 g/kg DM, additional DDGS resulted in a drop in milk fat proportions. Hollmann et al. (2011) also suggested that nutritional characteristics of DDGS (*i.e.*, lack of effective fiber, high digestibility of NDF and the high levels of unsaturated C18:2 and C18:3 fatty acids in the corn oil) accentuates dietary factors that may cause milk fat depression, thereby limiting the level of inclusion of conventional DDGS in dairy rations to less than 100 g/kg of



ration DM. This agrees with Schingoethe et al. (2009) in that the temptation to decrease the level of forage in the ration, due to relatively high NDF levels in DDGS, can lead to milk fat depression due to insufficient amounts of physically effective NDF. A short communication by Zanton et al. (2013) reported a linear decrease in milk and milk fat yield with increasing ration inclusion levels of DDGS and attributed this, as did Kleinschmit et al. (2007b), to an interaction between DDGS and corn silage in the corn-silage based rations fed in those studies. Hollmann et al. (2011) also showed a negative influence of the level of corn silage in the ration on the milk fat yield response to DDGS inclusion levels when corn silage levels were above 470 g/kg TMR DM.

A study by Havlin et al. (2015) suggested that the reason for conflicting study results is because most research on DDGS only considers the gross inclusion level of DDGS in the ration and not the effects of its inclusion on the fatty acid (FA) profile of milk and therefore investigated whether the form of supplemental fat could impact animal performance. Havlin concluded that inclusion of DDGS as a fat and energy source in dairy rations should be limited since it does not have a positive impact on animal performance and, even though more fat in the diet generally stimulates production, corn oil is not the best fat source because high concentrations of PUFA in DDGS may have had detrimental effects on rumen microbes while shifting energy away from milk fat synthesis towards increasing adipose stores.

Use of a low corn oil alternative to conventional DDGS was therefore necessary to compare it to CM experimentally, thereby removing the negative interferences from its fat, especially when rations are formulated with high levels of other corn protein sources. Hubbard et al (2009) reported that dairy rations containing HPDDG had a higher predicted dietary NE_L concentration than rations containing SBM due to a higher amount of fat, improved fiber and protein digestibility, which possibly led to their increased milk production when HPDDG was fed. Kelzer et al. (2009) reported similar lactation performance with HPDDG compared to other protein sources at inclusions up to 150 g/kg TMR DM.

By increasing the levels of RFDDGS to 300 g/kg of TMR DM, DM intake, body weight (BW), body condition score (BCS) and milk protein concentration increased linearly, while milk yield and milk fat concentration was unchanged (Castillo-Lopez et al., 2014). Mjoun et al. (2010a) reported that



RFDDGS performs better than SBM in terms of milk protein concentration and yield, but just as well as DDGS, and that levels of RFDDGS of up to 300 g/kg TMR DM can support equivalent lactation performance before production declines (Mjoun et al., 2010b).

2.3.1.2. Canola meal

Due to the relatively high RDP concentration of CM, with an AA profile that may stimulate rumen microbial (MCP) growth, as well as having an AA profile in the RUP protein fraction that is considered to be advantageous for milk protein synthesis, CM has been credited with having one of the highest biological values of all protein supplements (Piepenbrink and Shingoethe 1998).

A review and meta-analysis comparing the feeding value of CM to SBM in grass silage-based lactation rations showed that CM inclusion in the ration resulted in similar or increased milk productions and higher milk protein yields, suggesting that CM can successfully be substituted for SBM without losing animal performance (Huhtanen et al., 2011). These responses were attributed to increased feed intake, possibly due to better AA and energy balance, improved AA supply and CP degradability and improved efficiency of MCP synthesis from CM.

The effects of substituting various protein sources (*e.g.*, SBM and CSM) in lactating dairy rations with CM was summarized in a meta-analysis by Martineau et al. (2013), also concluding that substitution of other protein sources with CM resulted in positive milk and milk protein responses and confirmed that these responses were associated with increased absorption of EAA. More studies completed later report similar performances of CM compared to other protein sources (Chibisa et al., 2012) and that CM improves milk and protein yield as well as N-utilization in dairy cows regardless of the protein content of the rations (Broderick et al., 2015).

2.3.1.3. Comparing CM and DDGS

Even though limited data is available on the optimal ratio of supplemental CM and DDGS protein in lactation rations, a number of studies have reported advantages of combining the two protein sources on overall animal performance (Mulrooney et al., 2009), and comparing CM to DDGS at different inclusion ratios up to 66 and 104 g/kg TMR DM respectively showed a tendency of higher



absolute values for DM intake, milk and protein yields, BW and BCS at higher CM inclusions, especially the $^{2}/_{3}$ CM: $^{1}/_{3}$ DDGS treatment.

However, a study comparing all 4 (*i.e.*, HPDDG, SBM, CM, DDGS) above mentioned protein sources (Christen et al., 2010) concluded that they were equal in terms of animal performance, with no difference in milk production and DM intake at ~120 g/kg DM (210 g/kg for DDGS to make the rations iso-nitrogenous), but that HPDDG outperformed CM as indicated by an improved plasma AA balance over CM, with a more desirable AA profile for milk protein production. Acharya et al. (2015) compared CM and HPDDG at inclusion levels of ~ 90 and 160 g/kg of TMR DM in both a low CP (143 g/kg DM) and high CP (163 g/kg DM) ration and reported no difference in DM intake, BCS or BCS change, milk yield and milk components between CM and HPDDG in either of the CP diets, but that milk urea N (MUN) was lower for the CM ration fed cows at both levels of dietary CP, suggesting that dietary N was utilized more efficiently for milk protein synthesis in cows fed the CM ration. There was also a tendency for milk whey protein to increase with HPDDG feeding, supporting findings of Christen et al. (2010) suggesting that the AA profiles of the two protein sources play an important role in the overall performance of the cows.

2.3.2. *Possible nutritional limitations of canola meal and high protein corn dried distiller's grains* 2.3.2.1. *Protein degradability*

Even though CM and HPDDG have a very similar CP concentration, these protein sources have different CP degradability profiles which varies considerably between and within protein source depending on the method used to calculate degradability (Table 2.1 & 2.3). With CM being primarily a RDP source while DDGS and HPDDG are high RUP sources, this means that a higher inclusion level of either protein source could lead to an imbalance in the dietary RDP:RUP ratio, thereby negatively affecting rumen function. A lot of research has been dedicated to determining the optimal rumen NH₃ concentrations for MCP synthesis and, even though specific microbial NH₃ requirements are yet to be clearly defined, it has been confirmed that MCP synthesis can be hampered by both a limitation, as well as an excess, of rumen NH₃ and, by extension, RDP levels in the diet (Reynal and Broderick, 2005; Boucher et al., 2007).

14



2.3.2.2. Amino acid profile

A systemic review of the impacts of supplementation of metabolizable Lys and Met on dairy cow performance (Robinson, 2010) showed that increased levels of corn protein in dairy rations depressed the concentration of Lys in absorbable protein (AP) and that rations with more than 0.35 of total ration CP coming from corn products are responsive to supplemental Lys due to its limitation. This is similar to the finding of Hollmann et al (2011), which showed a negative correlation between the milk fat yield response and DDGS inclusion levels when corn silage levels were above 470 g/kg TMR DM, suggesting that inclusion of excess corn protein in diary diets can lead to detrimental effects, as discussed previously. Most studies evaluating corn products such as DDGS report similar findings; that high levels of DDGS creates an absorbable Lys limitation, but increased delivery of other AA, especially Leu but also Phe and/or Tyr and sometimes Met and Val (Nichols et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000; Kleinschmit et al., 2007a; Mjoun et al., 2010a; Acharya et al., 2015).

When CM is included in dairy rations, there is a tendency for plasma Leu concentrations to decrease and plasma Lys to increase (Piepenbrink et al., 1998; Mulrooney et al., 2009; Christen et al., 2010; Acharya et al., 2015) compared to DDGS and SBM. Christen et al. (2010) and Acharya et al. (2015) also showed a lower Phe and Tyr concentration for CM *vs*. HPDDG, but not DDGS, in plasma. The meta-analysis by Martineau et al. (2014) confirmed that positive production responses were associated with increased absorption of all EAA due to improved postruminal supply of protein and absorbable AA from the RUP fraction in CM.

Phenylalanine frequently ranks high as a limiting AA and was identified as 3rd limiting after Lys and Met in SBM, CM and DDGS diets with Tyr as 4th limiting in SBM diets (Nichols et al., 1998; Piepenbrink et al., 1998; Christen et al., 2010; Mjoun et al., 2010a) and 5th limiting after Leu in CM diets (Mulrooney et al., 2009). Liu et al. (2000) identified the same sequence of AA limitations in DDGS as well as DDGS, SBM and fish meal blended dairy diets. Acharya et al. (2015) listed Phe and Tyr as 4th and 5th limiting after Arg in CM and HPDDG diets. Mjoun et al. (2010a) showed that substituting DDGS with RFDDGS has no effect on the plasma AA concentrations, except for a higher



Tyr concentration, which suggests that even though there is a difference in total CP levels between these ingredients, their AA profiles are similar.

2.4. Protein and amino acid nutrition of dairy cows

An extensive literature review of this area was in the MSc dissertation of Swanepoel (2009). However, much research has been completed since then and some is discussed here.

2.4.1. Microbial protein production and estimation

Estimating MCP synthesis in dairy cows in vivo requires accurate measurements of microbial and indigestibility markers entering the small intestine (intestinal cannulation) or passing out of the rumen (omasal cannulation). Thus traditional methods to determine MCP synthesis and AP delivery to the small intestine *in vivo* are invasive, complicated, expensive, time consuming, imprecise and have unknown accuracy (Clark et al., 1992). Therefore the most common method of formulating rations currently involves mathematical and empirical models which simulate ruminal fermentation and predict duodenal protein flow. However, these models inadequately predict MCP synthesis and degradability in the rumen, passage of CP and AA to the intestine (Bateman et al., 2001a,b; Hanigan et al., 2001) and utilization thereof for milk production. Although a recent data analysis reported that metabolic model predicted duodenal EAA flows are sufficiently accurate to balance for EAA in dairy rations under field conditions (Pacheco et al., 2012), it confirmed that the models are less accurate in low concentrate rations and rations not based on corn silage and alfalfa. Also, errors in predicted AA composition of MCP and digestibility of MCP in recently updated models lead to incorrect predictions of duodenal EAA availability and MCP flow (Patton et al., 2015). It was also reported by Lee et al. (2015) that efficiencies of utilization of AA for milk protein are likely overestimated by models due to overestimation of maintenance AA requirements and the continued assumption that efficiency of AA utilization for milk protein synthesis is constant (Doepel et al., 2004), leading to overfeeding of dietary N. Most models still do not allow for additive EAA effects but abide by the single limiting AA theory, which is incorrect, as was demonstrated by Arriola Apelo et al. (2014a, b). Other limitations of current models, such as CNCPS, are that they are CP based, even though analyzed CP



values do not account for all available N, as well as the general failure to acknowledge the contribution of endogenous proteins to the MP supply. However, improvements are being made to newer versions of the models (Tylutki et al., 2008; Tylutki, 2015). Since models cannot yet replace observations from cows, improvement in efficiency of protein utilization by commercial cows requires development of alternative methods to determine and monitor MCP supply, which must be quick and easy for on-farm use (Dewhurst et al., 1996).

As summarized in a review by Shingfield (2000), the correlation between urinary purine derivative (PD) outputs and protein intake in sheep was first documented in the 1930's and research supporting the suggestion that urinary PD could be used to estimate rumen MCP synthesis started in 1965. When nucleic acids are digested in the intestine, the by-product PD are excreted in the urine and milk and can relatively easily be measured. As reviewed by Kanjanapruthipong and Leng (1998) and Tas and Susenbeth (2007), feed purines are not considered to contribute to the PD concentration of the urine since dietary nucleic acids are completely degraded in the rumen. This method therefore assumes that PD metabolites excreted in the urine originate exclusively from microbial nucleic acids degraded in the intestine and therefore reflect rumen MCP synthesis.

Metabolites of PD degradation include allantoin (AL), uric acid, xanthine and hypoxanthine. However only trace amounts of xanthine and hypoxanthine are excreted in cattle, and AL makes up an almost constant molar proportion (0.82 - 0.93) of total PD (summarized by Shingfield, 2000 and Tas and Susenbeth, 2007). Research also indicated that the most important excretory route for PD is urine, accounting for 0.83 to 0.88 of all absorbed PD, with mammary secretion being directly related to that in urine (Susmel et al., 1995), accounting for 0.01 to 0.03 of urinary AL excretion. Indeed Gonzalez-Ronquillo et al. (2003) suggested that excluding PD secretion in milk completely from the calculations would only underestimate total PD excretion by < 7% in dairy cows.

Increasingly, researchers are using urine PD to predict MCP flow from the rumen, thereby avoiding the difficulties associated with traditional *in vivo* methods. However, a review of purine metabolism in ruminants, evaluating use of purine metabolite excretion to estimate MCP supply, documented various sources of error (Shingfield, 2000) associated with the method. These include



the possibility that some feed purines could escape rumen degradation, that rumen microbes vary in their purine concentration, that partitioning of PD between urine and milk can change, and that there is the possibility of endogenous PD metabolism affecting urine PD concentrations. These issues led to studies aimed to overcome these limitations, which were summarized by Firkins et al. (2006). However these errors are mostly associated with caprine and ovine species and, even though urine PD generally estimates a lower duodenal MCP flow compared to direct omasal or duodenal measurements (Tas and Susenbeth, 2007), which themselves may or may not be accurate, it closely reflects changes observed with those measurements and can effectively be used as a non-invasive method to estimate intestinal flow of MCP from the rumen.

In the absence of total urine collection, it has been shown that the PD to creatinine (CR) ratio in spot urine samples is closely correlated to intestinal flow of microbial purines and can be used as a qualitative indicator of rumen MCP supply (Chen et al., 1995; Chizzotti et al., 2008). However, CR is a byproduct of body protein turnover and urine CR concentrations may therefore vary when animals lose or gain BW (Van Niekerk et al., 1963; Susmel et al., 1995). Chen and Ørskov (2004) therefore developed the purine derivative to creatinine (PDC) index which corrects the PD:CR ratio for animal metabolic BW to allow comparisons amongst cows.

Tas and Susenbeth (2007) suggested that total urine volume can be indirectly predicted by using urinary N concentrations or intake and excretion of minerals (*i.e.*, Na, K) but that these methods need further evaluation and validation. Urine specific gravity (SG) has a close relationship with urine volume and can also be used to estimate total urine volume in spot urine samples (Burgos et al., 2005), making it possible to estimate actual MCP synthesis using AL concentrations in the urine (Chen and Gomes, 1995).

Even though a critical review of the spot urine sampling technique suggested that there was considerable diurnal variation associated with these samples (Shingfield and Offer, 1998), among day variation was small, which suggests errors can be overcome by a sampling protocol ensuring comparisons of samples collected at a specific time during the day. Chen and Ørskov (2004) suggested that variability of spot measurements is greater than for total urine collection and that more animals



should be used to reduce errors. Studies designed to evaluate the accuracy of estimating PD output in urine have shown that PD excretion estimated by spot urine sampling was not different from total urine collection (Chizzotti et al., 2008), suggesting that spot urine samples can be used to accurately estimate MCP flow from the rumen under farm conditions. It is the only viable approach currently available for an on-farm diagnostic of MCP supply, and can be used to assess relative differences of total rumen MCP outflow between diets (Shingfield, 2000).

2.4.2. Predicting amino acid limitations

Estimating AA requirements of dairy cows can be done by mathematically calculating AA requirements of different body components and incorporating rates at which the nutrients move through digestive and metabolic pools, or by direct- or indirect dose response infusion studies as described in Swanepoel (2009).

However, current research efforts with dairy cows are moving away from trying to define and meet absolute animal AA requirements, due to the lack of success over a 30 year reference period, to examine metabolic AA impacts and changes in cows at different biological stages or fed under different nutritional scenarios. Methods to estimate AA limiting milk protein synthesis are discussed in Swanepoel (2009), but recent research generally focus on three main methods.

2.4.2.1. Uptake to output ratios

Uptake to output ratio = <u>Arteriovenous difference (g/L) x Mammary blood flow (L/d)</u>

AA output in milk (g/d)

This method describes the efficiency with which AA extracted by the mammary gland are utilized to synthesize milk proteins. Differences between free plasma AA concentrations in coccygeal arterial (before) *vs.* mammary venous (after) (*i.e.*, arteriovenous AA differences before and after mammary utilization), together with estimated mammary blood flow rate, can be used to determine daily mammary uptake of AA from the blood (Nichols et al., 1998). Assuming that the AA composition of milk protein is constant regardless of the ration fed, it is used to calculate daily output of AA in milk using the quantity of milk protein secreted. The AA theoretically limiting milk production can then be identified by comparing uptake of AA by the mammary gland to their calculated output in milk, as



summarized by Clark (1975). If mammary gland extraction of an AA does not meet milk protein requirements, it is considered to be a limiting AA.

2.4.2.2. Amino acid transfer efficiency

Transfer efficiency =

AA output into milk (g/d) x 100

Arterial AA concentration (g/L) x Mammary blood flow (L/d)

This method describes the efficiency with which AA in the blood are transferred to the mammary gland and expressed as milk protein by relating the availability of AA in the arterial (*i.e.*, before mammary utilization) blood plasma to a calculated or theoretical milk protein demand (Vik-Mo et al., 1974). Thus if the concentration of an AA in the blood increases, through supplementation or other means, and the efficiency of transfer of that AA into the mammary gland decreases, this suggests that the supplemented AA is no longer limiting. Therefore transfer coefficients represent utilization for milk protein synthesis of AA that have been extracted from blood by the mammary gland.

2.4.2.3. Amino acid extraction efficiency

Extraction efficiency = $Arteriovenous difference (g/L) \times 100$

Arterial AA concentration (g/L)

Assuming that a low arterial concentration of an AA, together with a large extraction percentage, identifies an AA limiting milk production, this method examines arteriovenous differences as a proportion of AA in the plasma of the coccygeal artery to identify limiting AA. It is generally considered to be the most accurate of the three methods since it accounts for all EAA needs in the mammary gland, including intramammary metabolism, protein synthesis and degradation, rather than only AA output which does not differentiate between protein absorbed from the blood and protein synthesized by the mammary gland (Piepenbrink et al., 1998). Indeed it uses only direct numbers without the inaccuracies associated with estimating mammary blood flow (Nichols et al., 1998).

However, since mammary uptake of Lys from the plasma usually exceeds its requirements for milk production (Lapierre et al., 2005; Rulquin and Pisulewski, 2006), being extracted in accordance to its supply regardless of its 'requirement' (Guinard and Rulquin, 1994; Metcalf et al., 1994), Lys



may always appear as 1st limiting regardless of the ration and protein supplement fed (Nichols et al., 1998).

2.4.3. Amino acid supplementation

Early post-ruminal supplementation of casein consistently resulted in increased milk production in lactating cows (Clark, 1975). However, the elements in casein that caused these increases were not identified and attempts to re-create these improvements by supplementing individual AA have not been successful (Choung & Chamberlain, 1992). Since Met and Lys were widely identified as the most limiting AA for milk production decades ago, most supplementation studies have focused on them, and animal responses to these AA were discussed in detail by Swanepoel (2009). The widespread failure of supplementation of these AA to elicit meaningful lactation responses (Robinson, 2010) may be due to use of inappropriate criteria when limiting AA were identified, and/or that these AA were limiting to such a small extent that their supplementation almost immediately leads to limitations of the 2nd or 3rd limiting AA (Clark, 1975).

A systemic review of the impacts of metabolizable Lys and Met concentrations on cow performance (Robinson, 2010) reported that the extent of benefits in productivity from supplementation of Lys and Met were disappointingly small, even though some differences were statistically significant. Overall, the combined supplementation of Met and Lys provided additional benefits (*e.g.*, increased milk yield, increased milk energy output, increased efficiency of dietary N utilization for milk protein output) over the overall small positive responses to Met alone (*e.g.*, increased milk energy output, increased efficiency of N utilization) and overall negative responses to Lys alone (*e.g.*, decreased DM intake). A meta-analysis (Patton, 2010) to investigate effects of supplementing ruminally protected (RP) Met on lactating dairy cattle performance confirmed that responses to supplemental Met and Lys are inconsistent, but that overall Met supplementation increases milk protein concentration and yield while decreasing DM intake and milk fat concentration. It also suggested that a slight increase in milk yield can be expected.

A more recent meta-analysis (Zanton et al., 2014) suggested that results from Met supplementation on milk protein yield was positive regardless of the Met source but that, contrary to


previous meta-analysis, milk fat yields were only increased by certain Met sources. Other feeding studies have also shown that supplementation of Met results in small increases in milk yield, milk protein concentration and/or yield as well as milk fat concentration (Čermáková et al., 2012), with supplementation of Met in the peri-partal period showing similar positive responses (Osorio et al., 2013), while supplementation of Lys had no positive effects on production (Paz and Kononoff, 2014). Wang et al. (2010) confirmed reports reviewed by Robinson (2010) that combinations of Met and Lys increased milk and milk protein yields above that of Met or Lys alone, with Met alone showing additional increases in milk fat concentration while Lys alone showed little improvement over Controls. And again, milk yield and milk protein concentration and yield was increased for the combined supplementation of Met and Lys over either fed alone (Třináctý et al., 2009) while milk protein concentration and yield was increased over Control in Appuhamy et al. (2011). However, this was not the case for Arriola Apelo et al. (2014a), who reported no difference between Control rations and those supplemented with either Met, Lys or a combination. Instead they reported a decrease in milk protein and lactose yields when Lys and Met was supplemented in addition to Leu. Supplementing combinations of AA in order to balance all AA (9 EAA) or provide an 'ideal' AA balance (*i.e.*, Lys, Met, His, Leu) succeeded in increasing milk yield and milk protein concentration and yield above the Control while decreasing milk lactose and fat concentration, but no differences occurred between all EAA and the 'ideal' mixtures of AA (Haque et al., 2012).

Overall results from research supplementing Met and/or Lys show that Met supplementation results in small production benefits regardless of the base ration. This does not seem to support correction of a Met deficiency in the diets since all of the rations differed. However, if one considers AA as metabolically bioactive compounds, an alternative explanation is that Met is bioactive and can elicit small positive lactation responses regardless of the base ration fed due to its diverse metabolic functionality and utilization. In contrast, unsuccessful supplementation of Lys speaks to a biologically inactive AA and utilization of inappropriate criteria to identify limiting AA in AA extraction experiments, since Lys appears to be limiting in many base rations regardless of the ingredient composition, as discussed above.



Even though other AA such as Phe, Ile, Leu, His, Thr and Arg have previously been identified as being potentially limiting depending on the base ration (Derrig et al., 1974; Vik-Mo et al., 1974; Schwab et al., 1976; Fraser et al., 1991; Varvikko et al., 1999), very little research has examined their importance, and effects of dietary supplementation, on lactation responses.

2.4.3.1. Lactational responses to supplementation of other amino acids

Based on balance studies performed on AA in the early 1960's (Mepham and Linzell, 1966), it was concluded that, based on their transfer stoichiometry, AA can be allocated into different groups (Mepham, 1982). Group 1 (*i.e.*, Met, Phe, Tyr, Trp) being AA that are absorbed by the mammary gland in direct proportion to requirements for milk protein synthesis while group 2 (*i.e.*, Val, Ile, Leu, Arg, Lys) are taken up in excess of requirement due to their ability to be oxidized in the mammary gland to synthesize non-essential AA (NEAA). Mepham (1982) also showed that depletion of any EAA reduces mammary cell uptake of group 1 AA considerably, presumably due to the AA limitation reducing their utilization in milk production, but that mammary uptake of group 2 AA were only reduced by a small amount and that oxidation thereof increased markedly.

2.4.3.1.1. Histidine

Early AA infusion studies reported positive milk yield responses to His (Schwab et al., 1976) as its deletion from AA mixture infusates decreased milk and milk protein yield while increasing milk fat concentration in lactating cows (Fraser et al., 1991). Thus His was identified as being 3rd limiting for milk production after Lys and Met, which was confirmed by Lee et al. (2012) and Giallongo et al. (2015), thereby suggesting that His may be limiting milk production in corn- and alfalfa silage based rations after Met and Lys. This would particularly be the case when RUP and metabolizable protein (MP) is deficient, due to increases in milk, milk protein and milk lactose yields when His was supplemented in addition to Lys and Met. Other infusion studies identified His as 1st limiting when grass silage based rations were fed since His supplementation was associated with increases in milk and milk protein yields (Vanhatalo et al., 1999; Korhonen et al., 2000; Huhtanen et al., 2002) and deletion or infusion of His confirmed its importance in milk yield, and milk protein concentration and yield, in lactating goats (Bequette et al., 2000) and lactating dairy cows (Hadrová et al., 2012).



Supplementing His by adding it to drinking water of dairy cows increased milk and milk lactose yields, showing that His can affect milk production if sufficient quantities bypass the rumen (Doelman et al., 2008). Cant et al. (2001) reported a large decrease in milk fat concentration when a mixture of AA were supplemented. However after His was removed, milk fat concentrations returned to normal suggesting that the decrease in milk fat was due to an AA imbalance (*i.e.*, excess His). This was confirmed by Kim et al. (2001) suggesting that supplementation of His beyond its requirements could reduce cow performance since increased supplies of His reduced milk protein concentration and milk yield. Thus the milk fat to protein ratio may be an indicator of a His imbalance.

2.4.3.1.2. Branched-chain amino acids (BCAA)

Catabolism of BCAA (*i.e.*, Ile, Leu and Val) has been studied since the 1970's and their roles as oxidative precursors, in addition to being used in milk protein production, was documented (Mephan, 1982). Substantial amounts of these AA are catabolized, yielding tricarboxylic cycle intermediates to be incorporated into NEAA (Harper et al., 1984). However, their requirement for milk production is uncertain since there was no lactation response when a combination of BCAA was infused, even though it increased plasma concentrations of added BCAA (Mackle et al., 1999; Korhonen et al., 2002). Hopkins et al. (1994) reported that infusion of BCAA plus Arg prevented a milk fat depression when fiber level in the ration was decreased, suggesting their involvement in *de novo* synthesis of milk fatty acids. Even though supplementation of BCAA did not benefit milk production or composition, a decrease in MUN may have suggested a stimulation of body protein synthesis (Appuhamy et al., 2011).

Even though removal of Val from an infusion mixture of His and other BCAA did not affect any milk production parameters in Korhonen et al. (2002), a Val deficiency was suggested to negatively impact milk protein production (Haque et al., 2013) after its removal from the total EAA infusion decreased its plasma concentrations, thereby supporting the hypothesis that Val plays a role in milk protein synthesis. However, supplementing Val by infusing it with Met and Lys had different effects on lactation response in two consecutive experiments in Schwab et al. (1976), one showing no response while the other showed an increase in milk protein concentration.



There was no negative lactation response when Ile was removed from the AA mixture infused by Korhonen et al. (2002) or Haque et al. (2013) even though plasma Ile concentrations declined. However, when Ile was supplemented in addition to Met, Lys and Val via abomasal infusion, it resulted in an increase in milk protein concentration (Schwab et al., 1976). However, upon Ile supplementation with Phe, there were no further milk production responses. This is consistent with a study supplementing Ile in a RP form (Robinson et al., 1999), in which Ile did not impact milk fat or protein production, but unexpectedly tended to stimulate milk lactose synthesis.

Leu was identified as a possible limiting AA together with His in grass silage based rations (Varvikko et al., 1999), but neither its addition or removal from an infusion mixture of His and other BCAA changed plasma Leu concentrations or affected any milk production parameters in Korhonen et al. (2002). However removal of Leu did reduce plasma insulin concentrations, which supports Leu as an insulin secretagogue (*i.e.*, stimulates production of insulin), thereby increasing tissue protein accumulation (Harper et al., 1984). Indeed, no study in which Leu was infused or supplemented has reported any improvement in milk production or contents (Kröber et al., 2001; Huhtanen et al., 2002; Křížová et al., 2008). The only study claiming a tendency for increased milk protein concentration when Leu was infused, in addition to Met, Lys and His, was Richter et al. (2010). It has been suggested that even though Lys and Leu are both taken up by the mammary gland in excess of requirements, Lys is required to maintain milk production while Leu is mainly oxidized to synthesize other AA which promote muscle protein synthesis, but is not required to sustain milk protein yields (Schwab et al., 1976; Bequette et. al., 1996a, 1996b; 1998). Supplementing Leu in addition to Met and Lys decreased milk protein and lactose concentration in Arriola Apelo et al. (2014a), while infusion of increased amounts of Leu in addition to a complete AA mixture linearly decreased milk fat and lactose concentration and yield, without affecting insulin or glucose concentrations, while increasing milk protein concentration (Rulquin and Pisulewski, 2006).

2.4.3.1.3. Phenylalanine and Tyrosine

Phenylalanine was first identified as being potentially limiting for lactating dairy cows when sodium caseinate was infused and estimated uptake of AA were compared to their theoretical



utilization for milk protein synthesis by the mammary gland (Derrig et al., 1974). Vik-Mo et al. (1974) suggested Phe was 3rd limiting after Met and Lys, followed by Tyr. However when efficiency of extraction were taken into account, Phe became 1st limiting followed by Tyr. After reviewing reported data available at the time, Mephan (1982) also suggested that Met and Phe should be considered the most probable AA to limit milk production due to their consistent identification as most limiting for milk production in previous studies. Recent studies feeding different protein sources have identified Phe as limiting after Lys and Met in corn silage based rations (Nichols et al., 1998; Piepenbrink et al., 1998; Mulrooney et al., 2009; Christen et al., 2010) or when casein and/or glucose were infused (Clark, 1975; Clark et al., 1977) while Phe was reported as 4th limiting after His when AA were removed individually or in groups from a synthetic EAA mixture in successive experiments to determine the effects on production responses (Fraser et al., 1991).

Very little research has been completed in which Phe was supplemented to dairy cattle rations to determine its effect on milk production even though Guinard and Rulquin (1994) reported that the mammary gland has a specific requirement for Phe and Tyr which increases as milk protein production increases, and that supplemented Phe was extracted by the mammary gland in amounts equal to its secretion in milk protein. This may indicate that Phe and Tyr are not extracted in excess and are almost exclusively utilized to support milk production (Clark et al., 1977). This was confirmed by Metcalf et al. (1994), who suggested that since free Phe and Tyr uptakes do not meet their outputs in milk, there must be an alternative source of these AA, possibly bound in peptides. Two *in vivo* studies evaluating the ability of the mammary gland to utilize peptide AA confirmed use of Phe and Leu peptides for milk protein synthesis (Backwell et al., 1994; 1996). Studies investigating effects of Phe on gene expression and milk protein synthesis in incubated bovine mammary epithelial cells revealed that peptide-bound Phe enhanced milk protein synthesis, and that they are utilized more efficiently than free Phe up to a level of 7% of total Phe supply (Zhou et al., 2015). This was also the case for peptidebound Met after supplementation of free Met (Pan et al., 1996 and Wang et al., 1996 as referenced by Bequette and Backwell, 1997). However, Bequette et al. (1998) showed that the normal contribution of peptides to total Phe supply for milk production (~ 8%) decreased when Phe availability was



increased through supplementation, while uptake and utilization of supplemented free Phe from the blood increased. This suggests that increased supplementation of Phe as free AA may displace peptide-bound AA at the risk of decreasing efficiency of milk protein synthesis, indicating that feeding regimes promoting production of peptides in the rumen, or perhaps dietary supplementation of specific peptides, may be the next step in improving milk production and efficiency.

Since Phe is part of a group of AA which are extensively catabolized by the liver, its removal by the liver is directly correlated to total hepatic inflow (*i.e.*, absorbed plus recycled AA), and up to 0.49 could be removed by the liver (Bach et al., 2000; Lapierre et al., 2005). It has therefore been suggested that as more Phe is supplied and absorbed, more will be removed by the liver (Lapierre et al., 2005). However, since almost all (~ 0.97) of the Phe available post-liver is captured by the mammary gland, it is clearly critical to milk protein synthesis. Indeed, Iroshan et al. (2013) showed that milk protein yield decreased when Phe was absent from AA infusions thereby indicating that limited Phe negatively affected milk and milk protein secretion, so confirming the importance of Phe in milk production. A study by Schwab et al. (1976) included Phe with Thr in an infusion mixture with Met and Lys, resulting in increased milk and protein yields. However, since a follow-up study showed no milk production response when Phe was included to the same mixture with Ile, another study confirmed that Thr may have been limiting. Infusing Phe with Met and Trp to a low and high CP diet based on grass silage also had no effect on animal production (Choung and Chamerlain, 1992). Studies by Yu et al. (2014) showed that infusion of Phe can increase pancreatic α -amylase secretion, which could in turn increase DM and starch digestibility in the intestine.

Even though Tyr is considered to be a NEAA, its synthesis depends largely on conversion of Phe to Tyr through Phe hydroxylase activity in the liver and lactating bovine mammary gland (Jorgensen and Larson, 1968; Guinard and Rulquin, 1994). Since mammary secretory cells do not require a dietary source of Tyr to synthesize milk protein, as long as adequate Phe is available, classifying Tyr as a 'conditional EAA' is perhaps more accurate. Thus, if the diet is deficient in Phe, its conversion to Tyr will decline. Jorgensen and Larson (1968) and Bequette and Backwell (1997) showed that when Tyr is supplemented or provided by the diet, conversion of Phe to Tyr is reduced, but even



though additional Tyr reduces the requirement for Phe, it cannot fully replace Phe (Womack and Rose, 1946) and conversion of Phe to Tyr will continue even at high levels of Tyr supplementation (Grau and Steele, 1953). However, there is a possibility that conversion of Phe to Tyr is not sufficient to supply all Tyr requirements for milk production in high producing dairy cows (Jorgensen and Larson, 1968), suggesting that Tyr itself could become a limiting AA when it, or Phe, is not supplied in adequate quantities in the diet.

Overall, the inconsistency in responses of lactating dairy cattle to AA supplementation in many studies all speak to AA as 'bioactive' metabolites rather than to AA as limiting metabolites. Lactation responses to AA supplementation appears to be highly dependent on circumstances, and how each AA expresses its bioactivity can therefore not yet be predicted or explained. When responses to certain AA supplementations are as expected, the ration fed is usually based on a limited number of ingredients, and the ration was often specifically selected to optimize a production response to the target AA. However, under normal commercial circumstances, with multicomponent lactating dairy cattle rations consisting of many ingredients and by-products, responses to AA supplementation changes to various animal performance responses (e.g., BW, BCS) rather than milk production per se. Thus, there is a significant downside risk to supplementing AA at this time due to creation of unexpected AA interactions, even though many researchers do not consider excess availability of AA to be detrimental despite studies demonstrating the deleterious effects of high level supplementation of Lys and/or Met (Robinson et al., 2000; Robinson, 2010). Therefore, supplementation of AA that are not specifically required (i.e., limiting) can change mammary extraction, body AA balances and pools, potentially creating an animal response that is not expected, and not always deemed positive by commercial dairy producers.



Chapter 3: Project objectives

Overall project objectives were to:

- Determine the highest level at which CM and DDGS can be included in dairy rations before adversely affecting production, using a high protein, low fat DDGS (HPDDG) alternative to avoid possible detrimental effects of corn oil on cow production.
- 2) Identify the nutritional limitations at high inclusion levels of CM, which could relate to dietary protein degradability and/or limited AA availability, and
- 3) Find possible resolutions for the limitations associated with feeding very high levels of CM to high producing dairy cows by supplementing potentially limiting AA to high CM rations.



Chapter 4. Experiment 1: Determining the optimal ratio of

canola meal and high protein dried distiller's grain in rations of

high producing Holstein dairy cows

Abstract

Use of canola meal (CM) and dried corn distillers grains with solubles (DDGS) as major supplemental protein sources are common practice in North American dairy rations and usage of both is projected to increase in the future. Since limited data is available on performance of cows fed rations with different ratios of CM and DDGS, our objective was to determine the optimal ratio of CM to DDGS protein in a contemporary lactation dairy ration by feeding combinations of CM and high protein DDG (HPDDG) to early lactation multiparity dairy cows. The experiment was a 4 x 4 Latin square with 28 d periods using four pens of ~320 high producing cows/pen. Treatments were created by varying the amounts of CM and HPDDG added on a DM basis to be: (1) 0 g CM/kg and 200 g/kg HPDDG, (2) 65 g CM/kg and 135 g/kg HPDDG, (3) 135 g CM/kg and 65 g/kg HPDDG, (4) 200 g CM/kg and 0 g/kg HPDDG. Dry matter intake was not affected by the CM/HPDDG ratio in the ration. Milk and lactose yield, true protein (TP) concentration and yield, milk fat yield as well as milk energy output increased at a decreasing rate with a higher CM/HPDDG ratio. Maximum values for milk and TP yield were at ~135 g CM/kg, while lactose, TP concentration and milk energy were maximized at ~120 g CM/kg inclusion. Milk fat concentration and milk energy density decreased linearly with higher CM inclusion. Body condition score change responded quadratically with the highest gain at ~120 g CM/kg inclusion. The purine derivative to creatinine index increased linearly with higher CM inclusion levels, suggesting that microbial protein production (MCP) was limited in the 0 g CM/kg ration and was progressively stimulated by higher feeding levels of CM. Plasma AA concentrations suggest that the reduction in lysine in dietary protein, together with the decrease in MCP synthesis, resulted in a substantial reduction in lysine available for milk production, thereby limiting performance in the higher HPDDG ration. The only AA which decreased in plasma with higher CM feeding levels were phenylalanine, leucine and methionine. That the concentration of leucine in the plasma was still decreasing linearly, while methionine and phenylalanine responded quadratically at the 200 g CM/kg treatment, was interpreted to suggest that the leucine supply remained higher than its requirement at the highest CM inclusion level, but that phenylalanine and/or methionine was limiting production in the highest CM ration. Overall, results suggest that the optimum ratio of CM to HPDDG in these rations was with 120 to 135 g/kg of ration DM from CM.

Keywords: Milk production; Spot urine purine; Plasma amino acids.

Abbreviations: AA, amino acid; ADF, acid detergent fiber; ADICP, AD insoluble CP; AL, allantoin; aNDF, amylase-treated NDF; aNDFom, aNDF free of residual ash; AP, absorbable protein; BCS, body condition score; BUN, blood urea N; BW, body weight; CM, canola meal; CP, crude protein; CR, creatinine; DC305, DairyComp 305 management system; DDGS, dried distillers grains with solubles; DHIA, Dairy Herd Improvement Association; DIM, days in milk; DM, dry matter; EAA, essential AA; HPDDG, high protein DDG; MCP, microbial CP; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; NE_L, net energy for lactation; OM, organic matter; PD, purine derivatives; PDC index, PD to creatinine index; RDP, rumen degradable CP; RUP, rumen undegradable CP; SCC, somatic cell counts; TMR, total mixed ration; TP, true protein.



4.1. Introduction

Protein nutrition is critical for high production efficiency of lactating dairy cows because it impacts their performance and the environment. Sufficient dietary protein is required to optimize production while an excess has negative effects on the environment, primarily when excreted as urea in urine. The major protein sources used in western areas of North America include high quality alfalfa hay, whole cottonseed or cottonseed meal (CSM), dried distillers grains with solubles (DDGS) and canola meal (CM). Due to the variable quality and high price of alfalfa hay, and the presence of secondary compounds (*i.e.*, tannins and gossypol) in cottonseed, their inclusion levels in dairy rations are limited. Therefore, use of CM and DDGS as major supplemental protein sources is currently very high in many US dairy rations.

The Canola Council of Canada developed an initiative (Growing Great 2015) which aims to double 2011 production of CM by 2015 through increased crushing capacity in Canada (Canola Council of Canada Annual Reports, 2010; 2011). The USA is the main market for CM exports from Canada, receiving over 50% of their total CM exports with over 90% of this imported CM being utilized by the California dairy industry (USDA, 2011; Nernberg, 2012). Due to steadily increasing crude oil prices, the corn ethanol production industry in the Midwestern USA has been expanding rapidly since 2000, and increased production of corn distiller's grains, the major by-product of the corn-starch ethanol industry, is projected to continue in coming years, at least as long as government subsidies persist (Wisner, 2010). As supplies of CM and DDGS increase, so will pressure to use these products as major protein supplements in dairy cattle rations. However, with as much as 400 g/kg of the crude protein (CP) in contemporary California total mixed ration (TMR) already coming from corn products, which is known to be limiting for milk protein synthesis in some amino acids (AA), particularly lysine, inclusion of even more corn DDGS protein could have a detrimental effect on production due to AA imbalances at the intestinal absorptive site, as well as by adding excess corn oil to already corn oil rich diets.

Studies comparing CM to DDGS have reported that higher proportions of CM, included at up to 66 and 104 g/kg DM respectively, tended to have higher absolute values for milk and protein yields



(Mulrooney et al., 2009). However, negative effects of high levels of unsaturated fatty acids in corn oil on milk production, often reducing milk fat concentration and yield (Hollmann et al. 2011; Liu and Rosentrater, 2011), necessitates use of a low oil alternative to conventional DDGS when experimentally comparing dietary protein sources involving corn based DDGS. High protein DDG products (HPDDG) provide the opportunity to do this as they have a very similar proximate nutrient profile to CM (Table 4.1).

	Dry matter	Organic matter	Crude protein	aNDF ^b	aNDFom ^c	Fat
Alfalfa, hay	912	889	195	391	380	20.6
	(1.1)	(3.4)	(2.8)	(10.1)	(10.7)	(0.98)
Almond, hulls	981	928	48.9	332	319	24.3
	(0.8)	(2.4)	(2.74)	(21.4)	(18.5)	(0.61)
Oat, hay	918	890	109	560	542	24.3
	(0.6)	(3.6)	(6.1)	(3.2)	(2.4)	(0.75)
Corn, steam flaked grain	857	986	84.4	85.0	84.5	34.6
	(5.3)	(0.3)	(1.11)	(2.86)	(3.12)	(1.17)
Cottonseed, cracked Pima	915	953	218	403	385	223
	(3.4)	(0.8)	(9.8)	(8.9)	(8.1)	(3.2)
Canola meal, pellets (380	893	924	410	271	237	26.4
g/kg CP, solvent)	(5.1)	(1.0)	(2.3)	(5.3)	(7.6)	(1.54)
Distillers grains, high CP	915	978	395	338	331	54.5
(corn with solubles)	(1.9)	(7.1)	(6.1)	(30.0)	(29.3)	(2.18)
Wheat, silage	321	881	82.2	537	495	29.4
	(6.4)	(1.5)	(6.34)	(8.4)	(6.5)	(0.87)
Corn, silage	331	926	80.0	459	447	24.8
	(5.4)	(4.4)	(1.87)	(5.8)	(4.5)	(1.42)
Citrus, pulp	158	954	72.1	189	185	15.7
	(4.3)	(3.5)	(3.56)	(10.8)	(9.3)	(0.90)
Potatoes, tubers (whole)	197	955	79.8	57.0	55.0	< 2.5
	(3.7)	(2.1)	(4.22)	(2.00)	(1.30)	(-)
Pomegranate, pulp waste	251	955	99.2	301	293	59.5
	(19.0)	(2.3)	(17.97)	(46.5)	(46.3)	(11.13)

Table 4.1: Chemical analysis (\pm standard errors ^a) of ingredient	s use	d in the total mixed
rations (g/kg dry matter) fed to cows		

^a Means and (SE) with a 95% confidence level. n = 4, except citrus pulp = 3, potatoes = 2, pomegranate = 2.

^b Neutral detergent fibre assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

^c Neutral detergent fibre assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

Christen et al (2010) suggested that HPDDG outperformed CM at 120 g/kg ration DM, and there were indications that cows fed the HPDDG ration had an improved plasma AA balance *versus* CM, with a more desirable AA profile for milk protein production. However, adding HPDDG to diets



which are already high in corn proteins may lead to lysine becoming limiting to milk production. Also, CM and HPDDG have very different CP degradability profiles with CM being primarily a rumen degradable CP (RDP) source while HPDDG is a high rumen undegradable CP (RUP) source (data summarized by Mulrooney et al., 2009). This means that a higher inclusion level of either could lead to an imbalance in the dietary RDP:RUP ratio, thereby negatively affecting rumen function, and/or creating an imbalance in AA available to support milk production. Few studies have been completed comparing dairy cattle performance between CM and HPDDG directly, and little information is available on inclusion levels higher than 120 g/kg for either protein source.

The objective was to determine the optimal ratio of CM to DDGS protein as the sole supplementary dietary protein source in rations which are relatively high in corn proteins, provided as corn grain and corn silage, by feeding combinations of CM and HPDDG to high producing dairy cows, thereby comparing the two protein sources without negative confounding effects from corn oil in conventional DDGS.

4.2. Materials and methods

The experiment was a 4 x 4 Latin square with 28 d experimental periods, and it took place from October 2011 to February 2012. The William's experimental design (Williams, 1949) was used to generate a uniform design balanced for potential carry-over effects between treatments, as every treatment was fed in every period and to each pen, but never in the same sequence among pens.

All cows were cared for relative to applicable laws of the state of California and the USA, consistent with requirements for "The care and use of animals for scientific purposes", as per the South African National Standard (SANS 10386-2008).

4.2.1. Farm and management

The commercial dairy farm selected for this study is located near Hanford (CA, USA) and milks ~5000 Holstein cows three times a day starting at 04:00, 12:00 and 20:00 h. Cows were housed in free stall barns, bedded with dried manure solids, with access to an outside dry lot and had fresh water available *ad libitum*. As per normal farm practices, cows were randomly allocated once a week from



a single fresh pen at ~20 days in milk (DIM) to one of four early lactation pens. Each of the four pens housed ~320 multiparity early lactation cows (*i.e.*, those cows which had cleared the fresh pen but were not yet confirmed pregnant) with similar lactation characteristics. Once confirmed pregnant, cows are moved from these pens to mid lactation pens. Normal cow movement in and out of the lactation pens was minimally restricted by the study. Treatments were randomly allocated to one of the four early lactation pens at the start of the 1st period and rotated after each 28 d experimental period as described above for a William's design.

4.2.2. Diets

The four rations were formulated by the farm nutritionist to be iso-nutritious for CP and fat, thus allowing comparison of CM and HPDDG as protein sources without confounding treatment effects with other ration nutrient changes, especially dietary fat levels. Treatments were created by varying the ratio of CM and HPDDG added to the ration at 200 g/kg TMR dry matter (DM), while the other 800 g/kg remained the same among treatments. On a DM basis, treatments were designed to be: (1) 0 g CM/kg and 200 g HPDDG/kg, (2) 65 g CM/kg and 135 g HPDDG/kg, (3) 135 g CM/kg and 65 g HPDDG/kg, (4) 200 g CM/kg and 0 g HPDDG/kg TMR DM.

Cows were fed a TMR which was prepared immediately before each feeding by mixing the individual ingredients (*i.e.*, alfalfa hay, wheat and corn silages, CM, HPDDG) and a premix containing the dry ingredients (*i.e.*, almond hulls, oat hay, steam flaked corn grain, cracked pima cottonseed, liquid molasses, mineral premix) in a conventional 2 screw vertical mixer. Cows were fed each morning between 04:30 and 07:30 h, while the cows were at morning milking, and again between 11:00 and 12:30 h for *ad libitum* intake. Each pen received a total of ~15,500 kg of as mixed TMR/d, split into 2 loads (*i.e.*, one full 8,500 kg load of TMR at 1st feeding with a second ~7,000 kg load of TMR at 2nd feeding with the exact amount determined by the feeder). Each 1st feeding of TMR was fed to a clean bunk as bunks were cleared of all residual feed, which was weighed daily by pen, immediately prior to the 1st feeding. Weights for each load of TMR fed were recorded on record sheets at the time of feeding and used together with daily refusals to calculate DM intake per cow/pen. The

V List of research project topics and materials



"TMR tracker" system (Digi-Star LLC, Fort Atkinson, WI, USA) kept a record of the actual ingredient profiles of each batch of TMR mixed.

4.2.3. Sample collection, preparation and analytical methods

4.2.3.1. Total mixed rations and ingredients

Individual feed ingredients and TMR were sampled twice during the last 7 d (*i.e.*, the sampling week) of each of the 4 experimental periods. Ingredients were pooled by period for chemical analysis. Ten handfuls of each TMR were collected at evenly spaced intervals at pre-marked posts along the bunk-line according to Robinson and Meyer (2010) immediately after feeding and before the cows had access to it. All TMR samples, silages and other wet ingredients were weighed, dried at 55°C for 48 h, and allowed to air equilibrate at room temperature for 24 h in order to create moisture stable samples to facilitate determination of their air DM concentration, before being sent for chemical analysis to the UC Davis service laboratory. All samples were ground to pass a 1 mm screen on a model 4 Wiley Mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA). Oven DM was determined as the gravimetric loss when dried at 105°C for 2 h in a forced air oven (Reuter et al., 1986). Total N and acid detergent insoluble CP (ADICP) was determined by the Leco method (Method 990.03, AOAC, 1997) while acid detergent fiber (ADF) and lignin treated with sulphuric acid (lignin(sa)) was determined according to method 973.18 of AOAC (1997). The neutral detergent fiber (NDF) was determined as described by Van Soest et al. (1991). Heat stable amylase was added to samples with a high starch concentration to prevent filtering difficulties (*i.e.*, aNDF) while aNDFom values do not include residual ash. Ash determination was based on gravimetric loss by heating samples to 550°C for 8 h. Soluble carbohydrates (*i.e.*, free sugars fructose, glucose, sucrose) were determined by high performance liquid chromatography as described by Johansen et al. (1996). Minerals were determined using methods of Johnson and Ulrich (1959), Tracy and Moeller (1990) and Meyer and Keliher (1992). Fat was quantified using a standard Soxhlet extraction (Method 2003.05, AOAC, 2006).

4.2.3.2. Animal measurements

At the start of the study, a group of ~180 cows with the lowest DIM (*i.e.*, 30 to 88 DIM) were selected from each pen and coded in DairyComp 305 (DC305, Valley Agricultural Software, Tulare,



CA, USA), in order to prevent them from being sold or moved unless necessary for health purposes. Due to their low DIM, these cows were the most likely to complete the study in their originally assigned pen. This group of ~180 cows/pen was used as the base group from which all representative subgroups were selected for animal samples (*i.e.*, urine, blood) and measurements (*i.e.*, girth, body scores). Only milk production and composition data used all cows which remained eligible (i.e., in their originally assigned pen) throughout the study, regardless of their DIM at the start of the study.

Weekly data backups of the DC305 herd record system were made to crosscheck cow movements. For a cow to remain eligible (i.e., to be included in any sampling dataset and the resulting statistical analysis), they had to have been in their originally assigned pen for the entire 16 week study (i.e., any movement of a cow from their originally assigned pen to another pen, such as the hospital pen, precluded their eligibility. Cows to be sampled or measured (as described in the previous paragraph) were identified by ear tag number during the routine 60 minute 'lockup' which occurred every morning, immediately after milking, for normal pregnancy diagnosis and artificial insemination.

4.2.3.2.1. Milk production and composition

Milk samples were collected, and milk yields recorded, during the first milking (04:00 to 08:00 h) for all four pens on day 28 of each experimental period by Dairy Herd improvement association (DHIA) personnel. Daily milk production was estimated by multiplying the recorded yield by three. A small representative sub-sample of milk was drawn from the sample collection flask (after a short period of mixing) of all cows and preserved with a 2-Bromo-nitropropane-1, 3-diol preservative for subsequent analytical testing. Fat, true protein, lactose and somatic cell counts (SCC) were determined using near infrared spectroscopy at the DHIA laboratory in Hanford (CA, USA).

4.2.3.2.2. Body condition score

A representative subgroup of ~140 cows/pen was selected from the base group of ~180 cows/pen (see section 2.3.2.) at the start of the study for body condition scoring (BCS). This was completed by the same trained scorer on the first day of period 1 and at the end of the sampling week of each experimental period. The BCS system of Ferguson et al. (1994) was used, which works on quarter points based upon several anatomical characteristics of the cows. However, when a cow demonstrated



characteristics which made it difficult to clearly classify her to a specific quarter point (*e.g.*, either 2.00 *versus* 2.25), she was classed as being intermediate (*i.e.*, 2.125). This resulted in addition of an additional 8th point to the system of Ferguson et al. (1994).

4.2.3.2.3. Urine

Spot urine samples were collected on one day during the sampling week of each experimental period from the first ~35 cows from the base group of ~180 cows/pen which voluntarily urinated during morning lockup. Aliquots of urine (7 ml) were transferred into tubes containing 2 ml of 100 ml/L sulphuric acid, reducing the final pH < 2 to prevent bacterial destruction of allantoin (AL) and diluted with deionized water (to prevent precipitation of uric acid) to a final volume of 35 ml and frozen at -20°C. Urine samples were chemically analyzed for creatinine (CR) at the Animal Health Diagnostic Center (College of Veterinary Medicine, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA) according to the Jaffé method using a urine creatinine kit (Roche Diagnostics Corporation, Indianapolis, IN, USA) which utilizes a kinetic colorimetric assay during which CR forms a yellow-orange complex with picrate. Analysis for AL was according to Chen and Gomes (1992), which is based on the method of Young and Conway (1942). Standards were prepared to create working concentrations of 20, 40, 60, 80 and 100 mg/L AL. Urine samples were thawed and centrifuged at 1200xg for 15 min at 20 to 22°C in order to remove precipitate which could influence the colorimetric reading. Samples were diluted 60 times to fit the standard curve. A duplicate standard curve was included at the start and end of each run in order to calculate the AL concentrations in the urine samples. Two inter-run standard samples were used in each run to assess variation among runs but, as all inter-run standards were within 0.05 of the average over all runs, all runs were accepted without inter-run correction. Each urine sample was analyzed in duplicate with the average used as the final concentration.

4.2.3.2.4. Girth measurements

The group of ~35 cows/pen from which urine had been collected in each period were girth measured the next morning using a weigh tape measure (The Coburn company, Inc., Whitewater, WI, USA), by placing the tape around the girth of each cow, just behind the front legs, making sure it was straight and snug and the cow was relaxed before the reading was made.

37



4.2.3.2.5. Blood plasma

A smaller subgroup of 24 cows/pen was selected from the base group of ~180/pen for blood sampling. Blood was collected from the tail (coccygeal) vein of each cow using a 10 ml evacuated tube containing K₂ EDTA (Vacutainer, Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), kept in coolers with ice and centrifuged immediately at 2100*xg* for 15 min at 4°C. Plasma was removed, transferred to duplicate Eppendorf tubes and frozen at -20°C. Samples were sent to the Molecular Structure Facility (University of California, Davis, CA, USA) for physiological AA (*i.e.*, free plasma AA) and ammonia analysis. After samples were acidified with sulfosalicyclic acid to precipitate intact proteins, AA were quantified using a Beckman 6300 AA analyzer (Beckman Coulter, Inc., La Brea, CA, USA) utilizing a lithium citrate buffer system and ion-exchange chromatography to separate AA followed by a "post-column" ninhydrin reaction detection system. Blood urea N (BUN) was measured on the same set at the Animal Health Diagnostic Center (College of Veterinary Medicine, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA), utilizing an automated Roche Modular P Chemistry Analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN, USA).

4.2.4. Calculations

Final oven DM was calculated as the air equilibrated DM (i.e., dried at 55°C) multiplied by the lab oven DM (i.e., dried at 105°C).

Milk energy concentration (MJ/kg) was calculated using a prediction equation from Tyrell and Reid (1965), summing the energetic weights of the milk components as:

((([(4.163 x Fat (g/kg)) + (2.413 x (TP (g/kg)/0.94)) + (2.16 x Lactose (g/kg))] – 11.72) x 2.204) / 1000) x 4.184

with the factor 1000 converting kcal to Mcal, 2.204 converting Mcal/lb to Mcal/kg and 4.184 converting Mcal/kg to MJ/kg. True protein (TP) was converted to CP assuming 60 g/kg non-protein N in total milk N.

Milk energy output (MJ/d) was calculated by multiplying milk energy concentration (MJ/kg) by daily milk yield (kg/d).



Body weight (BW) was calculated using the prediction equation of Mäntysaari and Mäntysaari (2008) in which both heart girth measurements and BCS are considered when estimating BW (kg) as:

93.3 + (230.882 x Girth (m)) - (239.66 x BCS) + (138.318 x (Girth (m) x BCS))

A partial net energy output (MJ/d) balance, used to determine where consumed energy was utilized among the treatments, was calculated by summing the maintenance (NRC, 1989), milk and BCS change energy where maintenance energy (MJ/d) was calculated using BW (kg) as:

(BW^{0.75} x 0.08) x 4.184

and BCS change was calculated as the difference between the BCS at the end and at the beginning of each period and BCS change energy (MJ/d) was calculated as:

((BCS change x 300)/28) x 4.184

assuming 1 unit BCS change over 28 d = 300 Mcal NE_{L} (Chilliard et al., 1991) with the factor 4.184 converting Mcal/d to MJ/d.

Net energy for lactation (NE_L) density (MJ/kg DM) of the diets were estimated using the biological responses of the animals, as expressed in the partial net energy output, and measured DM intake as:

Net energy output (MJ/d) / DM intake (kg/d)

4.2.5. Statistical analysis

All cows which moved from their originally assigned pen during the study, for health or any other reason, were excluded from statistical analysis, thereby reducing the number of eligible cows in each response parameter subgroup from the starting numbers. This resulted in 533 out of 1282 starting cows being eligible for statistical analysis of milk production and 308 out of 560 (i.e., 140 cows/pen) starting cows being eligible for the BCS dataset. Outlier analysis completed blind to treatments identified 10 cows which were removed from the milk production dataset (*i.e.*, 1 due to missing milk composition values in period 4, 1 cow for a milk fat concentration > 65 g/kg, 4 cows for a milk production < 18 kg/d and 4 cows for SCC > 4,000,000 cfu (which was above the assay range)), and 5 cows which were removed from the BCS dataset due to abnormally high or low values. This resulted in final sets of 523, 303 and 346 cows being included in the statistical analysis for milk production,



BCS and girth measurements respectively. From the group of 77 eligible blood cows, 16 (i.e., 4/pen) were randomly selected for plasma AA and BUN assays and 40 cows (i.e., 10/pen) were randomly selected from the group of 346 eligible urine cows for urine AL and CR assays.

Animal production, BCS, girth measurements, urine AL, urine CR, plasma AA and BUN concentrations were analysed using the MIXED procedure of SAS (2000) for a 4 x 4 Latin square design, with cow as the experimental unit within pen in the random statement and period, pen and treatment as fixed effects, which is consistent with guidelines of this journal (Robinson et al. 2006). Orthogonal polynomial contrasts were used in SAS to test linear and quadratic effects of the CM and HPDDG inclusion levels. Second order polynomial regressions were fitted to milk production, milk component, and BCS data in order to depict treatment responses, and the regression equations were used to determine maximum response points.

Dry matter intake (n = 4 pens, calculated on a pen basis with 4 pens/period), TMR components and ingredients and net energy balance (n = 4 pens) used pen as the experimental unit in the GLM option of SAS (2000) with period, pen and treatment as fixed effects.

Reported values are least squares means with differences accepted as significant if $P \le 0.01$ and trends at $P \le 0.05$.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Ration evaluation

The chemical composition of the ingredients used in the TMR (Table 4.1) was similar to ingredients as listed in NRC (2001). Analysis of HPDDG showed that it had a much higher CP (395 *versus* 300 g/kg) but lower fat (54.5 *versus* 113 g/kg) concentration than conventional DDGS. However, HPDDG was similar to CM for both the CP (395 *versus* 410 g/kg) and fat (55 *versus* 26 g/kg) concentration.

The ingredient profile of the TMR fed (Table 4.2) did not differ among treatments, except for inclusion of CM and HPDDG, which varied among treatments as per the experimental objective. While there were small substitutions of minor byproducts (*i.e.*, pomegranate, whey, citrus, potatoes)

40



among periods, these changes made up a very small proportion of the total ration (57 g/kg) and were the same among treatments. There were no differences in the DM, CP, fat and starch concentration of the TMR among treatments, confirming that the dietary objective of iso-proximate nutrient rations were achieved. Linear differences in the nutrient composition among treatments, especially in organic matter (OM), sugar, ADICP and some macro- and micro-minerals were consistent with the difference in CM *versus* HPDDG inclusion, but none were judged to be biologically relevant. The NDF level decreased slightly with higher CM inclusion levels, due to the higher relative fiber level of HPDDG. However, these differences were numerically small and not considered to be biologically significant. The TMR met all nutrient requirements of lactating dairy cows producing 45 – 50 liters of milk/d (NRC, 2001).

Table 4.2: Ingredient profile and chemical composition (g/kg d	ry matter) of total mixed
rations fed to cows	

		_	P^*			
	0 g CM	65 g CM	135 g CM	200 g CM	SEM	Linear
Ingredient profile, g/kg DM ª						
Alfalfa, hay	90.7	89.1	90.0	88.5	2.11	0.50
Premix						
Almond, hulls	96.4	96.9	96.5	97.3	2.37	0.82
Oat, hay	23.5	23.6	23.5	23.7	0.32	0.68
Corn, steam flaked grain	161	162	161	163	7.9	0.91
Mineral, premix	16.4	16.5	16.4	16.6	1.16	0.94
Fat, rumen inert ^b	12.8	12.9	12.9	13.0	0.15	0.65
Cottonseed, cracked Pima ^c	72.2	72.6	72.2	72.8	0.46	0.39
Molasses, liquid	11.4	11.5	11.4	11.5	0.11	0.58
Canola meal, pellets (solvent)	0.00	66.1	135	199	0.86	< 0.01
HPDDG ^d	202	136	67.9	0.00	0.83	< 0.01
Wheat, silage	42.4	43.1	42.5	41.9	1.00	0.59
Corn, silage	214	213	214	216	6.0	0.78
Other ^e	56.7	56.4	56.1	56.7	4.83	0.99
Nutrient profile, g/kg DM ^f						
Dry matter	521	519	518	509	20.6	0.53
Organic matter	927	925	922	918	2.6	< 0.01
Crude protein	170	170	167	170	3.8	0.72
ADICP ^g	96.9	90.2	82.0	71.2	9.44	< 0.01
aNDF ^h	334	321	321	308	7.9	< 0.01
aNDFom ⁱ	324	311	312	299	7.3	< 0.01
ADF ^j	214	220	221	217	6.7	0.60
Fat	53.8	53.7	53.5	53.0	2.04	0.67
Lignin(sa) ^k	42.8	46.0	47.8	50.0	2.47	< 0.01
Starch	188	192	202	190	7.6	0.47
Sugars	33.8	38.8	40.5	47.5	3.31	< 0.01
Ca	7.84	8.27	8.51	9.25	0.451	< 0.01



		g CM/kg I	P*			
	0 g CM	65 g CM	135 g CM	200 g CM	SEM	Linear
Р	3.37	3.76	4.17	4.59	0.246	< 0.01
К	14.7	15.6	16.2	16.8	0.55	< 0.01
Mg	2.32	2.58	2.80	3.14	0.084	< 0.01
S	2.47	2.50	2.53	2.62	0.064	0.01
Na	2.50	2.46	2.45	2.37	0.280	0.62
Cl	5.45	5.39	5.55	5.38	0.420	0.96
mg/kg DM						
Zn	75.9	76.4	76.0	79.7	3.04	0.20
Mn	32.3	35.7	39.3	43.7	12.44	< 0.01
Fe	209	195	194	186	16.8	0.14
Cu	14.8	15.0	14.5	15.1	0.81	0.88
Мо	1.11	1.09	1.13	1.14	0.083	0.55
Se	0.29	0.30	0.36	0.40	0.016	< 0.01

* No quadratic effect reached statistical significance (*i.e.*, P>0.08)

^a Samples pooled by period (*n*=2 per period), based on average ingredient composition during sampling week for each pen, each period (*i.e.*, 16 total samples).

^b EnerGII. Virtus Nutrition, LLC. 520 Industrial Way, Corcoran, CA, USA.

^c Fuzzy Upland cottonseed in Period 1.

^d High protein, low fat, dried distillers grains (see Table 4.1).

^e Period 1: Pomegranate waste and whey liquid (60:40). Period 2: Citrus pulp and pomegranate waste (40:60).

Period 3 & 4: Citrus pulp and potatoes (50:50) & (60:40).

^f Based on total mixed ration samples collected twice during sampling week for each pen, each period (*i.e.*, 32 total samples).

^g Acid detergent insoluble crude protein (g/kg of crude protein).

^h Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

ⁱ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

^j Acid detergent fiber, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

^k Lignin determined by solubilisation of cellulose with sulphuric acid.

4.3.2. Animal measurements

4.3.2.1. Milk production and composition

Milk production (Table 4.3) had a linear and quadratic response, increasing at a decreasing rate with higher CM/HPDDG ratios, reaching a maximum of 47.88 kg/d at 135 g CM/kg inclusion before decreasing slightly. Both milk TP concentration and yield responded quadratically (P<0.01) to the higher CM/HPDDG ratio. However, while TP yield followed the pattern of milk yield with a fitted maximum of 1.4 kg/d at 135 g CM/kg inclusion (Figure 4.1), the fitted maximum TP concentration of 29.4 g/kg was at a level of 120 g CM/kg inclusion (Figure 4.1). Milk fat concentration decreased linearly with higher CM inclusions, even though only to a small extent, while milk fat yield responded quadratically (P<0.01). However, even with this decrease in fat concentration, the fitted maximum fat yield of 1.64 kg/d was still at ~110 g CM/kg (Figure 4.1), mainly due to the higher milk productions at higher CM levels. Milk energy concentration followed fat concentration with a linear decrease as



CM inclusion increased. However, milk energy output had a similar quadratic and linear response

(*P*<0.01) as milk yield with a peak of 136 MJ/day at 120 g CM/kg inclusion (Figure 4.1).

	g CM/kg DM in the ration					Р	
	0 g CM	65 g CM	135 g CM	200 g CM	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
$n = 4 \ pens$							
Dry matter intakes (kg/d)	25.11	25.35	25.84	25.28	0.291	0.63	0.39
n = 523 cows							
Yield (kg/d)							
Milk	44.94	47.41	47.88	47.35	0.335	< 0.01	< 0.01
Fat	1.56	1.64	1.63	1.59	0.015	0.26	< 0.01
True protein	1.30	1.39	1.40	1.38	0.009	< 0.01	< 0.01
Lactose	2.16	2.27	2.27	2.24	0.016	< 0.01	< 0.01
Energy output (MJ/d)	129.1	136.1	135.7	133.2	0.95	< 0.01	< 0.01
Components (g/kg)							
Fat	34.8	34.8	34.1	33.7	0.24	< 0.01	0.23
True protein	29.1	29.4	29.4	29.3	0.10	0.02	< 0.01
Lactose	48.1	47.8	47.3	47.3	0.07	< 0.01	< 0.01
Energy density (MJ/kg)	2.88	2.88	2.84	2.83	0.010	< 0.01	0.19
Somatic cell count	171	142	167	149	14.2	0.43	0.64
(000)							
n = 303 cows	2.36	2.38	2.38	2.36	0.022	0.62	0.06
Body condition score	0.011	0.034	0.080	0.029	0.0143	0.11	< 0.01
(BCS)							
BCS change (unit/28 d)							
	205.7	205.3	205.8	205.5	0.47	0.98	0.55
$n = 346 \ cows$	673	674	675	671	3.5	0.81	0.44
Girth (cm)							
Body weight (kg)							

 Table 4.3: Production performance and body measurements for cows fed rations with

 different levels of canola meal and HPDDG^a

^a High protein, low fat, dried distillers grains (see Table 4.1)

4.3.2.2. Body condition score

Body condition score (Table 4.3) was not affected by treatments, but the mean BCS of 2.37 was slightly below the desired range for most efficient milk production of 2.5 to 3.0 (Wildman et al., 1982; Wattiaux 1994). Change in BCS over 28 d was positive for all treatments, which is desirable for cows post peak production, while suggesting that the additional milk at the 135 g CM/kg inclusion level was not produced at the expense of body condition. The best fitted line (Figure 4.1) showed a quadratic response with a fitted maximum BCS gain of 0.063 units/28 d at ~120 g CM/kg inclusion. Energy



used for BCS change (Table 4.6) also had a quadratic response, with the highest energy need of 2.85 MJ/d at ~120 g CM/kg inclusion (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1: Production and body condition data with polynomial regressions (to the 2nd order) fitted to determine the maximum response treatment points.

4.3.2.3. Urine

Urine AL concentrations (Table 4.4) did not differ among treatments while CR concentrations decreased linearly (P=0.01) with higher CM inclusions, which could be due to increased urine volume. However, since total urine was not collected, the ratio of AL to CR was used to estimate the change in rumen microbial growth. The AL:CR ratio increased (P<0.01) with higher CM inclusion levels.

4.3.2.4. Blood plasma

All essential amino acids (EAA) except histidine (P=0.80) responded linearly, with threonine and histidine also responding quadratically, to an increased CM/HPDDG ratio in the ration (Table 4.5; P<0.01). By increasing, or decreasing, in the plasma as the ratio of the two ingredients in the ration changed, the impacts of the differences in the AA profiles of CM and HPDDG were demonstrated.



		g CM/kg DM in the ration					Р
	0 g CM	65 g CM	135 g CM	200 g CM	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
$n = 40 cows^*$							
Allantoin (AL)	3360	3187	3396	3370	97.9	0.57	0.43
Creatinine (CR)	1082	980	1028	946	35.3	0.01	0.75
AL:CR ratio	3.12	3.29	3.36	3.61	0.088	< 0.01	0.58
PDC index ^b	640	672	690	737	17.1	< 0.01	0.65

Table 4.4: Urine allantoin and creatinine concentrations (mg/L) for cows fed rations with different levels of canola meal and HPDDG^a

^a High protein, low fat, dried distillers grains (see Table 4.1).

^b Purine derivative to creatinine index = $(AL_{adjusted}:CR)^*(Body weight (kg))^{0.75}$.

* Only a group of 10 cows/pen were selected from the group of eligible urine cows for urine AL and CR analysis as these were the cows with repeated samples across periods.

Most of the EAA increased slightly between 0 and 65 g CM/kg, increasing at a faster rate from 65 to 135 g CM/kg before plateauing at 200 g CM/kg. Threonine and arginine kept increasing linearly from 65 to 200 g CM/kg. Leucine and phenylalanine decreased linearly with higher CM levels while methionine and histidine decreased from 0 to 65 g CM/kg, remained constant up to 165 g CM/kg before increasing slightly at 200 g CM/kg. The plasma lysine to methionine ratio increased with higher CM levels, with the optimum ratio of 3:1 (NRC, 2001) achieved between 65 and 135 g CM/kg.

	g CM/kg DM in the ration					Р	
	0 g CM	65 g CM	135 g CM	200 g CM	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
$n = 16 cows^*$							
Essential amino acids							
Threonine	10.9	10.2	12.1	14.0	0.48	< 0.01	< 0.01
Valine	30.4	30.6	33.3	34.4	1.00	< 0.01	0.42
Methionine	3.89	3.42	3.38	3.48	0.132	0.03	0.03
Isoleucine	14.3	14.2	15.9	16.5	0.51	< 0.01	0.30
Leucine	36.1	31.4	28.5	23.0	1.08	< 0.01	0.64
Phenylalanine	11.4	10.2	9.74	9.46	0.295	< 0.01	0.05
Tryptophan	10.5	10.5	12.2	13.5	0.50	< 0.01	0.06
Lysine	7.91	8.48	10.9	12.7	0.464	< 0.01	0.08
Histidine	8.79	7.85	8.10	8.63	0.239	0.80	< 0.01
Arginine	11.2	11.3	13.4	15.5	0.52	< 0.01	0.03
Lys:Met ratio	2.11	2.59	3.33	3.73	0.146	< 0.01	0.67
Non-essential amino acids							
Homocystine	0.80	0.88	1.07	1.10	0.048	< 0.01	0.60
Aspartic acid	1.13	1.06	1.14	1.19	0.107	0.38	0.41
Tyrosine	13.3	11.3	10.2	9.32	0.479	< 0.01	0.15
Serine	10.1	8.34	8.66	9.29	0.336	0.12	< 0.01

Table 4.5: Free amino acid and urea concentrations (μ g/ml) in plasma of cows fed rations with different levels of canola meal and HPDDG^a



		g CM/kg DM in the ration					Р
	0 g CM	65 g CM	135 g CM	200 g CM	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
Glutamic acid	6.83	6.97	6.99	7.22	0.195	0.13	0.78
Glutamine	54.3	51.8	50.5	50.4	2.03	0.15	0.55
Glycine	24.0	21.2	23.9	27.7	1.40	< 0.01	< 0.01
Alanine	21.9	19.6	21.7	23.4	0.76	0.03	< 0.01
3-Methylhistidine	1.10	1.05	0.86	0.87	0.083	< 0.01	0.60
Urea	143	147	152	149	4.3	0.15	0.30
Ammonia	2.40	2.28	2.25	2.19	0.083	0.06	0.68

^a High protein, low fat, dried distillers grains (see Table 4.1)

* Only a group of 4 cows/pen/period was randomly selected from the group of eligible blood cows and sent for amino acid analysis as this was sufficient to determine significant differences among treatments.

4.3.2.5. Partial net energy balance

Pen averages of response parameters per period were used to calculate the partial NE balance (Table 4.6) for each treatment. Calculated milk and total energy output changed quadratically with increasing CM inclusion levels (*i.e.*, highest values at intermediate CM inclusion levels). However, even though the total NE balance was highest at intermediate CM inclusion levels , the calculated dietary NE_L values did not differ (P=0.6) between the treatments, suggesting that dietary energy was used more efficiently at intermediate CM inclusion levels.

Table 4.6: Partial net energy	balance for cows fee	l rations with differen	nt levels of canola meal
and HPDDG ^a			

		g CM/kg DM in the ration					Р
	0 g CM	65 g CM	135 g CM	200 g CM	SEM	Linear	Quadratic
$n = 4 \ pens$							
Maintenance energy (MJ/d)	44.3	44.1	44.2	44.4	0.18	0.73	0.57
Milk energy output (MJ/d)	129	136	135	133	1.1	0.16	0.04
BCS ^b energy (MJ/d)	0.6	1.6	3.5	1.2	1.33	0.67	0.43
Total Net Energy (MJ/d)	174	182	183	179	1.5	0.15	0.04
NE ^c (MJ/kg DM)	6.93	7.16	7.09	7.12	0.134	0.60	0.61

^a High protein, low fat, dried distillers grains (see Table 4.1)

^b Body condition score

^c Net energy available for lactation

4.4. Discussion

In the current study optimum levels of CM in the ration for BCS change and milk production overlapped in the range of 120 to 135 g/kg DM. This corresponds with Mulrooney et al. (2009) where



numerical values for DM intake, milk yield and composition, BW and BCS were higher with higher inclusions of CM *versus* DDGS, especially at their $^{2}/_{3}$ CM treatment. Increasing or decreasing inclusion levels of CM from 135 g/kg DM in our study resulted in a general decline in cow performance, except milk fat concentration which was higher with higher levels of HPDDG compared to CM, which is also consistent with conclusions of Mulrooney et al (2009) and Christen et al (2010). Concerns about possible milk fat depression at high levels of DDGS, due to excessive dietary corn oil inclusion levels, were avoided by using HPDDG. However, since milk fat concentration decreased linearly with increased CM inclusion, although there was no numerical difference between the 0 and 65 g/kg inclusion levels, it is possible that the highest levels of HPDDG might have prevented further increases in milk fat concentration.

4.4.1. Potential impacts of differences in dietary CP profile

The four treatment rations actually fed were evaluated post-experimentally using the metabolic model Shield (Robinson, 2009) which calculates potential over- or undersupply of nutrients and estimates potential nutritional limitations to performance. It was known that, even though the CP concentration is very similar between CM and HPDDG, they have very different rumen degradability and AA profiles, with CM being primarily an RDP source, high in lysine, while HPDDG is an RUP source which is low in lysine. Model evaluations confirmed this by indicating that the rations with the highest HPDDG inclusion were limiting in RDP at only 0.84 of requirement, which would have limited microbial protein (MCP) production for the 0 g CM/kg treatment. In contrast, the 200 g CM/kg treatment was limiting in RUP at 0.62 of requirement, only supplying 0.86 of required absorbable protein (AP).

According to NRC (2001), a drop of dietary RDP below 95 to 105 g/kg DM may depress MCP synthesis. In our study, predicted RDP levels were 84, 89, 95 and 103 g/kg DM for the 0, 65, 135 and 200 g CM/kg treatments respectively. Boucher et al (2007) reported a maximum response of MCP synthesis when RDP was 100 to 108 g/kg DM, while MCP synthesis decreased at 116 g/kg DM, probably due to overproduction of ammonia. At 1330 g/d, soluble CP intake for the 0 g CM/kg treatment according to Shield was only 0.64 of the predicted optimum, and was below the optimum



level of 1200 g/d as suggested in a review by Robinson (1996). Since Robinson (1996) also reported a decline in bacterial N flow when rumen ammonia concentrations fell below 90 mg/L, or exceeded 110 mg/L, either due to negative feedback mechanisms or direct bacterial toxicity, predicted rumen ammonia levels in our study (*i.e.*, 62, 80, 100 and 113 mg/L for the 0, 65, 135 and 200 g CM/kg treatments respectively) suggest that MCP synthesis may have been limited at the 0 g CM/kg treatment. However, rumen ammonia concentrations of 123 and 128 mg/L were reported to be optimal for rumen bacterial growth by Reynal and Broderick (2005) and Boucher et al (2007) respectively. This suggests that RDP and ammonia could have been limiting MCP synthesis in the rumen, thereby reducing performance of cows in the all HPDDG treatments. However, the possibility of an oversupply of RDP, and therefore ammonia toxicity, at 200 g CM/kg does not seem to have occurred.

Previous studies have demonstrated that the urine purine derivative (PD) concentration can be effectively used as a non-invasive method to estimate intestinal flow of MCP from the rumen (Chen and Ørskov, 2003; Gonzalez-Ronquillo et al., 2003). Chen et al (1995) concluded that the PD to CR ratio in spot urine samples correlates well with intestinal flow of microbial purines and can be used as a qualitative indicator of rumen MCP supply, independent of urine volume, thereby obviating the need for total urine collection. Even though it is accepted that CR is excreted at a constant rate on a BW basis, daily CR excretion is related to body protein mass turnover and therefore varies among cows and studies (19 to 29 mg/kg BW; Valadares et al., 1999; Moorby et al., 2006). Thus our estimation of differences in MCP yield from the rumen is limited to relative measurements. Nevertheless, concentrations of AL and CR in our study were 20 to 50% higher than in these previous studies.

In Han et al (1992), Gonzalez-Ronquillo et al (2003) and Moorby et al (2006), lower DM intake, digestibility and milk yield could have been responsible for lower MCP synthesis, and therefore lower AL concentrations, while very high urine volumes diluted AL concentration (mg/L) in Valadares et al (1999). However when DM intake, milk yield and urine volumes similar to ours were reported (Vagnoni and Broderick, 1997; Reynal and Broderick, 2005), AL concentrations are consistent among studies. Our CR concentrations were corrected by a factor of 0.7 (based on our internal laboratory



results) to adjust for loss of CR after acid treatment to stabilize urine samples, which could be one reason why it is higher than in previous studies. The correction factor of 0.7 was obtained by calculating the difference in CR concentration between a urine sample treated with acid and the same urine sample prior to acid treatment. However, Chizzotti et al (2008) reported that heavier animals have lower body protein concentration, and therefore lower urine CR outputs per unit BW. The average BW of the cows in our current study was higher (673 *versus* 627 and 560 kg from Moorby et al (2006) and Gonzalez-Ronquillo et al (2003) respectively), but the BCS was relatively lower than in these studies. Since lean animals with a lower BCS may have a higher urine CR concentration per unit BW, expressing CR values as a function of metabolic BW and BCS converges the CR values among studies.

As it has been reported that urinary AL makes up an almost constant molar proportion of total PD, uric acid was not analyzed in our study and AL concentrations in urine samples were corrected to total PD using a factor of 0.91 (Vagnoni and Broderick, 1997; Valadares et al., 1999; Gonzalez-Ronquillo et al., 2003; Reynal and Broderick, 2005; Moorby et al., 2006), which was used to determine the purine derivative to creatinine (PDC) index as described by Chen and Ørskov (2003), thereby correcting the PD:CR ratio for metabolic BW to allow comparison among cows. In addition, this study included a correction for BCS to account for differences in lean body mass. The PDC index (Table 4.4) follows the same pattern as the AL:CR ratio, increasing linearly (P<0.01) with higher CM inclusions, strongly suggesting that MCP yield was not negatively affected by the increasing level of RDP due to increasing levels of CM in the ration. This suggests that a high level of rumen ammonia did not limit microbial growth on the 200 g CM/kg ration, which corresponds with Reynal and Broderick (2005) and Boucher et al (2007). It seems clear that increased levels of CM, up to 200 g/kg DM, continued to stimulate rumen MCP synthesis.

4.4.2. Potential impacts of differences in dietary AA profile

It is generally accepted that lysine is the EAA required in the largest quantities for milk production in high producing dairy cows. It has also been identified, together with methionine, as the 1st or 2nd limiting AA in corn-based dairy rations (NRC, 2001). Originating from corn grain, HPDDG is low in



lysine (NRC, 2001) and, since many contemporary US dairy rations are already high in corn products (Swanepoel et al., 2010), there is a strong possibility that lysine was limiting at the highest HPDDG inclusion level in our study.

Christen et al (2010) concluded that HPDDG delivered a more desirable AA profile for casein production, thereby increasing the TP concentration in milk, with a number of EAA being less limiting in HPDDG compared to CM. However the positive effect that adding HPDDG to the ration had on production only occurred up to 120 g CM/kg inclusion, after which production was reduced. A systematic review of the impacts of metabolizable lysine and methionine concentrations on cow performance (Robinson, 2010) showed that increased levels of corn protein in dairy rations depressed the concentration of lysine in AP and that rations with over 0.35 of total ration CP coming from corn products are responsive to supplemental lysine due to its limitation. In the context of our study, for the two treatments with the highest HPDDG inclusion, the proportions of total CP coming from corn products were 0.51 and 0.66, suggesting the possibility of a lysine deficit.

Plasma AA analysis (Table 4.5) showed that lysine concentrations increased linearly with higher CM inclusions, while plasma methionine decreased with higher CM inclusion, but only to the 135 g/kg level. The sharp initial decline in methionine from 0 to 65 g CM/kg suggests that lysine was the limiting AA in the all HPDDG ration, thereby leaving excess AA unused in plasma at 0 g CM/kg but, as more lysine was supplied with the 65 g CM/kg ration, both methionine and lysine were utilized and their concentrations in plasma declined. All other EAA followed the same general pattern, supporting the hypothesis of lysine being the limiting AA at the highest HPDDG level. Excess AA remained unutilized in blood until lysine was supplied with more CM at the 135 g CM/kg level, after which AA were utilized for production. Alleviation of the AA limitation and the subsequent decrease in concentrations of other AA in plasma corresponds with other studies (*e.g.*, Piepenbrink et al., 1998). The reduction in lysine with the all HPDDG ration, together with the decrease in MCP synthesis, resulted in a substantial reduction in lysine available for milk production, which likely explains the reduced performance for the all HPDDG treatment.



The reduced performance with the 200 g CM/kg ration cannot be attributed to decreased MCP synthesis since there was a linear increase in PD derived MCP flow with increasing CM inclusion levels. Milk protein yield usually increases linearly with increased flow of MCP up to a point at which something other than the total amount of AP limits milk protein production (Vagnoni and Broderick, 1997). Even though MCP provides between 0.40 and 0.93 of total protein reaching the small intestine (Djouvinov and Todorov, 1994; Robinson, 1996), the limited amount of dietary RUP is usually characterized by a limitation of specific AA at the intestinal absorptive site. The only EAA which decreased in plasma with increasing levels of CM were methionine, phenylalanine and leucine. However, in contrast to leucine which decreased linearly, both methionine (P=0.03) and phenylalanine (P=0.05) responded quadratically (*i.e.*, declined less rapidly) with higher CM inclusions, but only plasma methionine tended to increase from the 135 to 200 g CM/kg treatment. That leucine showed a huge quantitative decline in plasma, almost 0.50, with no quadratic effect, suggests that leucine was supplied over its requirement in all rations. Christen et al (2010) reported phenylalanine and leucine as the 3rd and 4th limiting AA in corn silage based rations when HPDDG and CM were fed. When methionine and lysine were added to a CM containing ration by Piepenbrink et al (1998), thereby alleviating their limitation, it increased milk protein concentration while leucine and phenylalanine concentrations in the plasma decreased, suggesting phenylalanine and then leucine as the 3rd and 4th limiting AA. This is also in accordance with Mulrooney et al (2009) who showed the same plasma AA pattern as in our study when CM versus DDGS was fed. Most studies comparing protein sources identify lysine as the first limiting AA (Piepenbrink et al., 1998; Mulrooney et al., 2009; Christen et al, 2010). However these studies use extraction efficiencies (*i.e.*, arteriovenous differences of AA concentrations in plasma after (venous) and before (arterial) the mammary gland as a proportion of AA in the plasma of coccygeal artery) to identify limiting AA and, since mammary uptake of lysine from the plasma usually exceeds its requirements for milk production (Lapierre et al., 2005; Rulquin and Pisulewski, 2006), we argue that it will always appear as 1st limiting (Nichols et al., 1998), regardless of ration fed. Thus if lysine is removed from the list of limiting AA in those studies, the only 3 remaining possibilities are methionine, phenylalanine and leucine.



A study in which methionine, lysine and branched-chain AA were infused (Appuhamy et al., 2011) reported that branched-chain AA promoted muscle protein synthesis with no additional milk protein response with infusion of leucine over methionine and lysine. Even though both lysine and leucine are taken up in excess of requirements, mainly to oxidize and synthesize other AA, Lapierre et al (2009) suggested that excess uptake of lysine across the mammary gland was required to maintain milk protein production while leucine oxidation decreased if leucine supply was limited, thereby indicating that excess leucine is not required to sustain milk protein yields. Bequette et al (1996) reported that increasing the supply of leucine to the mammary gland did not enhance milk protein output, but did increase its oxidation in the mammary gland. Lapierre et al (2002) also showed that only 0.16 of the increased supply of leucine available for absorption ended up in milk protein. This suggests that leucine was not the AA which was limiting production in the 200 g CM/kg ration, thereby suggesting that methionine and/or phenylalanine were the limiting AA.

4.5. Conclusions

Overall results under these conditions, which are representative of many contemporary US dairy rations, show that optimum levels for most response parameters overlapped in the range of 120 to 135 g CM/kg inclusion in ration DM. It seems clear that the high HPDDG ration was nutritionally limited by a combination of low MCP flow to the intestine and a low dietary delivery of lysine, resulting in a substantial reduction in lysine available for milk production. That predicted high rumen ammonia levels, due to the high RDP concentration of CM, did not limit MCP synthesis for the 200 g CM/kg ration suggests that total protein delivery to the intestinal absorptive site did not limit productive performance. Thus the limiting factor at the highest inclusion level of CM was likely availability of absorbable AA, with plasma concentrations suggesting methionine and/or phenylalanine as the most likely candidates.



Acknowledgements

The authors thank Mr William van Die and the personnel (*i.e.*, George, Nacho, Pedro) at Cloverdale Dairy for their interest, assistance and patience during the completion of the study. Efforts of the DHIA staff in Hanford in arranging and sorting extra milk test samples is also greatly appreciated. The senior author also thanks fellow students Jill Soderstrom, Grace Cun, Blanca Camacho and Jason Serrano in collecting and processing samples. Special thanks to Krystal Baker for going above and beyond in both assistance and support.

References

- AOAC 1997. Official method of analysis, 16th ed., Vol I. Association of official Analytical Chemists, Inc., MD, USA.
- AOAC 2006. Official methods of analysis of AOAC International, 18th ed., AOAC International, Arlington, VA, USA.
- Appuhamy, J.A.D.R.N., Knapp, J.R., Becvar, O., Escobar, J., Hanigan, M.D. 2011. Effects of jugularinfused lysine, methionine, and branched-chain amino acids on milk protein synthesis in highproducing dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 1952-1960.
- Bequette, B.J., Backwell, F.R.C., MacRae, J.C., Lobley, G.E., Crompton, L.A., Metcalf, J.A., Sutton, J.D. 1996. Effect of intravenous amino acid infusion on leucine oxidation across the mammary gland of the lactating goat. J. Dairy Sci. 79, 2217-2224.
- Boucher, S.E., Ordway, R.S., Whitehouse, N.L., Lundy, F.P., Kononoff, P.J., Schwab, C.G. 2007. Effect of incremental urea supplementation of a conventional corn silage-based diet on ruminal ammonia concentration and synthesis of microbial protein. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 5619-5633.

Canola Council of Canada. 2010. Annual report. Canola Council of Canada, Winnipeg, MB, Canada.

Canola Council of Canada. 2011. Annual report. Canola Council of Canada, Winnipeg, MB, Canada.

- Chen, X.B., Gomes, M.J. 1992 (Edited and reprinted 1995). Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives - An overview of the technical details. Int. Feed Res. Unit, Occasional Publ. Rowett Research Institute, Aberdeen, UK. http://www.macaulay.ac.uk/IFRU/pdf/chema.pdf (accessed 20 Dec 2012).
- Chen, X.B., Mejia, A.T., Kyle, D.J., Ørskov, E.R. 1995. Evaluation of the use of the purine derivative:creatinine ratio in spot urine and plasma samples as an index of microbial protein supply in ruminants: studies in sheep. J. Agric. Sci. 125, 137-143.
- Chen, X. B., Ørskov, E.R. 2003. Research on urinary excretion of purine derivatives in ruminants: Past, present and future. International Feed Resources Unit, Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen, UK. http://www.macaulay.ac.uk/IFRU/pdf/ pd_review.pdf (accessed 20 Dec 2012).
- Chilliard, Y., Cissé, M., Lefaivre, R., Rémond, B. 1991. Body composition of dairy cows according to lactation stage, somatotropin treatment, and concentrate supplementation. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3103-3116.
- Chizzotti, M.L., Valadares Filho, S.C., Valadares, R.F.D., Chizzotti, F,H,M., Tedeschi, L.O. 2008. Determination of creatinine excretion and evaluation of spot urine sampling in Holstein cattle. Livest. Sci. 113, 218-225.



- Christen, K.A., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R., Karges, K.K., Gibson, M.L. 2010. Responses of lactating dairy cows to high protein distillers grains or 3 other protein supplements. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 2095-2104.
- Djouvinov, D.S., Todorov, N.A. 1994. Influence of dry matter intake and passage rate on microbial protein synthesis in the rumen of sheep and its estimation by cannulation and a non-invasive method. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 48, 289-304.
- Ferguson, J.D., Galligan, D.T., Thomsen, N. 1994. Principal descriptors of body condition score in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2695-2703.
- Gonzalez-Ronquillo, M., Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Vicente, F. 2003. Purine derivative excretion in dairy cows: Edogenous excretion and the effect of exogenous nucleic acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 1282-1291.
- Han, Y.K., Shin, H.T., Landis, J. 1992. Effect of level of feed intake on the excretion of purine derivatives and purine derivatives to creatinine ratio in the urine of sheep. Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci. 5, 465-468.
- Hollmann, M., Allen, M.S., Beede, D.K. 2011. Diet fermentability influences lactational performance responses to corn distillers grains: A meta-analysis. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 2007-2021.
- Johansen, H.N., Glitsø, V., Knudsen, K.E.B. 1996. Influence of extraction solvent and temperature on the quantitative determination of oligosaccharides from plant materials by high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Agric. Food Chem. 44, 1470-1474.
- Johnson, C.M., Ulrich, A. 1959. Analytical methods for use in plant analysis. Bulletin 766. University of California, Agricultural Experiment Station, Berkeley, CA, USA. pp. 26-78.
- Lapierre, H., Berthiaume, R., Raggion, G., Thivierge, M.C., Doepel, L., Pacheco, D., Dubreuil, P., Lobley, G.E. 2005. The route of absorbed nitrogen into milk protein. Anim. Sci. 80, 11-22.
- Lapierre, H., Blouin, J.P., Bernier, J.F., Reynolds, C.K., Dubreuil, P., Lobley, G.E. 2002. Effect of supply of metabolizable protein on whole body and splanchnic leucine metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 85, 2631-2641.
- Lapierre, H., Doepel, L., Milne, E., Lobley, G.E. 2009. Responses in mammary and splanchnic metabolism to altered lysine supply in dairy cows. Animal 3, 360-371.
- Liu, K.S., Rosentrater, K.A. (Eds.) 2011. Distillers Grains: Production, Properties and Utilization (Book). CRC Press, Baca Raton, FL, USA.
- Mäntysaari, P., Mäntysaari, E.A. 2008. Relationship of body measurements and body condition score to body weight in modern Finnish Ayrshire cows. Acta Agric. Scand. Sec. A, 58, 170-178.
- Meyer, G. A., Keliher, P. N. 1992. Overview of analysis by inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry. In: A. Montaser and D.W. Golightly (Eds.), Inductively coupled plasmas in analytical atomic spectrometry. VCH Publishers Inc. New York, NY, USA. pp. 473-516.
- Moorby, J.M., Dewhurst, R.J., Evans, R.T., Danelon, J.L. 2006. Effects of dairy cow diet forage proportion on duodenal nutrient supply and urinary purine derivative excretion. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 3552-3562.
- Mulrooney, C.N., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R. 2009. Canola meal replacing distillers grains with solubles for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 5669-5676.
- National Research Council. 2001. Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle. 7th Rev. Ed., National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- Nernberg, L. 2012. After the crush: Increasing canola demand through research and promotion. In: Proc. Sask Canola Producer Conference and AGM (January 12). Saskatoon, SK, Canada.
- Nichols, J.R., Schingoethe, D.J., Maiga, H.A., Brouk, M.J., Piepenbrink, M.S. 1998. Evaluation of corn distillers grains and runnially protected lysine and methionine for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 482-491. List of research project topics and materials



- Piepenbrink, M.S., Schingoethe, D.J., Brouk, M.J., Stegeman, G.A. 1998. Systems to evaluate the protein quality of diets fed to lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 1046-1061.
- Reuter, D.J., Robinson, J.B., Peverill, K.I., Price, G.H. 1986. Guidelines for collecting, handling and analyzing plant materials. In: D.J. Reuter and J.B. Robinson (Eds.), Plant analysis and interpretation manual. Inkata Press, Melbourne, Australia. pp. 20-35.
- Reynal, S.M., Broderick, G.A. 2005. Effect of dietary level of rumen-degraded protein on production and nitrogen metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 88, 4045-4064.
- Robinson, P.H. 1996. Rumen protein metabolism Predicting outflow. In: Proc. Eastern Nutrition conference. Canadian feed industry association, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- Robinson, P.H. 2009. SHIELD Dairy Ration Evaluator. Department of Animal Science, UC Davis, Davis, CA, USA. http://animalscience.ucdavis.edu/faculty/robinson/Projects/pdf/SHIELD Project.pdf (accessed 20 Dec 2012).
- Robinson, P.H. 2010. Impacts of manipulating ration metabolizable lysine and methionine levels on the performance of lactating dairy cows: A systematic review of the literature. Livest. Sci. 127, 115-126.
- Robinson, P.H., Meyer, D. 2010. Total mixed ration (TMR) sampling protocol. ANR Publication 8413, ANR Publications, University of California, Berkeley, CA, USA.
- Robinson, P.H., Uden, P., de Blas, C., Blank, R. 2006. Some experimental design and statistical criteria for analysis of studies in manuscripts submitted for consideration for publication. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 129, 1-11.
- Rulquin, H., Pisulewski, P.M. 2006. Effects of graded levels of duodenal infusions of leucine on mammary uptake and output in lactating dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Research 73, 328-339.
- SAS Institute Inc., SAS/STAR[®] Software: Changes and enhancements, Release 9.2. 2000. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2010. Amino acid needs of lactating dairy cows: Impact of feeding lysine in a ruminally protected form on productivity of lactating dairy cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 157, 79-94.
- Tracy, M.L., Moeller, G. 1990. Continuous flow vapour generation for inductively coupled argon plasma spectrometric analysis. Part 1. Selenium. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 73, 404-410.
- Tyrell, H.F., Reid, J.T. 1965. Prediction of the energy value of cow's milk. J. Dairy Sci. 48, 1215-1223.
- USDA foreign agricultural services. 2011. Global agricultural information network. Gain Report number CA11015, USDA, Washington DC, USA.
- Vagnoni, D.B., Broderick, G.A. 1997. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1703-1712.
- Valadares, R.F.D., Broderick, G.A., Valadares Filho, S.C., Clayton, M.K. 1999. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 2686-2696.
- Van Soest, P.J., Robertson, J.B., Lewis, B.A. 1991. Methods for dietary fibre, neutral detergent fibre, and non-starch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3583-3591.
- Wattiaux, M. A. 1994. Body condition scores. In: Dairy essentials. Technical Dairy Guide (Book). The Babcock Institute Publications, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, USA. http://babcock.wisc.edu/node/170 (accessed 20 Dec 2012)
- Wildman, E.E., Jones, G.M., Wagner, P.E., Boman, R.L. 1982. A dairy cow body condition scoring system and its relationship to selected production characteristics. J. Dairy Sci. 65, 495-501.



- Williams, E.J. 1949. Experimental Designs Balanced for the Estimation of Residual Effects of Treatments. Australian Journal of Scientific Research, Series A: Physical Sciences, vol. 2, p.149.
- Wisner, R. December 2010. Distillers Grain Price Relationships and Export Developments. AgMRC Renewable energy & climate change newsletter. http://www.agmrc.org/renewable_energy/ ethanol/distillers-grain-price-relationships-and-export-developments/ (accessed 20 Dec 2012). Agricultural Marketing Resource Center, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa, USA.
- Young, E.G., Conway, C.F. 1942. On the estimation of allantoin by the Rirnmi-Schryver reaction. J. Biol. Chem. 142, 839-853.



Chapter 5. Experiment 2: Effects of ruminally protected

methionine and/or phenylalanine on performance of high

producing Holstein cows fed rations with very high levels of canola

meal

Abstract

Canola meal is the second largest protein feed in the Northern latitudes and inclusion levels in dairy rations are expected to increase due to projected large increases in production of canola seed in Canada. However, a recent study (Swanepoel et al. 2014) showed that even though higher inclusions of canola meal (CM) had a positive effect on production when CM directly substituted for high protein corn based dried distillers grains (DDG), that there was an optimum point at 120 to 135 g/kg of ration dry matter (DM) after which animal performance seemed to decline. Only the amino acids (AA), methionine (Met), phenylalanine (Phe) and leucine (Leu) could have limited production based upon plasma AA concentrations at the highest CM inclusion level. Our objective was to determine if either Met or Phe, or both, was limiting performance of early lactation dairy cows fed a ration containing 180 g/kg of ration DM as CM, by supplementing a calculated target of 7.5 g of intestinally absorbable Phe/cow/d and/or 8.0 g of intestinally absorbable Met/cow/d in ruminally protected (RP) forms to four pens of \sim 320 early lactation cows/pen in a 4 x 4 Latin square with 28 d experimental periods. Dry matter intake was not affected (avg: 27.6 +/- 0.4 kg/d) by feeding either of the RP AA, or the combination. Phenylalanine supplementation alone had no effect on milk production or composition, and body condition score (BCS) change compared to Control. Supplemental Met alone modestly increased (P < 0.01) milk protein and fat concentration, while decreasing (P < 0.01) milk lactose concentration and yield, but with no impact on BCS change compared to Control. Combination Met and Phe supplementation decreased milk and lactose yields, as well as lactose concentration (P < 0.01), while increasing milk protein concentration and the BCS change (P < 0.01). Urine volume (avg: 16.7 +/- 0.31 L/d) and flow of microbial protein (MCP) from the rumen (avg: 2092 +/- 52.7 g CP/d) were not affected by any treatment. Plasma Met concentrations increased (P < 0.01) with both Met treatments and plasma tryptophan (Trp) concentrations decreased (P < 0.01) with both Phe treatments. However, plasma Phe concentrations did not change with any treatment. Results are interpreted to suggest that delivery of Met with RP Met feeding was higher than animal requirements and caused an oversupply of Met. Addition of Phe to the Met supplementation changed the way energy was expressed by the cows, redirecting the energy liberated by Met from milk components toward BCS gain. It remains unclear if Phe was limiting in the Control ration or if RP Phe was not fed at high enough levels to have a measurable response on production. However, it is clear that AA limitations, requirements and production responses are governed by much more than plasma AA concentrations. Results further suggest that AA are bioactive metabolites to the extent that they can change animal performance, even when they are not 'limiting' per se, and that their supplementation to practical dairy cattle rations should be approached with extreme caution for this reason.

Keywords: Spot urine purine; Estimated microbial flow; Plasma amino acids; Protein feeding.

Abbreviations: AA, amino acid; ADF, acid detergent fiber; ADICP, AD insoluble CP; ADIN, acid detergent insoluble N; AL, allantoin; aNDF, amylase-treated NDF; aNDFom, aNDF free of residual ash; BCS, body condition score; BCAA, branched-chain AA; BW, body weight; CM, canola meal;


CP, crude protein; CR, creatinine; DC305, DairyComp 305 management system; DDG, dried distillers grains; DHIA, Dairy Herd Improvement Association; DIM, days in milk; DM, dry matter; MCP, microbial CP; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; NE_L, net energy for lactation; OM, organic matter; PD, purine derivatives; RDP, rumen degradable CP; RP, rumen protected; SCC, somatic cell count; SG, specific gravity; TMR, total mixed ration; TP, true protein.

5.1. Introduction

Canola meal (CM) is the second largest protein feed in the Northern latitudes and inclusion levels in dairy rations are expected to increase due to projected increased production of canola seed in Canada (Growing Great, 2015). The goal of the Canola Council of Canada with this program was to produce 15 million tonnes of canola seed annually by 2015 but, with record breaking seed production in 2013; annual production currently stands at 18 million tonnes. Vegetable oil demand worldwide is expected to rise 60% in the next decade (Canola Council of Canada Annual Report, 2013) and, with the increased crushing capacity in Canada, this will have a cascading effect resulting in increased amounts of CM produced and used in North American dairy rations.

A recent study (Swanepoel et al. 2014) showed that higher inclusions of CM in lactating dairy cow rations had a positive effect on production when CM directly substituted for high protein dried corn distillers grains (DDG), but that there was an optimum point at 120 to 135 g/kg of ration dry matter (DM) after which animal performance started to decline. This agrees with other studies comparing CM to DDG which reported that higher proportions of CM, included at up to 120 g/kg DM, tended to have higher milk and protein yields (Mulrooney et al., 2009). It was clear, however, in Swanepoel et al. (2014) that the high rumen degradable protein (RDP) concentration of CM, and resultant high rumen ammonia levels, did not limit microbial protein (MCP) production when CM was included in the ration at 200 g/kg DM, suggesting that it may have been the availability of absorbable amino acids (AA), and/or specific AA(s), that limited productive performance of the cows. In Swanepoel et al. (2014), only methionine (Met), phenylalanine (Phe) and leucine (Leu), could have limited production, based upon their declining plasma AA concentrations as the CM inclusion level in the ration increased.



Our objective was to determine if either Met or Phe, or both, was limiting performance of early lactation dairy cows fed a ration containing CM as the sole supplementary crude protein (CP) source, by supplementing Met and/or Phe in ruminally protected (RP) forms.

5.2. Materials and methods

The experimental design used 4 pens of ~320 early lactation cows/pen in a 4 x 4 Latin square with 28 d experimental periods, utilizing the William's experimental design (Williams, 1949) to balance for potential carryover of treatment effects. The study took place during winter from 28 Dec 2012 to 18 April 2013 with temperature ranging between -3.6 and 28.3°C and humidity between 22.7 and 100.0%. All cows were cared for relative to applicable laws of the state of California and the USA, and were consistent with requirements for "The care and use of animals for scientific purposes", as per the South African National Standard (SANS 10386-2008).

5.2.1. Farm and management

The same commercial dairy farm (located in Hanford, CA) used in Swanepoel et al. (2014) was selected for this study. Every week cows were randomly allocated to one of four early lactation pens from a single fresh pen and, once confirmed pregnant, cows were moved from these pens to mid lactation pens. At the start of the 1st period, treatments were randomly allocated to each of the four early lactation pens and rotated after each 28 d experimental period consistent with a William's design.

5.2.2. Diets

Mixing of the total mixed rations (TMR) and all other farm practices were as outlined in Swanepoel et al. (2014). All four of the pens were fed the same base TMR based on alfalfa hay, whole crop winter wheat and corn silages, and corn grain, with a premix containing dry ingredients (*i.e.*, almond hulls, fuzzy and cracked pima cottonseed, wheat straw, liquid molasses, mineral premix, CM), with CM inclusion in all TMR targeted at 180 g/kg of total ration DM (Table 5.2). Cows were fed *ad libitum* to achieve ~ 3% refusals on an as fed basis, with each pen receiving a total of ~16,000 kg of as-mixed TMR/d in 2 feedings. Cows were fed one full 11,000 kg load of TMR (which contained the



RP AA) at the 1st feeding, between 04:30 and 07:30 h, to a clean bunk as bunks were cleared of all residual feed while the cows were at morning milking. A second ~5,000 kg load of TMR was fed at the 2nd feeding between 11:00 and 12:30 h and weights for each load of TMR fed were recorded on record sheets at the time of feeding and used together with daily refusals to calculate DM intake/cow/pen. The "TMR Tracker" system (Digi-Star LLC, Fort Atkinson, WI, USA) kept a record of the actual ingredient profiles of each load of TMR mixed.

5.2.3. The rumen protected AA products

The RP Met product (Smartamine M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA, USA) contains 750 g/kg D,L-Methionine with a 250 g/kg fat encapsulation (stearic acid) and a pH sensitive intestinal release. Using a variety of methods, the degree of protection of the Met in Smartamine M has been estimated and assumed to be between 750 and 800 g/kg (Schwab, 1995; Rulquin and Kowalczyk, 2003; Schwab, 2007; Chen et al., 2011; Osorio et al., 2013). Specific gravity (SG) is reported by Adisseo to be 0.70 g/cm³ (http://www.sfm.state.or.us/ cr2k_subdb/MSDS/SMARTAMINE.PDF). Since Smartamine M's coating can be damaged and its integrity compromised by physical impact, cutting and abrasion, a physical inspection of the individual product beadlets were conducted twice a week, after the RP Met has been mixed into the TMR and delivered to the feedbunks, to ensure acceptable product delivery. The number of beadlets which were destroyed or physically changed during mixing and feeding was negligible.

The RP Phe product was manufactured by QualiTech Inc. (Chaska, MN, USA) according to the same specifications as their RP Lys product described in Sakkers et al. (2013) except that the Phe product did not contain the Co-EDTA marker. The RP Phe contained 600 g/kg Phe combined with 400 g/kg fat as a matrix after which the pellets were sprayed with another coating of the same fat matrix. The fatty acid profile of the fat matrix, as reported in Wrinkle et al. (2012), primarily contained rumen stable C14:1 trans, C16:0 and C18:0 fatty acids. Due to reactivity of Lys with its fat coating, it is difficult to incorporate it into a RP form with acceptable rumen stability (degree of protection) and intestinal release. Therefore QualiTech adapted its coating to increase the proportion of fat used with its RP Lys product used in Sakkers et al. (2013). Since Phe has not been ruminally protected in the



past, this procedure of fat coating was followed to ensure high protection and post ruminal delivery of the Phe. However, since Phe is not as reactive as Lys, it is likely that our RP Phe product had a higher estimated degree of protection than the 527 g/kg reported by Sakkers et al. (2013) for the similarly protected Lys product. Therefore, rumen protection of 600 g/kg was assumed for our Phe product. The SG, determined to be slightly higher than 1.207 g/cm³ according to the procedure described by Swanepoel et al. (2010) using different concentrations of a saline solution, is attributed to the long chain fatty acids used in the fat coating (Wrinkle et al., 2012).

Therefore, assuming a total duodenal delivery of 580 g/kg Met (*i.e.*, 750 g/kg Met multiplied by 775 g/kg rumen protection) and 360 g/kg Phe (*i.e.*, 600 g/kg Phe multiplied by 600 g/kg rumen protection) treatments were created by adding either RP Phe alone (PHE), RP Met alone (MET) or both AA together (M+P) by mixing 20.9 g/cow/d of RP Phe (estimated to deliver 7.5 g of intestinally absorbable Phe/cow/d) and/or 13.7 g/cow/d of RP Met (estimated to deliver 8.0 g of intestinally absorbable Met/cow/d) into the base TMR by adding a pre-weighed bag of the RP product(s) to the dry ingredient premix prior to its addition to the TMR mixer.

5.2.4. Sample collection, preparation and analytical methods

5.2.4.1. Total mixed rations and ingredients

Individual feed ingredients and TMR were sampled twice during the last 7 d (*i.e.*, the sampling week) of each of the 4 experimental periods. Ten handfuls (of 200 g each) of each TMR were collected according to Robinson and Meyer (2010) at pre-marked posts with evenly spaced intervals along the bunk-line immediately after feeding and before the cows had access to it. Ingredient samples from all four periods were pooled (n=4 samples/ingredient), while TMR samples were pooled within period and pen (n=16 TMR samples) for chemical analysis.

All TMR samples, silages and other wet ingredients were weighed, dried at 55°C for 48 h and air equilibrated for 24 h before being sent for chemical analysis to the UC Davis service laboratory. All samples were ground to pass a 1 mm screen on a model 4 Wiley Mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA). Oven DM was determined as the gravimetric loss when dried at 105°C for 3 h in a forced air oven (NFTA, 2006). Ash determination was based on gravimetric loss by heating samples to 550°C



for at least 3 h (Method 942.05, AOAC, 2005). Total N was determined by the Leco method (Method 990.03, AOAC, 2005). Acid detergent fiber (ADF) was determined as the residue after acid detergent extraction with the ADF residue sub-sampled for extraction with sulphuric acid to determine lignin(sa) or analysed for N to determine acid detergent insoluble N (ADIN) according to method 973.18 of AOAC (1997). Neutral detergent fiber (NDF) was determined using neutral detergent and heat (Method 2002.04, AOAC, 2006). Heat-stable amylase was used to remove starch and inactivate enzymes that may degrade the fiber (aNDF). Results for NDF were also reported on an ash-free basis (aNDFom). Starch was determined as total glucose minus free glucose multiplied by a factor of 0.9 as described by Smith (1969). Fat was quantified using the Randall modification of the standard Soxhlet extraction (Method 2003.05, AOAC, 2006).

5.2.4.2. Animal measurements

A group of ~195 cows with the lowest days in milk (DIM, *i.e.*, 10 to 125 DIM) were selected from each pen at the start of the study (*i.e.*, the cows most likely to complete the study due to their low DIM at the start) and coded in the electronic herd record system DairyComp 305 (DC305; Valley Agricultural Software, Tulare, CA, USA) to be used as the base group of cows from which all representative subgroups were selected for animal samples (*i.e.*, urine, blood) and measurements (*i.e.*, body condition scores; BCS). Milk production and composition data used all cows which remained eligible (*i.e.*, in their originally assigned pen) throughout the study, regardless of their DIM at the start of the study. For a cow to remain eligible (*i.e.*, to be included in any sampling dataset and the resulting statistical analysis), they had to have been in their originally assigned pen for the entire 16 wk. study, which was checked by examination of daily records of cow pen assignment within DC305. In addition, no cow was ever physically observed to be in an incorrect pen.

5.2.4.2.1. Milk production and composition

Milk data were collected on day 28 of each experimental period by Dairy Herd improvement association (DHIA) personnel. Milk yields were recorded for each cow and milk samples collected by drawing a small representative sub-sample from the sample collection flask (after a short period of mixing) and preserving it with a 2-Bromo-nitropropane-1, 3-diol for subsequent analytical testing.



Fat, true protein, lactose and somatic cell count (SCC) were determined with the Bentley Combi using optical infrared analysis at the DHIA laboratory in Hanford (CA, USA).

5.2.4.2.2. Body condition score

A subgroup of ~140 cows/pen from the base group of ~195 cows/pen (see section 5.2.4.2.) were body scored throughout the study. This was completed by the same trained scorer on the first day of period 1 and at the end of each experimental period. The 5 point BCS system of Ferguson et al. (1994) was used and adapted as described in Swanepoel et al. (2014) to include intermediate points between the $\frac{1}{4}$ point scores.

5.2.4.2.3. Urine

On day 4 of the sampling week of each experimental period, spot urine samples were collected from the first ~35 cows which voluntarily urinated during normal morning lockup (for normal health and reproductive checks; ~ 50 min/pen/d) and immediately placed in ice. Samples were only retained if the cow was a part of the original base group of ~195 cows/pen. The SG of each untreated urine sample was measured using a digital handheld pen refractometer (Atago USA Inc., Bellevue, WA, USA). A small quantity of urine (7 ml) was then combined with 100 ml/L sulphuric acid until the final pH was reduced to <2 (in this case 1 ml) in order to prevent bacterial destruction of allantoin (AL), diluted with water to a final volume of 35 ml and frozen at -20°C. Urine samples were chemically analyzed for creatinine (CR) and AL as described by Swanepoel et al. (2014). Two interrun standard urine samples were used in each analytical run to assess variation amongst runs. The average concentration of the inter-run standards over all runs was then used to correct sample concentrations in each run.

5.2.4.2.4. Blood plasma

A subgroup of 24 cows/pen was selected from the base group of ~195 cows/pen for blood sampling with collection and treatment following the same methods as outlined in Swanepoel et al. (2014).



5.2.5. Calculations

Final oven DM was calculated as air equilibrated DM (*i.e.*, dried at 55°C and air equilibrated for 24 h) multiplied by the laboratory oven DM (*i.e.*, dried at 105°C) of the air equilibrated sample.

Data backups of the DC305 herd record system were used to determine the number of cows in each pen on each day of the collection week of each period, and used together with the weights of each load of TMR fed and daily refusals to calculate DM intake per cow/pen as:

((Total intake (kg as fed/d) – daily refusals) / cows in pen) x (TMR DM proportion).

Milk energy concentration (MJ/kg) was calculated using a prediction equation from Tyrrell and Reid (1965), summing the energetic weights of the milk components as:

((([(4.163 x Fat (g/kg)) + (2.413 x (True protein (g/kg)/0.94)) + (2.16 x Lactose (g/kg))] -

11.72) x 2.204) / 1000) x 4.184,

with the factor 1000 converting kcal to Mcal, 2.204 converting Mcal/lb to Mcal/kg and 4.184 converting Mcal/kg to MJ/kg. True protein (TP) was converted to CP assuming 60 g/kg non-protein N in total milk N (Akers, 2002).

Milk energy output (MJ/d) was calculated by multiplying milk energy concentration (MJ/kg) by daily milk yield (kg/d).

Body condition score change was calculated as the difference between the BCS at the end and at the beginning of each period and BCS change energy (MJ/d) was calculated as:

((BCS change x 300)/28) x 4.184,

assuming 1 unit BCS change over 28 d = 300 Mcal energy (Chilliard et al., 1991) with the factor 4.184 converting Mcal/d to MJ/d.

Urine volume (L/d) was calculated using an equation derived from data published by Burgos et al. (2005) as:

 $332.66*(((SG-1)*1000)^{-0.884}).$

Total daily purine derivative (PD) excretion (mmol/d) is the sum of PD excreted in urine and milk of lactating dairy cows (Chen and Gomes, 1992), and was estimated using a coefficient of 0.906 to express AL concentration in total PD of urine (obtained from values reported by Vagnoni and List of research project topics and materials



Broderick, 1997; Valadares et al., 1999; Gonzalez-Ronquillo et al., 2003; Reynal & Broderick, 2005; Moorby et al., 2006) and PD excretion in milk is a constant 0.05 of urine PD excretion (Chen and Gomes, 1992).

Microbial purines absorbed from the intestine (X, mmol/d) were calculated using the equation reported by Chen and Gomes (1992), using a constant body weight (BW) of 673 kg (Swanepoel et al., 2014), as:

(Total daily PD $- 0.385 \text{ x} (BW^{0.75}))/0.85$,

with coefficients for the endogenous contribution of PD and recovery of absorbed purines as PD in the urine of 0.385 mmol/kg $BW^{0.75}$ and 0.85 respectively.

Microbial CP production (g CP/d) was then estimated as:

[(X (mmol/d) x 70) / (0.116*0.83*1000)] x 6.25,

assuming an N concentration of 70 mg N/mmol for purines, and using a ratio of purine N:total N in mixed rumen microbes as 11.6:100. A coefficients for microbial purine digestibility of 0.83 were used while a factor of 6.25 converted microbial N to MCP.

A partial net energy (NE) output (MJ/d) balance was calculated by summing the milk, BCS change energy and maintenance, with maintenance net energy needs calculated from NRC (2001) and assuming a constant BW of 673 kg, as:

 $(673^{0.75}*0.08) \ge 4.184.$

Net energy for lactation (NE_L) density (MJ/kg DM) of the diets were estimated using the biological responses of the cows, as expressed in the partial NE output, and measured DM intake on a pen basis as:

Net energy output (MJ/d) / DM intake (kg/d).

5.2.6. Statistical analysis

Cows were only included in the statistical analysis if they did not move from their originally assigned pen during the study, for health or any other reason. Thus the number of cows eligible for statistical analysis of milk production was 608, and for the BCS dataset it was 348. Outlier analysis (completed blind to treatments by excluding values deemed to be not biologically possible), excluded



12 cows from the milk production dataset (*i.e.*, 8 cows for a milk fat concentration > 57 g/kg, 3 cows for milk yields below 11.5 kg/d and 1 cow for a milk lactose proportion > 85 g/kg), and 5 cows which were removed from the BCS dataset due to abnormally high BCS changes within an experimental period. A group of 24 (*i.e.*, 6 cows/pen) cows were randomly selected from the 96 eligible blood cows for plasma AA analysis. A total of 529 urine samples were collected from 363 cows, as several cows were sampled in more than one period, but the group of 114 urine samples selected for AL and CR assays only came from the 42 cows which had repeated urine samples between periods.

Animal production, BCS, urine AL, urine CR and plasma AA concentrations were analysed using the MIXED procedure of SAS (2000) for a 4 x 4 Latin square design with cow as the experimental unit within pen in the random statement and period, pen and treatment as fixed effects. Effects were determined as pre-planned contrasts as defined by Steel and Torrie (1980). Dry matter intake (n = 4pens, calculated on a pen basis with 4 pens/period), TMR components and ingredients and NE balance (n = 4 pens) used pen as the experimental unit in the GLM option of SAS (2000) with period, pen and treatment as fixed effects.

Reported values are least squares means with differences accepted as significant if $P \le 0.01$ and trends accepted if $P \le 0.05$.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Ration evaluation and intakes

The chemical composition of the ingredients used in the TMR (Table 5.1) was similar to ingredients listed in NRC (2001). Only the alfalfa hay had a lower NDF proportion (337 vs. 450 g/kg) and canola pellets a lower CP proportion (380 vs. 420 g/kg). There was no difference in the chemical profiles of the TMR fed to the four treatment groups (Table 5.2). At 169 g/kg, the level of CM was slightly lower than the targeted 180 g/kg, but it did not differ among treatments and was well above the suggested optimum level of 135 g/kg according to Swanepoel et al. (2014).



	Dry matter	Organic matter	Crude protein	ADF ^a	aNDFom ^b	aNDF ^c	ADIN ^d
Alfalfa, hay	906	897	174	267	322	337	1.5
Alfalfa, fresh chop	253	867	226	277	303	333	1.9
Alfalfa, haylage	398	840	202	323	316	372	2.0
Almond, hulls	973	930	44	233	295	305	1.6
Canola meal, pellets (solvent)	906	931	380	170	219	239	2.8
Corn, flaked grain	876	988	74	27.0	77.0	78.0	IR
Cottonseed, cracked Pima	919	954	216	264	354	367	2.2
Cottonseed, fuzzy linted	920	960	219	317	418	436	2.3
Wheat, straw	932	858	38	440	614	660	1.1
Wheat, silage	359	893	71	352	485	523	0.6
Corn, silage	322	937	66	272	423	437	0.8
Citrus, wet pulp (orange)	162	958	66	173	200	211	< 0.5

Table 5.1: Chemical analysis of ingredients used in the total mixed rations (g/kg dry matter) fed to the treatment groups*

* n = 4; except alfalfa, fresh chop and alfalfa, haylage = 2.

^a Acid detergent fiber, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

^b Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

^c Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

^d Acid detergent insoluble nitrogen.

IR = Insufficient residue from ADF determination for N analysis.

The only difference in the ingredient profiles of the treatment rations was inclusion of 13.4 and 20.5 g/cow/d of RP Met and RP Phe respectively (which was equal to the targeted 13.7 and 20.9 g/cow/d). Even though alfalfa haylage was substituted with alfalfa fresh chop in the 3rd and 4th periods, it resulted in no changes in the nutrient profile of the treatment TMR, which were the same among periods. The TMR met all nutrient requirements of lactating dairy cows producing 45 to 50 liters of milk/d (NRC, 2001).

5.3.2. Animal measurements

5.3.2.1. Intake, milk production and its composition

Dry matter intake (Table 5.3) was not affected (avg: $27.6 \pm 0.40 \text{ kg/d}$) by treatment. Intakes for the Control ration were higher (27.8 vs. 25.28 kg/d) than for the all CM ration in Swanepoel et al. (2014), even with lower milk production (44.1 vs. 47.4 kg/d).



		nents		_	Control vs. (P)			
	Control	PHE	MET	M+P	SEM	PHE	MET	M+P
Ingredient profile, g/kg DM ª								
Alfalfa, hay	84	83	84	85	4.6	0.96	0.80	0.90
Premix								
Almond, hulls	155	155	154	154	1.1	1.00	0.85	0.69
Cottonseed, cracked Pima	51.9	51.9	51.8	51.7	0.43	1.00	0.87	0.74
Cottonseed, fuzzy linted	31.3	31.3	31.2	31.2	0.30	0.99	0.89	0.78
Wheat, straw	8.0	8.0	8.0	8.0	0.13	1.00	0.93	0.85
Mineral, premix	16.8	16.8	16.8	16.8	0.09	0.98	0.80	0.62
<i>Canola meal, pellets (solvent)</i>	169	169	169	169	1.3	1.00	0.85	0.71
Molasses, liquid	14.1	14.1	14.1	14.1	0.06	0.94	0.72	0.46
RPP Product ^b	0.00	1.03	0.00	1.01	0.014	< 0.01	1.00	< 0.01
RPM Product ^c	0.00	0.00	0.66	0.66	0.008	1.00	< 0.01	< 0.01
Alfalfa, fresh chop/haylage ^d	67.1	67.3	67.7	66.5	2.73	0.65	0.90	0.86
Wheat, silage	57.2	58.4	57.0	57.0	2.58	0.71	0.94	0.95
Corn, flaked grain	181	180	181	181	1.9	0.48	0.79	0.69
Corn, silage	164	164	164	164	5.5	1.00	1.00	0.96
Citrus, wet pulp (orange)	34.8	34.9	35.5	34.9	3.03	0.97	0.85	0.98
Nutrient profile, g/kg DM ^e								
Dry matter	557	546	554	555	9.7	0.22	0.74	0.84
Organic matter	921	923	921	923	1.0	0.28	0.98	0.28
Crude protein (CP)	160	160	161	159	4.1	0.98	0.92	0.86
ADICP	64	63	64	63	1.9	0.46	0.94	0.48
aNDF ^g	318	313	317	317	2.8	0.16	0.80	0.70
aNDFom ^h	305	299	304	302	2.7	0.12	0.74	0.41
ADF^{i}	223	216	222	217	2.7	0.08	0.72	0.13
Fat	44	44	45	44	1.0	0.58	0.68	0.88
Starch	172	173	164	175	6.0	0.96	0.29	0.70

Table 5.2: Ingredient profile and chemical composition (g/kg dry matter) of total mixed rations fed to the treatment groups*

* n = 4 pens.

^a Based on average ingredient composition during the sampling week for each pen, each period, as reported by TMR tracker system.

^b Ruminally protected Phe (QualiTech Inc., Chaska, MN, USA). Fed at 13.7 g/cow/d to deliver 8 g intestinally absorbable Phe.

^c Ruminally protected Met (Smartamine M, Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA, USA). Fed at 20.9 g/cow/d to deliver 7.5 g intestinally absorbable Met.

^d Alfalfa haylage used only in Period 1 & 2. Alfalfa fresh chop used only in Period 3 & 4.

^e Total mixed ration samples collected twice during sampling week for each pen, each period (*i.e.*, 32 total samples), samples pooled by period and pen (n=2 per period).

^f Acid detergent insoluble CP (g/kg of CP).

^g Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

^h Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

ⁱ Acid detergent fiber, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

The PHE treatment had no effect on milk production or composition vs. Control (Table 5.3), but

MET increased milk protein (30.2 vs. 30.7 g/kg; P<0.01) and fat (34.2 vs. 34.7 g/kg; P=0.01)

concentration, while decreasing milk lactose concentration (47.8 vs. 47.5 g/kg; P<0.01) and its yield



(2.11 vs. 2.07 kg/d; P < 0.01). Milk yield tended (P=0.03) to decrease with MET, while M+P did decrease (P < 0.01) milk (44.10 vs. 43.14 kg/d) and lactose (2.11 vs. 2.05 kg/d) yields, as well as milk lactose concentration (47.8 vs. 47.6 g/kg; P < 0.01), while increasing the milk true protein concentration (30.2 vs. 30.6 g/kg; P < 0.01). The M+P treatment tended to decrease milk fat yield (P=0.03) and SCC (P=0.02).

Compared to M+P, PHE had a lower milk true protein concentration (30.6 vs. 30.1 g/kg; P<0.01), higher lactose concentration (47.6 vs. 47.7; P<0.01) and yield (2.05 vs. 2.08; P=0.02) as well as higher SCC (P=0.01), while tending to a higher milk yield (P=0.05). For MET, increases (P<0.01) were observed for milk true protein yield (1.33 vs. 1.31 kg/d), milk fat yield (1.50 vs. 1.46 kg/d) and concentration (34.7 vs. 34.1 g/kg) and milk energy density (2.90 vs. 2.88 MJ/kg) compared to M+P.

 Table 5.3: Production performance and body scores for cows fed rations with different ruminally protected amino acids

	Treatment			_	Control vs. (P)			M+P vs. (P)		
	Control	PHE	MET	M+P	SEM	PHE	MET	M+P	PHE	MET
$n = 4 \ pens$										
Dry matter intake (kg/d)	27.8	28.1	28.3	27.7	0.40	0.79	0.62	0.87	0.67	0.52
n - 506 agus										
n = 390 cows Yield (kg/d)										
Milk	44.1	43.7	43.5	43.1	0.31	0.10	0.03	< 0.01	0.05	0.15
Fat	1.49	1.48	1.50	1.46	0.013	0.41	0.62	0.03	0.17	< 0.01
True protein	1.32	1.30	1.33	1.31	0.008	0.06	0.41	0.18	0.57	0.03
Lactose	2.11	2.08	2.07	2.05	0.015	0.06	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.02	0.29
Components (g/kg)										
Fat	34.2	34.1	34.7	34.1	0.23	0.84	0.01	0.67	0.82	< 0.01
True protein	30.2	30.1	30.7	30.6	0.11	0.44	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.10
Lactose	47.8	47.7	47.5	47.6	0.06	0.10	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.08
Energy density (MJ/kg)	2.87	2.87	2.90	2.88	0.011	0.62	< 0.01	0.92	0.55	< 0.01
Somatic cell count ('000)	127	130	109	98	10.5	0.85	0.16	0.02	0.01	0.38
n = 343 cows										
Body condition score (BCS)	2.65	2.64	2.65	2.66	0.021	0.57	0.69	0.45	0.19	0.25
BCS change (unit/28 d)	0.04	0.04	0.06	0.08	0.011	0.98	0.10	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.25

5.3.2.2. Body condition score

Body condition score (Table 5.3) was not affected by any treatment and the mean of 2.65 is normal for high producing early lactation cows. Cows in all treatments gained BCS, which is expected in



cows past peak production, but only M+P increased (P<0.01) the change in BCS vs. Control and PHE (0.08 vs. 0.04 unit change/28 d).

5.3.2.3. Urine

Urine AL and CR concentrations (Table 5.4) did not differ among treatments. Control AL concentrations were higher (3812 vs. 3370 mg/L) and CR lower (882 vs. 946 mg/L) than for the all CM ration in Swanepoel et al. (2014). Urine volume (avg: 16.7 +/- 0.31 L/d) also did not differ among treatments. As expected, the calculated flow of MCP from the rumen (avg: 2092 +/- 52.7 g CP/d) was also not affected by the treatments. These calculated MCP flow values are higher than the ranges (763 to 1959 g CP/d) previously reported in the literature when duodenal samples were collected and MCP flow directly measured (Khorasani et al., 1993; Robinson et al., 1994; 1996; Stensig and Robinson, 1997; Robinson et al., 1998; Timmermans et al., 2000; González-Ronquillo et al., 2003; Moorby et al., 2006), but this is likely due to the higher DM intakes (27.9 vs. 20.7 kg/d) in our study compared to that literature, which suggests that our MCP flows, estimated using urine AL concentrations, are biologically sensible. However one study (Reynal and Broderick, 2005), with similar milk production (avg. 42.3 kg/d) and DM intakes (avg. 25.5 kg/d) to our study, reported MCP flows that were higher (2683 vs. 2092 g CP/d) using urinary excretion of PD together with N:purine ratios in omasal samples.

Table 5.4:	Urine analysis for	cows fed rations	with different	ruminally j	protected an	nino acids
------------	--------------------	------------------	----------------	-------------	--------------	------------

	Treatment				_	Control vs. (P)			M+P vs. (P)	
	Control	PHE	MET	M+P	SEM	PHE	MET	M+ P	PHE	MET
n = 42 cows										
Allantoin (AL, mg/L)	3812	3734	3564	3601	112.5	0.59	0.12	0.18	0.37	0.82
Creatinine (CR, mg/L)	882	933	821	894	36.2	0.20	0.17	0.78	0.35	0.11
Specific gravity	1.03	1.03	1.03	1.03	0.001	0.70	0.29	0.22	0.36	0.88
Urine volume (L/day)	16.4	16.6	16.8	16.8	0.31	0.61	0.32	0.20	0.40	0.80
Total PD ^a excreted (mmol/d)	454	446	431	438	9.9	0.56	0.10	0.26	0.55	0.59
MCP ^b yield (g CP/d)	2155	2114	2030	2071	52.7	0.56	0.10	0.26	0.55	0.59

^a Purine derivatives.

^b Microbial protein.

5.3.2.4. Blood plasma

There were no changes in plasma AA concentrations (Table 5.5) for MET or M+P vs. Control, except Met which increased with both (P<0.01), and Trp tended (P=0.04) to decrease with the M+P



treatment. In contrast, plasma Trp decreased with PHE vs. Control (P<0.01), while plasma Phe concentrations were not impacted by any treatment. Due to higher plasma Met concentrations, both the MET and M+P treatments decreased the Lys:Met ratio (P<0.01).

Compared to the M+P treatment, MET tended to increase (P<0.05) valine (Val), Met, Lys, alanine (Ala) and arginine (Arg) while PHE decreased Met (P<0.01), thereby increasing the Lys:Met ratio from 2.95 to 3.60 (P<0.01).

Since it was not measured, when AA changes are discussed it is assumed that the pool sizes (plasma volumes) remained constant between treatments.

Table 5.5: Free amino acid and ammonia concentrations (μ g/ml) in plasma of cows fed rations
with different ruminally protected amino acids

	Treatment				Control vs. (P)			M+P vs. (P)		
	Control	PHE	MET	M+P	SEM	PHE	MET	M+P	PHE	MET
$n = 24 cows^*$										
Essential amino acids										
Threonine	14.7	14.9	14.6	14.1	0.50	0.73	0.81	0.27	0.15	0.38
Valine	32.9	32.6	33.4	31.5	0.90	0.67	0.61	0.09	0.19	0.03
Methionine	3.58	3.71	4.97	4.56	0.167	0.47	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.03
Isoleucine	15.0	15.2	15.8	14.8	0.50	0.74	0.15	0.72	0.48	0.07
Leucine	20.2	20.1	20.8	19.7	0.65	0.93	0.34	0.40	0.45	0.07
Phenylalanine	9.21	9.49	9.49	9.31	0.252	0.29	0.30	0.71	0.49	0.50
Tryptophan	16.8	15.2	16.4	15.7	0.46	< 0.01	0.40	0.04	0.25	0.23
Lysine	13.2	13.1	13.9	12.9	0.43	0.84	0.12	0.65	0.80	0.05
Histidine	8.81	8.67	8.85	8.46	0.285	0.58	0.89	0.19	0.44	0.15
Arginine	15.5	15.5	16.6	15.2	0.57	0.95	0.06	0.71	0.66	0.02
Lys:Met ratio	3.80	3.60	2.91	2.95	0.086	0.05	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.66
Non-essential amino acids										
Homocystine	1.02	1.02	0.97	0.98	0.108	0.95	0.74	0.74	0.78	1.00
Aspartic acid	1.60	1.56	1.59	1.55	0.083	0.67	0.94	0.58	0.90	0.64
Tyrosine	9.92	9.86	9.98	9.78	0.399	0.88	0.89	0.72	0.83	0.61
Serine	9.83	9.85	9.66	9.48	0.356	0.96	0.62	0.29	0.27	0.57
Glutamic acid	7.60	7.43	7.33	7.35	0.216	0.45	0.22	0.26	0.70	0.93
Glutamine	48.0	48.1	48.9	47.2	2.06	0.94	0.70	0.76	0.70	0.49
Glycine	31.0	30.9	29.2	29.8	1.44	0.95	0.13	0.33	0.36	0.60
Alanine	23.6	23.8	24.7	23.2	0.91	0.79	0.11	0.62	0.44	0.04
3-Methylhistidine	0.71	0.62	0.57	0.67	0.062	0.25	0.07	0.56	0.57	0.21
Ammonia	2.94	3.06	2.91	3.06	0.146	0.48	0.87	0.50	0.97	0.41

* A randomly selected group of 6 cows/pen/period was used for amino acid analysis as it was decided that additional samples would not change significance of differences.



5.3.2.5. Partial net energy balance

The Partial NE balance (Table 5.6) for each treatment was calculated to determine where energy was utilized. Compared to Control, M+P decreased total energy output in milk (126 vs. 124 MJ/d; P < 0.01) while increasing energy used for BCS change (1.7 vs. 3.6 MJ/d; P < 0.01). However, there were no other differences in total NE output, or the calculated dietary NE_L densities, between any treatment and the Control. Therefore, the amount of NE expressed by the cows, and in the diets, did not change among treatments. However, AA supplementation resulted in energy being partitioned differently, especially the M+P treatment, which changed the way energy was utilized by either AA treatment alone compared to Control.

The M+P treatment had a lower milk energy output (124 vs. 126 MJ/d; P=0.02) compared to MET but a higher BCS change energy (3.60 vs. 1.71 MJ/d; P<0.01) compared to PHE.

 Table 5.6: Partial net energy balance for cows fed rations with different ruminally protected amino acids*

	_	Treatment			_	Control vs. (P)			M+P vs. (P)	
	Control	PHE	MET	M+P	SEM	PHE	MET	M+P	PHE	MET
Milk energy output (MJ/d)	126	125	126	124	0.8	0.16	0.73	< 0.01	0.19	0.02
BCS ^a energy (MJ/d)	1.7	1.7	2.8	3.6	0.48	0.98	0.10	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.25
Total Net Energy (MJ/d)	172	171	173	172	1.1	0.65	0.74	0.84	0.81	0.59
NE _L ^b (MJ/kg DM)	6.19	6.12	6.12	6.22	0.088	0.72	0.73	0.86	0.60	0.60

* Maintenance energy (MJ/d) calculated using a constant body weight of 673 kg for all treatments.

^a Body condition score.

^b Net energy available for lactation. n = 4 pens.

5.4. Discussion

In many feeding situations, supplementation of Met has been shown to increase milk protein concentration (Chen et al., 2011) and/or yield (Čermáková et al., 2012; Osorio et al., 2013) as well as milk fat concentration (Wang et al., 2010). This has also been confirmed in a recent systemic review of the literature (Robinson, 2010) and meta-analysis (Patton, 2010), and it agrees with our results in which milk protein and fat proportions increased modestly with the MET treatment. Patton (2010) suggests that a slight increase in milk yield can also be expected, and, even though this is consistent with the increases in milk yield reported earlier (Wang et al., 2010; Čermáková et al., 2012; Osorio et



al., 2013), it does not agree with the reduction in milk lactose yield, or the tendency for milk yield to decrease with MET, in our study. A study by Robinson et al. (2000), to determine effects of a Met oversupply, showed that abomasal Met infusion to increase its intestinal delivery by 34 to 39% markedly reduced animal performance. Indeed Robinson et al. (2000) reported a sharp decline in milk and lactose yields, which is similar to our results in relative terms, although not quantitatively as all changes in our study were modest even though supplementation with RP Met increased estimated intestinally available Met by ~ 38% in our study, suggesting that an oversupply of Met was possible.

It is generally suggested that Lys and Met should be fed in the ratio of 3:1 (at the intestinal absorptive site) in order to obtain beneficial responses in milk production and composition (Chalupa and Sniffen, 2006). Since our two Met supplementation treatments reduced the plasma Lys: Met ratio (which should be reflective of the ratio of absorbable Lys and Met at the intestinal absorptive site) from 3.80 in the Control ration to 2.91 and 2.95 respectively, this theoretically near perfect ratio should have resulted in a positive production response. However, this was not the case. Even though the Lys: Met ratio concept seems clear when looking at the data published in NRC (2001), other studies in the literature do not always agree. For instance, Chen et al. (2011) reduced this Lys:Met ratio from 3.6 to 3.0, resulting in an increase in milk protein concentration, but only in a relatively low protein diet. Supplementation of Met in the peri-partal period to decrease the Lys:Met ratio from 3.4 to 2.9 only showed a tendency for milk protein concentration to increase (Osorio et al., 2013). Rulquin and Delaby (1997) also reported an increase in milk protein concentration when the Lys:Met ratio was decreased from 3.8 to 3.0 through Met supplementation, although their plasma AA analysis showed that the ratio was actually reduced from 4.8 to 2.2. As the predicted Lys:Met ratios may not reflect the actual ratios, interpretation of the Lys:Met ratio concept in studies outside the NRC (2001) is difficult. In the study of Robinson et al. (2000), creating an imbalance in the suggested optimum Lys: Met ratio by supplementing Lys (*i.e.*, changing the ratio from 3.0 to 3.9) had no effect on production, but creating a theoretical imbalance by supplementing Met (*i.e.*, changing the ratio from 3.0 to 2.3), reduced DM intake, milk production and lactose yields. While restoring the ratio to 3:1 by supplementing Lys and Met together did not impact production, the negative effects of high Met



supplementation remained, even at the 3.0 Lys:Met ratio. This seems to suggest that Met supplementation to some point results in positive production responses, regardless of the theoretical Lys:Met ratio, but that production responses became more and more negative at higher and higher Met supplementation levels, regardless of the Lys:Met ratio. This strongly suggests that it is the concentration of Met relative to its requirement that elicits the response rather than its ratio with Lys *per se*. Indeed this hypothesis agrees with results of a study where the Control ration had the lowest production, even with a calculated ratio close to 3.0, while positive production responses were seen for both Met and Lys supplementation, even when the supplementation changed the ratios to 1.3 and 4.6 respectively (Wang et al., 2010).

Robinson et al. (2000) reported that oversupplying both Met and Lys simultaneously changed partitioning of energy, with their combined infusion improving energetic efficiency of the cows without affecting general animal performance, thereby increasing the NE density of the diet to prevent a negative energy balance in the cows. This corresponds to our study where combined supplementation of Phe and Met changed the way energy was utilized vs. when Met was supplemented alone. While it is clear that Met supplementation alone changed energy metabolism, with less energy expressed as milk lactose and more as milk fat and protein, thereby shifting energy output within milk components, addition of Phe to the Met redirected energy utilization from lactose production towards BCS gain. As explained by Swanepoel et al. (2010), it is possible that an oversupply of Met resulted in increased fat synthesis but that supplementation of the limiting AA, in this case Phe, rectified the AA imbalance, thereby restoring the fat concentration. This suggests that Phe was limiting in our study, but that its supplementation level was not high enough to allow for an effect on production. In contrast, it is clear that supplementation of Phe alone had no effect on animal performance, or at least any response parameters measured in our study, suggesting that Phe only became limiting in the combination treatment after Met requirements were met, but that a possible oversupply of Met, and undersupply of Phe, in the M+P treatment did not allow for a production response. Arginine (Arg) metabolism in the liver is mainly directed towards the urea cycle in order to dispose of AA in excess relative to the limiting AA (Bach et al., 2000). The tendency of Arg to ULL List of research project topics and materials



increase in the plasma for the Met treatment in this study (P=0.06) support the hypothesis that Met was probably limiting and that it's supplementation allowed utilization of other AA, reducing the amount of surplus AA catabolized by the liver and therefore the requirement for Arg in the urea cycle.

Our study was designed to deliver 7.5 g of Phe to the intestine, which is 5.5% higher than the estimated intestinal Phe delivery levels for the Control ration from Swanepoel et al. (2014). However, plasma Phe concentrations did not differ significantly between treatments and were only 3.0% higher for PHE vs. Control, possibly suggesting that RP-Phe failed and that little or no Phe reached the intestinal absorptive site. However this seems unlikely since the manufacturing technology of this RP-Phe was the same as the RP-Lys product evaluated in Sakkers et al. (2013) which was measured in vivo to have a rumen escape of 52% of consumed Lys. Haque et al. (2013) demonstrated that the separate infusion of Arg, Isoleucine (Ile) and Val to the duodenum resulted in increased concentrations of Ile and Val but not Arg, showing that plasma AA concentrations are not always directly associated with its supplementation or removal. In this case the failure of plasma Phe concentrations to increase in response to its duodenal supplementation can be interpreted to suggest that Phe was utilized by the cow, instead of building up in the plasma, suggesting a more likely hypothesis, which is supported by the data, that Phe was under-delivered relative to its needs. Indeed it has been suggested that Phe enhances the rate of Trp hydroxylation (Kaufman 1971), the first step in catabolizing Trp to synthesize serotonin and, since Trp concentrations in the plasma of both Phe supplemented treatments decreased vs. Control, this supports delivery of Phe to the intestinal absorptive site, as well as its absorption and availability in high enough quantities pre-liver to have elicited this enhanced effect on Trp hydroxylase in the liver.

Phenylalanine is part of a group of AA which are extensively catabolized by the liver and removal of these AA are directly correlated to their hepatic inflow (Lapierre et al., 2005; Bach et al., 2000). Thus as more of these AA are absorbed, more will be removed by the liver (up to 0.49 of portal absorption). Bach et al. (2000) showed that even though supplementation of the limiting AA reduced extraction and deamination of most AA by the liver, due to their utilization elsewhere, the rate of catabolism of Phe by the liver remained constant. The liver also has the capability to export AA bound



to peptides or proteins in the blood, rather than free AA, which would not be reflected in the plasma data since blood AA concentrations were not analysed in this study due to the difficulties associated with it (Bach et al., 2000). These phenomena could account for the lack of an increased post-liver plasma Phe concentration in both Phe treatments which is consistent with Lapierre et al. (2005), suggesting that the reason for increased removal of AA by the liver is to remove excess AA, thereby equalizing post-liver supply with both mammary uptake and milk output requirements. This suggests that Phe was not limiting production in the Control ration and that its supplementation in an RP form was unnecessary.

Another possible explanation for the lack of a production response to supplemental Phe alone could be that when AA which are usually extracted at levels lower than milk protein requirement (*e.g.*, Phe, Tyr) are supplemented, extraction rates and efficiencies considerably increase (Guinard and Rulquin, 1994), substituting mammary utilization of peptide-derived Phe with that of added free Phe. This suggests that supplemented Phe did not provide an additional supply of AA, but rather replaced peptides as the source of Phe to support milk protein synthesis (Bequette and Backwell, 1997). It is also possible that, due to the relatively high MCP flow in our study and the large contribution of MCP to total absorbable protein, any benefit that resulted from supplementation of Phe alone was too small to be measured (Robinson, 2010).

The shift in energy utilization with M+P vs. MET supports the hypothesis that Phe was absorbed into blood and that enough was delivered to the mammary gland to elicit a response. If the additional free Phe replaced use of peptide-derived Phe in the mammary gland, it is possible that more Met, which liberated energy from milk fat and lactose, provided the energy required to incorporate the peptides back into muscle protein, resulting in some of the increased BCS gain, which was not the case with Phe supplementation alone. This is supported by the tendency for a number of AA (*i.e.*, Met, Lys, Arg, Ala, all branched-chain AA (BCAA)) to decrease in the M+P vs. MET treatments. Since these AA were not incorporated into milk *per se*, it is possible that they were utilized to support synthesis of muscle protein, as the increase in BCS change may attest. This is also supported by the



77

decrease in concentrations of Alanine (P=0.04) and Lys (P=0.05), these being the AA which are most abundant in muscle tissue (Bach et al., 2000).

Since Jaurena et al. (2005) showed that BCS gain reflects accretion of fat and muscle mass, the increase in BCS may further be explained by involvement, or activity, of Phe in lipogenesis. Research investigating treatment of type 2 diabetes have shown that use of a Phe-based GPR142 agonist successfully increased serum insulin while decreasing blood glucose concentrations (Du et al., 2012). Since insulin is a peptide hormone produced by the pancreas to metabolize blood glucose to fatty acids, increased insulin concentrations, and therefore increased lipogenesis, may be partly responsible for increased BCS gain. Also, since more glucose are metabolized to fatty acids, less would be available for lactose synthesis, resulting in reduced milk lactose content. It has previously been suggested that the mammary gland has a high metabolic flexibility, maintaining milk synthesis by utilizing various nutrients in different pathways, with milk component yields changing depending on how their precursors are partitioned (Lemosquet et al., 2010). However, this does not explain why the increase in BCS only occured in the combined M+P treatment and not with Phe supplementation alone. Phenylalanine has also been identified as one of the AA, together with Met, that stimulates ghrelin secretion/release in the stomach and small intestine (Vancleef et al., 2015). Ghrelin is a peptide hormone which has been shown to stimulate intake, prevent fat utilization and increase body weight by influencing glucose and lipid metabolism (Romero et al., 2010), which could also contribute to the possible higher adiposity and BCS of M+P supplemented cows.

Responses to AA (mainly Lys and Met) supplementation in general have been inconsistent, relatively small and, in many cases, not what was expected in a literature which now dates back over 30 yrs. Some authors have ascribed a lack of response to other dietary factors and/or other AA being more limiting than those supplemented (Karunanandaa et al., 1994; Robinson et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000), although this often seems to be 'form' reasoning. It seems more plausible that supplemented AA are used in biological processes, resulting in effects on animal performance which differ depending on whether they were actually limiting milk production, or not, with actual limitations being rare. As suggested by Robinson et al. (1998), Met supplementation consistently enhances milk



component yields, albeit to a small degree, beyond that expected from its role as a limiting AA per se, and seemingly without connection to the expected basal Met flows to the intestinal absorptive site. The perceived correction of a theoretical AA deficiency through its supplementation consistently increases its plasma concentrations while also increasing milk protein concentration (Rulquin and Pisulewski, 2006; Weeks et al., 2006; Haque et al., 2012). However, the same cannot be said for calculated AA 'imbalances' at the intestinal absorptive site. In most cases an estimated imbalance of AA manifests as increased milk fat concentration, or a low ratio of protein: fat in milk (Chamberlain et al., 1992; Varvikko et al., 1999; Robinson et al., 2000; Cant et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2001; Weekes et al., 2006) possibly through mechanisms in the mammary gland, such as increased blood flow to maintain milk protein yield, thereby supplying more milk fat precursors to stimulate milk fat yield (Cant et al., 2001; Weekes et al., 2006). It has been suggested that endocrine responses to total AA imbalances can override imperfections in AA profiles in order to maintain milk protein yields (Weekes et al., 2006), although not all of the resulting changes may be deemed positive by dairy farmers. In addition, supplementation of AA to rations in which they are not limiting are known to negatively affect animal performance through, for instance, reducing DM intake (Karunanandaa et al., 1994; Robinson et al., 2000; Rulquin and Pisulewski, 2006) and sequestration of AA in body protein that exacerbate the AA deficiency (Weekes et al., 2006).

In some cases, as in our study, supplementing a second AA (or group of AA) may result in the opposite, or a reversal, of the response from only one AA (Polan et al., 1991; Kim et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2010), or simply a completely different response as was seen when supplementation of BCAA in addition to Met and Lys, which were deemed limiting, had no additional effect on milk production but stimulated muscle protein synthesis (Appuhamy et al., 2011). It has been suggested that it is not blood AA concentrations *per se* that limits milk protein production, but rather the metabolic machinery which determines maximum velocity of milk protein production (Cant et al., 2001) or a gastrointestinal event (Bequette et al., 1996), both of which are under hormonal control.

It may be time to reconsider the 'limiting AA' or 'broken stick' concept of AA nutrition of lactating dairy cows in favor of accepting that most AA are bioactive and can change animal



performance, even when they are not 'limiting' milk production *per se*, which is likely the normal situation. Thus recommendations to use RPAA products must consider the potential for unwanted effects, which could be deemed negative, which are associated with oversupply, or unnecessary supply, of AA to the intestinal absorptive site relative to animal 'needs'.

5.5. Conclusions

Phenylalanine supplementation alone in an RP form caused no animal response since, even though the results suggest that it was delivered and absorbed, it likely increased Phe catabolism in the liver since Met was limiting its use for production, thereby lowering the amount of Phe which reached the mammary gland. In contrast, Met was likely oversupplied with Met supplementation alone, which showed as increased milk fat and protein proportions. However, supplementation of the combination of both AA possibly rectified the Met limitation and supplied Phe which became 2nd limiting after the Met requirements were met. However it seems that we did not supply enough Phe to support a sustained milk production response. Instead, as a first priority, free Phe may have replaced peptides which were previously mobilized from the muscle to rectify the Phe limitation, directing those back to muscle protein synthesis with no surplus Phe remaining available to increase milk production.

Responses to AA supplementation in dairy cows in a research time frame now exceeding 30 yrs. have been inconsistent and unpredictable and, although authors provide many reasons to justify the seemingly random (but generally low or no) responses to AA supplementation, it is clear that AA limitations, requirements and production responses are governed by much more than their plasma AA concentrations. Indeed our results strongly suggest that AA should be viewed as bioactive metabolites to the extent that they can change animal performance characteristics, even when they are not 'limiting' *per se*, and that their supplementation to practical dairy cattle rations should be approached with extreme caution for this reason.



Acknowledgements

The authors thank Mr William van Die and the personnel (*i.e.*, George, Nacho, Pedro, Junior, José) at Cloverdale Dairy for their interest, assistance and patience during the completion of the study. Efforts of the DHIA staff, especially Kari Furtado, in Hanford in arranging and sorting extra milk test samples is also greatly appreciated. The senior author also thanks Prof Lourens Erasmus and Dr. Peter Robinson, fellow students (Jill Soderstrom, Stacey Tsang, Kristan Reed), and friends (Rodrigo) in collecting and processing samples. Very special thanks go to Grace Cun for going above and beyond in both assistance and support.

References

- AOAC 1997. Official method of analysis of AOAC International, 16th ed., Vol I. Association of official Analytical Chemists, Inc., MD, USA.
- AOAC 2005. Official methods of analysis of AOAC International, 18th ed. Association of official Analytical Chemists International, Gaithersburg, MD, USA.
- AOAC 2006. Official methods of analysis of AOAC International, 18th ed., AOAC International, Arlington, VA, USA.
- Akers, R.M. 2002. Lactation and the mammary gland. Iowa State Press, Ames, IA, USA.
- Appuhamy, J.A.D.R.N., Knapp, J.R., Becvar, O., Escobar, J., Hanigan, M.D. 2011. Effects of jugularinfused lysine, Met, and branched-chain amino acids on milk protein synthesis in high-producing dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 1952-1960.
- Bach, A., Huntington, G.B., Stern, M.D. 2000. Response of nitrogen metabolism in preparturient dairy cows to methionine supplementation. J. Anim. Sci. 78, 742-749.
- Bequette, B.J., Backwell, F.R.C. 1997. Amino acid supply and metabolism by the ruminant mammary gland. Proc. of the Nutrition society. 56, 593-605.
- Bequette, B.J., Backwell, F.R.C., MacRae, J.C., Lobley, G.E., Crompton, L.A., Metcalf, J.A., Sutton, J.D. 1996. Effect of intravenous amino acid infusion on Leu oxidation across the mammary gland of the lactating goat. J. Dairy Sci. 79, 2217-2224.
- Burgos, S.A., Robinson, P.H., Fadel, J.G., DePeters, E.J. 2005. Ammonia volatilization potential: Prediction of urinary urea nitrogen output in lactating dairy cows. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 111, 261-269.
- Canola Council of Canada. 2013. Annual report. Canola Council of Canada, Winnipeg, MB, Canada. http://www.canolacouncil.org/media/549926/2013_annual_report.pdf (accessed 11 Sept 2014).
- Cant, J.P., Trout, D.R., Qiao, F., McBride, B.W. 2001. Milk composition responses to unilateral arterial infusion of complete and histidine-lacking amino acid mixtures to the mammary glands of cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 1192-1200.
- Chalupa, W., Sniffen, C. 2006. Balancing rations on the basis of amino acids: The CPM-Dairy approach. Proc. 21st Annual Southwest nutrition and management conference, Tempe, AZ, February 23-24, pp. 96-109.
- Čermáková, J., Kudrna, V., Illek, J., Blažková, K., Haman, J. 2012. Effects of a rumen-protected form of Met and a Met analogue on the lactation performance of dairy cows. Czech J. Anim. Sci. 57, 410-419.



- Chamberlain, D.G., Choung, J., Robertson, S. 1992. Protein nutrition of dairy cows receiving grass silage diets: Effects of feeding a protein supplement of unbalanced amino acid composition. J. Sci. Food Agric. 60, 425-430.
- Chen, X.B., Gomes, M.J. 1992 (Edited and reprinted 1995). Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives - An overview of the technical details. Int. Feed Res. Unit, Occasional Publ. Rowett Research Institute, Aberdeen, UK. http://www.macaulay.ac.uk/IFRU/pdf/chema.pdf (accessed 11 Sept 2014).
- Chen, Z.H., Broderick, G.A., Luchini, N.D., Sloan, B.K., Devillard, E. 2011. Effect of feeding different sources of rumen-protected Met on milk production and N-utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 1978-1988.
- Chilliard, Y., Cissé, M., Lefaivre, R., Rémond, B. 1991. Body composition of dairy cows according to lactation stage, somatotropin treatment, and concentrate supplementation. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3103-3116.
- Du, X., Kim, Y.-J., Lai, S., Chen, X., Lizarzaburu, M., Turcotte, S., Fu, Z., Liu, Q., Zhang, Y., Motani, A., Oda, K., Okuyama, R., Nara, F., Murakoshi, M., Fu, A., Reagan, J.D., Fan, P., Xiong, Y., Shen, W., Li, L., Houze, J., Medina, J.C. 2012. Phenylalanine derivatives as GPR142 agonists for the treatment of Type II diabetes. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 22, 6218–6223.
- Ferguson, J.D., Galligan, D.T., Thomsen, N. 1994. Principal descriptors of body condition score in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2695-2703.
- Gonzalez-Ronquillo, M., Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Vicente, F. 2003. Purine derivative excretion in dairy cows: Edogenous excretion and the effect of exogenous nucleic acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 1282-1291.
- Growing Great 2015. http://www.canolacouncil.org/media/502091/growing_great_pdf.pdf (accessed 15 Sept 2014).
- Guinard, J., Rulquin, H. 1994. Effect of graded levels of duodenal infusions of casein on mammary uptake in lactating cows. 2. Individual amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 3304-3315.
- Haque, M.N., Rulquin, H., Andrade, A., Faverdin, P., Peyraud, J.L., Lemosquet, S. 2012. Milk protein synthesis in response to the provision of an "ideal" amino acid profile at 2 levels of metabolizable protein supplies in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95, 5876-5887.
- Haque, M.N., Rulquin, H., Lemosquet, S. 2013. Milk protein responses in dairy cows to changes in postruminal supplies of arginine, isoleucine, and valine. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 420-430.
- Jaurena, G., Moorby, J.M., Fisher, W.J., Cantet, R. 2005. Association of body weight, loin longissimus dorsi and backfat with body condition score in dry and lactating Holstein dairy cows. Animal Science 80, 219-223.
- Karunanandaa, K., Goodling, L.E., Varga, G., Muller, L.D., McNeil, W.W., Cassidy, T.W., Lykos, T. 1994. Supplemental dietary fat and ruminally protected amino acids for lactating Jersey cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 3417-3425.
- Kaufman, S. 1971. The Phe hydroxylating system from mammalian liver. Adv. Enzymol. 35, 245-319.
- Khorasani, G.R., Robinson, P.H., Kennelly, J.J. 1993. Effects of canola meal treated with acetic acid on rumen degradation and intestinal digestibility in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 76, 1607-1616.
- Kim, C.-H., Choung, J.-J., Chamberlain, D.G. 2001. Estimates of the efficiency of transfer of Lhistidine from blood to milk when it is the first-limiting amino acid for secretion of milk protein in the dairy cow. J. Sci. Food Agric. 81, 1150-1155.
- Lapierre, H., Berthiaume, R., Raggion, G., Thivierge, M.C., Doepel, L., Pacheco, D., Dubreuil, P., Lobley, G.E. 2005. The route of absorbed nitrogen into milk protein. Anim. Sci. 80, 11-22.



- Lemosquet, S., Guinard-Flament, J., Raggio, G., Hurtaud, C., Van Milgen, J., Lapierre, H. 2010. How does increasing protein supply or glucogenic nutrients modify mammary metabolism in lactating dairy cows? In: Energy and protein metabolism and nutrition (p. 175-186). EAAP Scientific Series (127). EAAP International Symposium on Energy and Protein Metabolism and Nutrition, Parme, ITA (2010-09-06 2010-09-10). Wageningen, NLD : Wageningen Academic Publishers. http://prodinra.inra.fr/record/35565.
- Liu, C., Schingoethe, D.J., Stegeman, G.A. 2000. Corn distillers grains versus a blend of protein supplements with or without ruminally protected amino acids for lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 83, 2075-2084.
- Moorby, J.M., Dewhurst, R.J., Evans, R.T., Danelon, J.L. 2006. Effects of dairy cow diet forage proportion on duodenal nutrient supply and urinary purine derivative excretion. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 3552-3562.
- Mulrooney, C.N., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R. 2009. Canola meal replacing distillers grains with solubles for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 5669-5676.
- National Research Council. 2001. Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle. 7th Rev. Ed., National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- NFTA 2006. Moisture Task Force Report, 2.2.2.5 Laboratory Dry Matter by Oven Drying for 3 hours at 105°C, pp. 1-3. http://www.foragetesting.org/files/NFTAReferenceMethodDM-09-18-06.pdf (accessed 11 Sept 2014).
- Osorio, J.S., Ji, P., Drackley, J.K., Luchini, D., Loor, J.J. 2013. Supplemental Smartamine M or Metasmart during the transition period benefits postpartal cow performance and blood neutrophil function. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 6248-6263.
- Patton, R.A. 2010. Effect of rumen-protected Met on feed intake, milk production, true milk protein concentration, and true milk protein yield, and the factors that incluence these effects: A metaanalysis. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 2105-2118.
- Polan, C.E., Cumming, K.A., Sniffen, C.J., Muscato, T.V., Vicini, J.L., Crooker, B.A., Clark, J.H., Johnson, D.G., Otterby, D.E., Guillaume, B., Muller, L.D., Varga, G.A., Murray, R.A., Pierce-Sandner, S.B. 1991. Responses of dairy cows to supplemental rumen-protected forms of Met and lysine. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 2997-3013.
- Reynal, S.M., Broderick, G.A. 2005. Effect of dietary level of rumen-degraded protein on production and nitrogen metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 88, 4045-4064.
- Robinson, P.H. 2010. Impacts of manipulating ration metabolizable lysine and Met levels on the performance of lactating dairy cows: A systematic review of the literature. Livest. Sci. 127, 115-126.
- Robinson, P.H., Chalupa, W., Sniffen, C.J., Julien, W.E., Sato, H., Fujieda, T., Ueda, T., Suzuki, H. 2000. Influence of abomasal infusion of high levels of lysine or Met, or both, on ruminal fermentation, eating behaviour, and performance of lactating dairy cows. J. Anim. Sci. 78, 1067-1077.
- Robinson, P.H., Chalupa, W., Sniffen, C.J., Julien, W.E., Sato, H., Watanabe, K., Fujieda, T., Suzuki, H. 1998. Ruminally protected lysine or lysine and Met for lactating dairy cows fed a ration designed to meet requirements for microbial and postruminal protein. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 1364-1373.
- Robinson, P.H., Fadel, J.G., Ivan, M. 1996. Critical evaluation of diaminopimelic acid and ribonucleic acid as markers to estimate rumen pools and duodenal flows of bacterial and protozoal nitrogen. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 76, 587-597.
- Robinson, P.H., Khorasani, G.R., Kennelly, J.J. 1994. Forestomach and whole tract digestion in lactating dairy cows fed increasing levels of canola meal treated with acetic acid. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 552-559.



- Robinson, P.H., Meyer, D. 2010. Total mixed ration (TMR) sampling protocol. ANR Publication 8413, ANR Publications, University of California, Berkeley, CA, USA.
- Robinson, P.H., Veira, D.M., Ivan, M. 1998. Influence of supplemental protein quality on rumen fermentation, rumen microbial yield, forestomach digestion, and intestinal amino acid flow in late lactation Holstein cows. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 78, 95-105.
- Romero, A., Kirchner, H., Heppner, K., Pfluger, P.T., Tschop, M.H., Nogueiras, R. 2010. GOAT: the master switch for the ghrelin system? Eur. J. Endocrinol. 163, 1–8.
- Rulquin, H., Kowalczyk, J. 2003. Development of a method for measuring lysine and methionine bioavailability in rumen-protected products for cattle. J. of Anim. and Feed Sci. 12, 465-474.
- Rulquin, H., Pisulewski, P.M. 2006. Effects of graded levels of duodenal infusions of Leu on mammary uptake and output in lactating dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Research 73, 328-339.
- Rulquin, R., Delaby, L. 1997. Effects of the energy balance of dairy cows on lactational responses to rumen-protected methionine. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 2513-2522.
- Sakkers, M., Erasmus, L.J., Robinson, P.H., Meeske, R., Garrett, J.E. 2013. Determining *in vivo* ruminal stability of three ruminally protected nutrients in lactating Jersey cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 185, 133-139.
- SAS Institute Inc., SAS/STAR[®] Software: Changes and enhancements, Release 9.2. 2000. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA.
- Schwab, C. 1995. Rumen protected amino acids. In Tri-State Dairy Nutrition Conference, May, pp. 85-110.
- Schwab, C. 2007. Protected proteins and amino acids for ruminants. In Biotechnology in Animal Feeds and animal feeding. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH, Weinheim, Germany, pp. 115-141.
- Smith, D. 1969. Removing and Analyzing Total Nonstructural Carbohydrates from Plant Tissue. Wisconsin Agric. Exp. Sta. Res. Report 41.
- Steel, R.G.D., Torrie, J.H. 1980. Principles and Procedures of Statistics. McGrawHill Book Company, NewYork, NY, USA.
- Stensig, T., Robinson, P.H. 1997. Digestion and passage kinetics of forage fiber in dairy cows as affected by fiber-free concentrate in the diet. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1339-1352.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2010. Amino acid needs of lactating dairy cows: Impact of feeding lysine in a runnially protected form on productivity of lactating dairy cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 157, 79-94.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.R., Erasmus, L.J. 2014. Determining the optimal ratio of canola meal and high protein dried distillers grain protein in diets of high producing Holstein dairy cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 189, 41-53.
- Timmermans Jr., S.J., Johnson, L.M., Harrison, J.H., Davidson, D. 2000. Estimation of the flow of microbial nitrogen to the duodenum using milk uric acid and allantoin. J. Dairy Sci. 83, 1286-1299.
- Tyrrell, H.F., Reid, J.T. 1965. Prediction of the energy value of cow's milk. J. Dairy Sci. 48, 1215-1223.
- Vagnoni, D.B., Broderick, G.A. 1997. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1703-1712.
- Valadares, R.F.D., Broderick, G.A., Valadares Filho, S.C., Clayton, M.K. 1999. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 2686-2696.



- Vancleef, L., Van Den Broeck, T., Thijs, T., Steensels, S., Briand, L., Tack, J., Depoortere, I. 2015. Chemosensory signalling pathways involved in sensing of amino acids by the ghrelin cell. Sci. Rep. 5, 15725.
- Varvikko, T., Vanhatalo, A., Jalava, T., Huhtanen, P. 1999. Lactation and metabolic responses to graded abomasal doses of Met and lysine in cows fed grass silage diets. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 2659-2673.
- Wang, C., Liu, H.Y., Wang, Y.M., Yang, Z.Q., Liu, J.X., Wu, Y.M., Yan, T., Ye, H.W. 2010. Effects of dietary supplementation of Met and lysine on milk production and nitrogen utilization in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 3661-3670.
- Weeks, T.L., Luimes, P.H., Cant, J.P. 2006. Responses to amino acid imbalances and deficiencies in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 2177-2187.
- Williams, E.J. 1949. Experimental Designs Balanced for the Estimation of Residual Effects of Treatments. Australian Journal of Scientific Research, Series A: Physical Sciences, vol. 2, p.149.
- Wrinkle, S.R., Robinson, P.H., Garrett, J.E. 2012. Niacin delivery to the intestinal absorptive site impacts heat stress and productivity responses of high producing dairy cows during hot conditions. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 175, 33-47.





Chapter 6. Experiment 3: Rumen microbial protein flow, and

plasma amino acid concentration, spectrum in early lactation

multiparity Holstein cows fed commercial rations

Abstract

Formulating and feeding rations that are nutritionally balanced to enhance microbial protein (MCP) production and post-ruminal delivery of absorbable protein, while balancing for specific amino acids (AA), requires accurate prediction of nutrients absorbed from the small intestine. The most common method of ration formulation involves factorial or empirical models which simulate ruminal fermentation and predict protein outflows. However, due to their inability to encompass all animal factors that affect digestion and absorption, metabolic models inadequately predict MCP synthesis in the rumen and passage of nutrients such as crude protein (CP) and AA to the small intestine. Limited attempts have been made to establish ideal concentrations and requirements of AA for ruminants, and interpreting results from experimental treatments using plasma AA concentrations does not relate experimental data to concentrations obtained when contemporary rations are fed to cows under commercial conditions, for which no data exists. A practical and simple on-farm method to obtain "real time" values directly from the cows is required to evaluate commercial rations and establish normal ranges of MCP flowing from the rumen and plasma AA concentrations under commercial circumstances feeding contemporary dairy rations. Urine purine derivative (PD) output has been shown to be an effective index of MCP supply to the intestine and spot urine samples can accurately predict MCP flow from the rumen under farm conditions. Taking blood samples from the tail vein of dairy cows is a practice easily performed on commercial dairy farms and concentrations of free AA in these plasma samples are representative of intestinally absorbed AA, and can be used as an index to predict limiting AA. Cow groups sampled from 20 dairies produced 45 (\pm 1.2) kg milk/day at 81 (\pm 2.2) days in milk (DIM). The study successfully documented ranges of urine estimated MCP flowing from the rumen (1703 (± 54.6) g CP/day), and plasma AA concentrations, in early lactation multiparity Holstein cows fed a range of contemporary CA rations under multiple ingredient profile combinations. The dairies selected to create this database were normal well managed operations with animal groups representing a narrow range of milk production and DIM. This database can therefore be used as a benchmark to compare high, low and normal levels for MCP flow and plasma AA concentrations, as well as a real time evaluation of formulated rations in order to pinpoint possible rumen microbial growth and/or absorbable AA problems in commercial groups of dairy cows.

Keywords: plasma amino acids; spot urine allantoin; microbial protein; California total mixed rations *Abbreviations:* AA, amino acid; AL, allantoin; aNDF, amylase-treated NDF; aNDFom, aNDF free of residual ash; BCS, body condition score; BW, body weight; CM, canola meal; CP, crude protein; DIM, days in milk; DM, dry matter; dNDFom₃₀, 30 h *in vitro* NDFom digestibility; EAA, essential AA; LSD, least square difference; MCP, microbial CP; MP, metabolizable protein; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; NEAA, non-essential AA; NSC, non-structural carbohydrates; OM, organic matter; PD, purine derivatives; PDV, portally-drained viscera; RDP, rumen degradable CP; RUP, rumen undegradable CP; SG, specific gravity; TMR, total mixed ration. List of AA: Aspartic acid (Asp), Threonine (Thr), Serine (Ser), Glutamic acid (Glu), glycine (Gly), Alanine (Ala), Valine (Val),



Methionine (Met), Isoleucine (Ile), Leucine (Leu), Tyrosine (Tyr), Phenylalanine (Phe), Tryptophan (Trp), Histidine (His), Arginine (Arg), Proline (Pro).

6.1. Introduction

It is widely acknowledged that dairy cattle must be fed nutritionally balanced rations to enhance microbial protein (MCP) production as well as deliver absorbable protein with appropriate balances of specific amino acids (AA) to the small intestine. However, the required levels of MCP and AA that should be targeted remain unclear.

Traditional methods to determine MCP synthesis and absorbable protein delivery to the small intestine are invasive, complicated, expensive, time consuming, imprecise and have unknown accuracy. Therefore the most common method of formulating rations currently involves factorial or empirical models which simulate ruminal fermentation and predict duodenal protein flow. Although the models can be used as tools to make basic nutritional decisions, by responding to changes in ration composition, they inadequately predict MCP synthesis and degradability of protein in the rumen and passage of crude protein (CP) and AA to the intestine (Bateman et al., 2001a,b; Hanigan et al., 2001) and cannot replace observations from cows. Further development of descriptors to better predict feed interactions and underlying biology of the cows remain.

Since specific AA requirements for ruminants are not known, they are generally estimated based on research with non-ruminants and/or assumed to be similar to the AA concentration of milk protein (Schingoethe, 1996), but little data is available to substantiate these assumptions and limited attempts to establish ideal concentrations of essential AA (EAA) in metabolizable protein (MP) have not been successful (Fraser et al., 1991 as referenced by Rulquin and Verite 1993; Doepel et al., 2004). Interpreting results from experimental treatments by utilizing plasma AA concentrations (as in Swanepoel et al., 2014) amongst different diets can highlight changes and suggest AA limitations amongst treatments, but it does not relate experimental plasma AA concentrations to concentrations that would occur when cows are fed contemporary rations formulated under commercial conditions, often driven by animal production.



In light of the difficulties of using models to predict limitations of MCP and plasma AA concentrations, as well as the lack of available conventional (*i.e.*, non-experimental) plasma data, there is a need for practical and simple on-farm methods of estimating real time MCP flow from the rumen and plasma AA concentrations directly from the animals to successfully evaluate commercial rations balanced for higher intestinal MCP and AA delivery, establish what the normal range would be under conventional commercial circumstances using contemporary rations without experimental alterations, and evaluate model predictions.

This study used multiparity cows fed a wide range of contemporary early lactation dairy rations in California (USA), in order to (a) determine the normal ranges of MCP flowing from the rumen, and plasma AA concentrations, in early lactation multiparity Holstein cows, to (b) benchmark their high, low and mean levels using sampling methods possible under commercial conditions in order to assist in evaluation of commercial rations formulated with or without the aid of metabolic models, and to (c) create a reference database to help interpret the biological meaning of treatment concentrations of these parameters under commercial and experimental conditions.

6.2. Materials and methods

6.2.1. Farm and management

A group of commercial dairy farms in California were identified and, from this group, 20 dairy farm co-operators were selected to participate. In order to ensure a representative range of MCP and plasma AA values, the farms represented all major dairy counties in California, fed a wide range of rations and had consulting nutritionists. Other required factors included use of a computerized herd record and management system, a computerized ration mixing and feeding program, monthly milk tests through county or private testing companies, having a pen of at least 150 early lactation multiparity cows, and generally good dairy management. Each farm was visited prior to the day of sampling to determine the location of the high group pen and obtain a backup copy of their herd management files, which were used to create lists of eligible cows prior to sampling (as described below).



6.2.2. Sample collection, preparation and analytical methods

6.2.2.1. Total mixed ration

On the day of sampling, a load of total mixed ration (TMR) fed to the target early lactation pen was sampled by taking 10 handfuls at evenly spaced intervals along the bunk-line immediately after feeding, but before the cows had access to it, and immediately sub-sampled to create a representative sample (Robinson and Meyer, 2010). These TMR samples were frozen until chemical analysis. The ingredient profiles of the TMR (g/kg dry matter; DM) for the target pen on each of the 20 farms was obtained from the dairy farmer or nutritionist.

All TMR samples were weighed, dried at 55°C for 48 h, and allowed to air equilibrate at room temperature for 24 h before chemical analysis. All samples were ground to pass a 1 mm screen on a model 4 Wiley Mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA). Oven DM was determined as the gravimetric loss when dried at 105°C for 3 h in a forced air oven (NFTA, 2006). Ash determination was based on gravimetric loss by heating samples to 550°C for at least 3 h (#942.05; AOAC, 2005). Total N was determined by a Leco method (#990.03; AOAC, 2005). Neutral detergent fiber (NDF) was determined using neutral detergent and heat (#2002.04; AOAC, 2006). Heat-stable amylase was used to remove starch and inactivate enzymes that may degrade the aNDF, and aNDFom does not include residual ash. Fat was quantified using the Randall modification of the standard Soxhlet extraction (#2003.05; AOAC, 2006) and starch was determined as total glucose minus free glucose multiplied by 0.9 (Smith, 1969). Rumen degradable CP analysis, during which all TMR were subjected to a rumen proteolytic simulation for 48 h (chosen to resemble mean retention times in the rumen), in a protease solution containing enzymes from *Streptomyces griseus* was the measure of undegraded CP (Krishnamoorthy et al., 1983). Soluble CP was analysed using the borate-phosphate procedure of Krishnamoorthy et al. (1982) and the 30 h ruminal in vitro NDFom digestibility (dNDFom₃₀) was measured according to Robinson et al. (1999) with the exception that *in vitro* baths were used instead of the DAISY[®] Ankom system. The 48 hour *in vitro* gas production procedure was completed at the UC Davis laboratory according to Menke and Steingass (1988) using two dry cows as rumen fluid donors and running duplicate syringes per TMR sample.



6.2.2.2. Animal measurements

Groups of 20 cows within dairy farm were selected from the target pens containing only multiparity cows to average 75 days in milk (DIM) and exclude cows in lactation 5 or higher. Milk yields from the cows were obtained from county or private company milk recordings from each farm's routine monthly milk test which had occurred within 4 days of sampling.

Body condition scoring (BCS) was completed on all cows within each group by the same trained scorer using the 5 point BCS system of Ferguson et al. (1994), which defines quarter points based upon anatomical characteristics of the cows. However, when a cow demonstrated characteristics which made it difficult to clearly classify her to a specific quarter point (*e.g.*, 2.00 versus 2.25), she was classed as intermediate.

After removal of the 4 cows with the highest, and the 4 cows with the lowest, BCS values immediately after scoring the 20 cows, blood was collected from the tail (coccygeal) vein of the remaining 12 cows using a 10 ml evacuated tube containing K₂ EDTA (Vacutainer, Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), kept in coolers with ice and centrifuged within 3 h at 2100*xg* for 15 min at 4°C. Plasma was removed, transferred to duplicate Eppendorf tubes and frozen at -20°C until a set of 7 samples/dairy was sent for analysis of physiological AA (*i.e.*, free plasma AA) and ammonia. Samples were acidified with sulfosalicyclic acid to precipitate intact proteins and AA quantified using a Beckman 6300 AA analyzer (Beckman Coulter, Inc., La Brea, CA, USA) with a lithium citrate buffer system and ion-exchange chromatography to separate AA followed by a "post-column" ninhydrin reaction detection system.

Spot urine samples were collected from any cow in the target pen which voluntarily urinated during the morning lockup for normal health and reproductive checks (~50 min/pen/day) and immediately placed in ice. However samples were only retained from cows adhering to all specifications listed above for blood collection cows, except that the DIM range for urine was expanded to 38 to 151 DIM. This resulted in each dairy having a group of 6 to 12 cows which met the appropriate characteristics. The specific gravity (SG) of each untreated urine sample was measured within 90 min using a digital handheld pen refractometer (Atago USA Inc., Bellevue, WA, USA) to



estimate urine volume (as described below). A small quantity of urine (7 ml) was combined with 1.4 ml of 100 ml/L sulphuric acid so that the final pH was reduced to <2 in order to prevent bacterial destruction of allantoin (AL), diluted with water to a final volume of 35 ml and frozen at -20°C. Urine samples were chemically analyzed for AL according to Chen and Gomes (1992). Standards were prepared to create working concentrations of 20, 40, 60, 80 and 100 mg/L AL. Urine samples were thawed and centrifuged at 1200xg for 15 min at 20 to 22°C in order to remove precipitate which could influence the colorimetric reading and diluted 60 times to fit the standard curve. A duplicate standard curve was included at the start and end of each run to calculate AL concentrations in the urine samples which, with estimated urine volume, was used to calculate the flow of MCP from the rumen to the small intestine. Two inter-run standard samples were used in each assay run to assess variation among runs after which the average concentration of the inter-run standards over all runs was used to correct sample concentrations in each run. Each urine sample was analyzed in duplicate with the average used as the final concentration.

6.2.3. Calculations

Final oven DM was calculated as the air equilibrated DM (*i.e.*, dried at 55°C) multiplied by the lab oven DM (*i.e.*, dried at 105°C). Gas production (ml/g organic matter; OM) of the TMR samples were determined using the method of Robinson et al. (2004), and calculated as:

((Sample gas production/h since last recording) – (Blank gas production/h since last recording)) /

(TMR DM, g/kg) / (TMR OM, g/kg)

Urine volume (L/day) was calculated using an equation derived from data of Burgos et al. (2005) as:

332.66*(((SG-1)*1000)^{-0.884})

Total daily purine derivative (PD) excretion (mmol/day) was calculated as the sum of PD excreted in urine and milk of lactating dairy cows (Chen and Gomes, 1992), using a coefficient of 0.906 to express AL concentration in total PD of urine (obtained from values of Vagnoni and Broderick, 1997; Valadares et al., 1999; Gonzalez-Ronquillo et al., 2003; Reynal and Broderick, 2005; Moorby et al., 2006) and PD excretion in milk as a constant 0.05 of urine PD excretion (Chen and Gomes, 1992).



Microbial purines absorbed from the intestine (X, mmol/day) were calculated using the equation of Chen and Gomes (1992), using a constant body weight (BW) of 675 kg, as:

(Total daily PD - 0.385 x (BW^{0.75}))/0.85,

with coefficients for the endogenous contribution of PD and recovery of absorbed purines as PD in the urine of 0.385 mmol/kg $BW^{0.75}$ and 0.85 respectively.

Microbial CP production (g CP/day) was then estimated as:

[(X (mmol/day) x 70) / (0.116*0.83*1000)] x 6.25,

assuming an N concentration of 70 mg N/mmol for purines, and using a ratio of purine N:total N in mixed rumen microbes as 11.6:100. A coefficients for microbial purine digestibility of 0.83 were used while a factor of 6.25 converted microbial N to MCP.

6.2.4. Statistical analysis

Correlation analysis using backward elimination through the STEPWISE procedure of SAS (2012) was used to determine predictability of MCP and plasma AA concentrations on milk production and also from single analyte levels and ingredient profiles of TMR. The descriptive statistics function in the data analysis tool pack of Excel 2013 was used to calculate mean and standard errors for dairy characteristics and analytes, as well as to construct box-and-whisker plots with median, minimum, maximum, 20th and 80th percentile calculations for MCP and individual plasma AA concentrations. A least square difference (LSD) analysis was performed on urine MCP and plasma AA data to determine the lowest number of samples at which addition of more samples no longer reduced the LSD for the dataset. This point was used as an indication of the number of samples required to give an accurate representation of the sample group. Fitting a linear trend line within Excel 2013 generated r² values to evaluate the magnitude and importance of correlations amongst nutrients and analytes.



6.3. Results

6.3.1. Dairy farm and total mixed ration characteristics

Some characteristics of the dairy farms are in Table 6.1. The dairy farms milked 2677 (\pm 372) cows either 2 or 3 times a day with the target early lactation pens holding 255 (\pm 20) cows.

The TMR fed to the 20 target pens among dairy farms were relatively consistent in chemical profile (Table 6.1). The CP, starch, fat and aNDFom of the TMR among dairies were $165 (\pm 2.3)$, 198 (± 9.2) , 47 (± 1.9) and 299 (± 5.1) g/kg respectively. The consistency in the TMR chemical profiles suggests that the nutritional consultants formulated the rations to standards generally consistent with NRC (2001) guidelines, where appropriate. For example, CP and NDF levels in the TMR were within NRC (2001) recommended ranges, while fat concentrations (47.2 g/kg DM) were slightly higher than the NRC (2001) recommendation of 30 to 40 g/kg DM, but slightly lower than the 56.8 g/kg DM previously reported in CA dairy rations (Swanepoel et al., 2010b).

Gas production at 4 h of incubation, indicative of fermentation of non-structural carbohydrates (NSC) immediately available to microorganisms in the rumen (Cone et al., 1997), were 102 (\pm 1.2) ml/g OM with 24, 30 and 48 h values of 264 (\pm 3.4), 278 (\pm 3.4) and 296 (\pm 3.7) respectively. These values tend to be slightly higher than values from Rauch et al. (2012), but variability among TMR in gas production was generally low.

Table 6.1: Some ch	aracteristics	of the 20 dairy	v sites and the chemic	cal composition of the total
mixed rations (TM	R) fed to the	target pen of ea	arly lactation cows or	the dairy sites

	Mean	SE
Dairy characteristics		
Total milking cows	2677	371.9
Milkings/day	2.5	0.11
Cows in target pen	255	20.4
TMR chemical components (g/kg DM)		
Dry matter (DM; g/kg)	577	12.0
Organic matter (OM)	914	2.3
Crude protein (CP)	165	2.3
Soluble CP ¹	281	10.7
Degradable CP ²	506	14.6
Starch	198	9.2
Crude Fat	47	1.9
aNDFom ³	299	5.1
dNDFom ₃₀ ⁴	459	9.8



	Mean	SE
Gas Production (ml/g OM) @ hours of incubation:		
4 h	102	1.2
24 h	264	3.4
30 h	278	3.4
48 h	296	3.7

¹ Expressed as g/kg CP as buffer soluble CP (Krishnamoorthy et al., 1982).

² Calculated as 100 minus undegraded CP from *Streptomyces griseus* procedure (Krishnamoorthy et al., 1983).

³ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

⁴30 h ruminal *in vitro* aNDFom digestibility (g/kg aNDFom)

Overall, the main ingredients used are very similar to what has been used and fed in CA over the last decade (*e.g.*, Swanepoel et al., 2010b) even though their ingredient profiles and inclusions (Table 6.2) varied considerably amongst farms. Most TMR contained some form of alfalfa in addition to corn silage, almond hulls, corn grain, cottonseed and canola meal (CM), but there were numerous ingredients that were only used in a few rations (*i.e.*, corn earlage, corn gluten pellets, wheat millrun, rice bran, carrot and tomato wet pomace, soybean and cottonseed hulls, pomegranate wet pulp, sunflower meal, bakery waste). This wide variation in the ingredient profiles of the TMR allowed us to meet our objective of a wide range of TMR.

	n^1	Mean ²	SE
Forages			
Alfalfa, fresh chop	2	37.4	0.09
Alfalfa, hay	20	160	1.5
Alfalfa, haylage	6	88.4	1.79
Cereal, hay	3	21.1	0.49
Cereal, silage	9	121	3.1
Corn, earlage	2	167	9.0
Corn, silage	16	161	1.2
Sorghum, silage	4	64.3	1.26
Wheat, straw	5	21.0	0.37
Plant by-products			
Almond, hulls	15	101	1.0
Brewers grains, wet	4	37.0	1.14
Carrot, pomace/wet	1	16.0	-
Citrus, pulp/wet	6	13.6	0.43
Corn gluten, pellets	4	60.6	0.65
Corn gluten, wet	2	50.6	0.55
Cottonseed, hulls	1	41.2	-
Corn distillers grains, dry	11	78.9	0.84
Corn distillers grains, wet	4	60.2	1.00
Pomegranate, pulp/wet	1	33.1	-

Table 6.2: Ingredient composition (g/kg TMR DM) of the total mixed rations (TMR) fed to the target pens of early lactation cows on the dairy sites


	n^1	Mean ²	SE
Rice, bran	2	59.6	0.38
Soybean, hulls	2	48.4	2.32
Tomato wet, pomace	2	38.1	1.29
Wheat, midds/millrun	6	70.0	1.19
Grains, Whole seeds and Protein meals			
Corn, grain	19	187	1.1
Cottonseed, fuzzy upland	15	73.6	0.54
Cottonseed, pima cracked	5	44.9	0.85
Canola, expeller meal	1	73.3	-
Canola, solvent meal	19	77.8	0.85
Sunflower, expeller meal	1	81.7	-
Minerals and premixes			
Limestone	2	6.15	0.195
Mineral, premix	17	17.6	0.17
Sodium bicarbonate	6	11.0	0.22
Miscellaneous			
Bakery, waste	3	44.5	2.11
Fat, animal	1	13.5	-
Fat, vegetable	1	5.46	-
Fat, rumen inert	7	9.22	0.119
Molasses, liquid	10	23.1	0.30
Whey, liquid	10	30.6	0.34
Unidentified	3	41.9	0.53

¹ Number of dairies for which ingredient appeared in the TMR.

² Average inclusion level in the TMR which contained the ingredient.

6.3.2. Characteristics of cows in the blood and urine sample groups

The average milk production for the blood and urine sample groups were very similar at 45.1 and 44.4 kg/day respectively with relatively low variation amongst dairies (Table 6.3), as was expected since our cow groups were selected to be high producing cows in a narrow DIM range. The low average lactation number, 2.8, represents current replacement policies/practices applied on a large proportion of California dairy farms due to replacement animal costs being relatively low, increased use of sexed semen yielding higher proportions of heifers with desirable genetic potential in herds with little or no growth potential due to the local regulatory environment, and high beef prices, leading to high herd culling in order to prevent cows becoming sick (*i.e.*, requiring expensive treatments) or dying on dairy farms.

The blood cow group BCS averaged 2.63 with low variation amongst target pens. The difference in DIM between the blood and urine groups, with the urine group having a slightly higher average DIM of 89 compared to the average DIM of 73 in the blood group was due to the method of selection List of research project topics and materials



prior to sampling, as blood cows were pre-selected to average 75 DIM prior to the sampling while urine cows were collected when they voluntarily urinated, and then post-selected to only retain urine from cows that were 38 to 151 DIM. This wider DIM range is reflected in the standard error of 3.9 for the urine group, which is higher than for the blood group of 0.5.

Table 6.3: Characteristics and analysis of the early lactation cows sampled for blood a	nd urine
on the dairy sites	

	Blood group		Urine	group
	Mean	SE	Mean	SE
Pen characteristics				
Milk production (kg/d)	45.1	1.25	44.4	1.20
Days in milk	73.1	0.52	89.1	3.92
Lactation number	2.8	0.08	2.8	0.09
BCS^1	2.63	0.036	-	-
Urine analysis				
Specific gravity (g/cm ³)			1.023	0.0007
Volume (L/day)			23.1	1.06
Allantoin concentrations (mg/L)			2445	101.7
Allantoin output (mmol/d)			318.9	8.81
Microbial crude protein (CP; g/d)			1703	54.6
Plasma analysis (µg/ml)				
Essential amino acids (EAA)				
Lysine (Lys)	10.6	0.33		
Methionine (Met)	3.54	0.099		
Histidine (His)	8.08	0.225		
Phenylalanine (Phe)	8.55	0.147		
Leucine (Leu)	21.7	0.67		
Valine (Val)	29.3	0.85		
Isoleucine (Ile)	14.1	0.38		
Arginine (Arg)	14.0	0.39		
Threonine (Thr)	13.1	0.46		
Tryptophan (Trp)	16.1	0.32		
Total EAA	139	3.9		
Non-essential amino acids (NEAA)				
Tyrosine (Tyr)	10.6	0.29		
Glutamine (Gln)	54.6	1.27		
Glutamic acid (Glu)	8.07	0.313		
Alanine (Ala)	23.9	0.56		
Serine (Ser)	9.74	0.159		
Glycine (Gly)	26.9	0.73		
Aspartic acid (Asp)	1.25	0.088		
Proline (Pro)	12.0	0.26		
Total NEAA	147	3.7		
Ammonia	2.8	0.07		

¹ Body condition score; Cows in the urine group were not scored.



6.3.3. Urine analysis of cows in the urine sample group

The average urine SG of 1.02 g/cm³, and estimated volume of 23 L/day (Table 6.3), is similar to ranges reported by Holter and Urban (1992) for early lactation Holstein cows determined by total urine collection, supporting use of SG to estimate urine volume. The average estimated MCP flow from the rumen, 1703 g CP/day is in the range of previous studies in which MCP was directly measured in duodenal samples, as discussed by Swanepoel et al. (2015).

6.3.4. Plasma amino acid concentrations of cows in the blood sample group

Plasma AA concentrations (μ g/ml), as averages, are in Table 6.3 with all AA having low variation, as indicated by the SE values, except for Asp which is more variable and consistent with our previous studies (Swanepoel et al., 2010a, 2014; Robinson et al., 2011). This is likely because Asp concentrations in dairy cow plasma are typically low, thereby resulting in small peaks during analysis making it difficult for software to separate the Asp peak from contaminating peak "tails".

6.4. Discussion

6.4.1. Estimating rumen microbial CP production

Estimating MCP synthesis in dairy cows requires accurate measurement of a marker entering the small intestine (intestinal cannulation) or passing out of the rumen (omasal cannulation). In order to determine the quality and quantity of protein available for digestion and absorption in the intestine, a number of measurements, usually based on microbial markers, or predictions are required. These include ruminal degradation of protein (RDP) and AA in each feedstuff and the conversion into MCP as well as rumen passage of MCP, with its AA profile, to the lower tract, post-ruminal digestibility and absorption of MCP, as well as metabolism of AA across gut tissues, portally-drained viscera (PDV) and liver. While methods to measure most of these parameters *in vivo* exist, they require cannulated animals and measuring procedures are complicated, expensive, time consuming, imprecise and have unknown accuracy (Clark et al., 1992). The urgent need for an on-farm method of estimating real time MCP flow from the rumen has been suggested as an indication of rumen performance and basis for feeding decisions by farmers and advisors (Dewhurst et al., 1996).



When microbial nucleic acids are digested in the intestine, the by-product PD, mainly AL, is excreted in the urine and can be easily measured. Urine PD output has been shown to be an effective index of MCP supply to the intestine (Chen and Ørskov, 2004; González-Ronquillo et al., 2003; Chizzotti, et al., 2008). Even though total urine collection is not feasible under farm conditions, collecting spot urine samples is easily performed on a routine basis. Studies designed to evaluate the accuracy of estimating PD output in urine have shown that PD excretion estimated by spot urine sampling was not different from total urine collection (Chizzotti et al., 2008), suggesting that spot urine samples can be used to accurately estimate MCP flow from the rumen under farm conditions. Chen and Ørskov (2004) suggested that variability of spot measurements is greater than for total collection and that more measurements should be made to reduce errors. However, compared to previous studies in which duodenal samples were collected and MCP directly measured in duodenal chyme (Robinson et al., 1985, 1994, 1996a, 1996b, 1998; Khorasani et al., 1993, 1994; Stensig and Robinson, 1997), our technique of MCP estimation using urine AL analysis correlates (Figure 6.1) with that technique, confirming that spot urine samples can accurately predict MCP flow from the rumen, albeit with unknown precision.



Figure 6.1: Microbial crude protein (MCP) flow from the rumen (g/d) as related to milk production (kg/d) for techniques using duodenally collected samples (Robinson et al., 1985, 1994, 1996a, 1996b, 1998; Khorasani et al., 1993, 1994; Stensig and Robinson, 1997) to analyze MCP (●) compared to the urine allantoin sampling technique (◆) from this study.



6.4.1.1. Ranges of estimated MCP flow from the rumen

Using the LSD analysis previously described, the results suggest that analyzing 8 urine samples/group is required to provide adequate representation of a group of cows. This number of 8 replicates/ration for spot urine samples was also suggested by Dewhurst et al. (1996) and Oetzel (2003) reported that at least 8 cows should be sampled for urine in order to have confidence that the mean values truly represents the entire population of animals.

The normal range of MCP flowing from the rumen when feeding a range of contemporary commercial diary rations is shown in the box-and-whisker plot in Figure 6.2. The average milk production per cow for the dairies in this study is similar to Swanepoel et al. (2015), but average MCP flow was lower (1703 *versus* 2092 g CP/day), which may be indicative of dietary factors affecting MCP. However, it is in the range of studies (763 to 1959 g CP/day) previously reported in the literature when duodenal samples were collected and MCP flow directly measured (Khorasani et al., 1993; Robinson et al., 1994; 1996; 1998; Stensig and Robinson, 1997; Timmermans et al., 2000; González-Ronquillo et al., 2003; Moorby et al., 2006), which suggests that our urine AL estimated MCP flows are biologically sensible.



Figure 6.2: Box-and-whisker plot show the distribution of estimated microbial crude protein (MCP) flowing from the rumen (g/kg) with the shaded box indicating the median, upper quartile (80th percentile) and lower quartile (20th percentile) of measured data points and the whiskers representing the maximum and minimum measured data points.



This MCP data can therefore be used as a guideline of normal MCP values for cows fed contemporary CA dairy rations, for use as a benchmark of high vs. low levels in cases where metabolic models are not used to predict MCP outflow, or to evaluate model predictions of MCP flow to the duodenum. Thus values outside this measured normal range (*i.e.*, the shaded box representing 20th to 80th percentile of all data points) might suggest investigation of reasons for the high or low MCP values.

There is currently no commercial laboratory that does AL analysis in urine, even though it would not be difficult to develop since auto analysers and chromatography methods for PD analyses exist. However our colorimetric urine AL analysis technique is performed on a regular basis at the Animal Nutrition lab at the University of California in Davis, CA.

6.4.1.2. Possible drivers of MCP synthesis

Correlations between MCP flow and the TMR variables are in Table 6.4. There were only statistically significant slopes between estimated MCP flow from the rumen and the ash and aNDFom contents of the ration (P<0.01 and P=0.03 respectively), which are illustrated in Figure 6.3. The negative correlation with the ash concentration in the ration is biologically sensible, even though the extent of the change seems high. A review summarizing results from 41 experiments and 161 different rations (Clark et al., 1992) also showed a strong positive correlation (r^2 =0.62) between OM intake and MCP flow to the small intestine. The positive correlation of MCP outflow with the NDF concentration of the ration confirms the role of structural carbohydrates in MCP flow from the rumen, as higher levels of structural fiber facilitates increased passage of microbes attached to fibrous particles thereby increasing MCP outflow (Van Soest, 1994). The lack of correlation between MCP flow from the rumen and milk production in this dataset (data not shown; r^2 =0.02) is likely due to the narrow range of DIM and milk production of the cows, which was our objective. The NRC (2001) recommends an NDF concentration of 320 g/kg for cows producing 40 kg of milk/day, which is higher than our average of 299 g/kg. Higher levels of NSC in diets can cause rumen acidosis if there is inadequate NDF thereby reducing fiber digestion and MCP synthesis and outflow.



			Р		
	Intercept	Slope	Intercept ¹	Slope ²	r^2
Nutrient levels of the TMR (g/kg)					
Ash	3061	-158.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.46
aNDFom ³	102	53.5	0.88	0.03	0.25
Crude protein	2243	-32.7	0.02	0.56	0.02
Fat	1548	32.9	< 0.01	0.63	0.01
Starch	1601	5.1	< 0.01	0.72	0.01
Gas production of the TMR (g/kg OM)					
4h	3417	-16.8	< 0.01	0.11	0.14
24h	1862	-0.6	0.08	0.88	< 0.01
30h	1949	-0.9	0.08	0.82	< 0.01
48h	1677	0.1	0.12	0.98	< 0.01
Ingredient levels of the TMR^4 (g/kg)					
Corn, grain	1405	16.8	< 0.01	0.06	0.19
Canola, meal ⁵	1909	-26.7	< 0.01	0.09	0.16
Cottonseed, fuzzy upland	1577	22.8	< 0.01	0.13	0.12
Corn, silage	1573	10.1	< 0.01	0.16	0.11
Almond, hulls	1742	-5.0	< 0.01	0.62	0.01
Alfalfa, hay	1737	-2.1	< 0.01	0.81	< 0.01
Corn distillers grains ⁶	1701	0.4	< 0.01	0.98	< 0.01

Table 6.4: Microbial protein flow (g/d) from the rumen as influenced by the nutrient and ingredient profiles of the total mixed rations (TMR; g/kg DM)

¹ Probability that the intercept differs from zero.

² Probability that the slope differs from 1.

³ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

⁴ Only ingredients present in more than 50% of TMR were included in the table, except for whey, molasses and mineral premix which were not included due to low inclusion levels in all TMR.

⁵ Combined solvent and expeller.

⁶ Combined wet and dry.



Figure 6.3: Relationships between the ash and neutral detergent fiber (aNDFom) levels of the TMR on a DM basis to microbial crude protein (MCP) flow (g/kg) from the rumen in the 20 groups of cows.



Stokes et al. (1991) reported that NSC contents higher than 240 g/kg of ration DM enhance MCP flow from the rumen. However the tendency for a negative correlation between MCP flow and the 4 h gas production (P=0.11) suggests that higher levels of NSC, in the 370 to 450 g/kg DM range in our study, did not support increased MCP flow from the rumen, possibly due to the offsetting lower NDF level in the ration. According to NRC (2001), there is very little benefit to increasing ration NSC above 360 g/kg for cows producing 40 kg milk/day, which could explain why our milk production is negatively correlated (Table 6.5; P=0.03) with ration NSC level. This suggests that higher NDF concentration in the ration, enhancing MCP outflow from the rumen, is more important to milk production than MCP synthesis *per se*, unless there is reason to believe that diet energy density is limiting production.

Table 6.5: Milk production (kg/d) as influenced by the nutrient profile of the total mixed ration(g/kg)

			Р		
	Intercept	Slope	Intercept ¹	Slope ²	r^2
Fat	23.92	4.33	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.47
NSC ³	84.34	-0.99	< 0.01	0.03	0.24
aNDFom ⁴	29.66	0.49	0.09	0.38	0.04
Crude protein	28.32	0.97	0.17	0.42	0.04
Organic matter	83.22	-0.45	0.14	0.47	0.03
Starch	44.95	-0.03	< 0.01	0.93	< 0.01

¹ Probability that the intercept differs from zero.

² Probability that the slope differs from 1.

³ Non structural carbohydrates calculated as 100 minus Ash, Fat, CP, NDF (g/kg DM).

⁴ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

Since NSC increased in the rations at the expense of NDF (data not shown; $r^2=0.54$), with starch only consisting of 33 to 73% of total NSC, the diets may have supplied an excess of rapidly available energy that could not efficiently be utilized by the microbes (Clark et al., 1992). This could explain the lack of correlation between estimated MCP flow and starch concentration of the ration (Table 6.5), which corresponds with Cameron et al. (1991). In addition to the NSC levels in the ration being higher than NRC (2001) recommendations, lower than recommended RDP contents (84 vs 128 g/kg DM; Table 6.1) of the rations could have limited maximum MCP synthesis for all our rations, which is supported by the literature review by Santos et al. (1998) who reported that high RUP diets resulted in decreased MCP synthesis. No other significant MCP correlations existed with TMR nutrients (*i.e.*,



P>0.1) and there were no significant correlations between MCP flow from the rumen and individual TMR ingredients (*i.e.*, *P*>0.06).

6.4.2. Determining plasma AA concentrations

Attempts have been made to establish ideal concentrations of EAA in MP. Methods used to predict limiting AA, and therefore AA requirements, of lactating dairy cows are numerous. These include culturing bovine mammary cells in AA mediums to determine effects on milk protein synthesis (Clark et al., 1978; Arriola Apelo et al., 2014), evaluating changes in plasma AA concentrations and its impacts on milk and milk protein production during intravenous (Fisher, 1972) or post-ruminal supplementation of single or combinations of AA (Clark, 1975; 1978; Schwab et al., 1992a; 1992b; Weekes et al., 2006; Haque et al., 2012; 2013). Other methods using dose-response relationships between animal performance and N inputs (NRC 2001), or calculating the extraction efficiency of the mammary gland by determining arteriovenous differences of AA across the mammary gland (Mulrooney et al., 2009; Christen et al., 2010), as well as uptake of AA from the small intestine (and the mammary gland) relative to their output in milk (Piepenbrink et al., 1998) are also used. However, results are variable and inconsistent, with some methods using metabolic models to predict AA supplied from experimental rations, and data is interpreted differently amongst researchers with overall levels highly dependent on base rations, which varied amongst experiments. Indeed, the procedures used to determine AA requirements based on the AA profile of milk is based on the assumption that 90% of required AA is used for milk production, which is the case when cows produce 45 kg of milk/day (Schingoethe, 1996). However, cows used in the studies designed to determine AA requirements never produced more than 33 kg of milk/day, with DM intakes <20 kg/day, and most rations had a relatively low CP concentration as the rations were formulated for experimental purposes to achieve target limitations/excesses of AA, which are dissimilar to contemporary commercial rations. Also, supplementation of rations with ruminally protected AA or AA infusions could create AA imbalances with unexpected repercussions that are not understood. Animal responses to AA supplementation depends on the status and availability of other AA and nutrients in its surroundings (Liu et al., 2015), while the responsiveness of tissues to AA supplementation depends on postruminal



and surrounding nutrients (Swanson et al., 2003), and unexplored endocrine responses to AA supplementations can alter milk protein responses in the face of AA imbalances (Weekes et al., 2006). This supports the suggestion by Swanepoel et al. (2015) that AA are bioactive molecules that should be considered in total, rather than individually, while considering antagonisms and interactions amongst AA (Haque et al., 2013). These factors may explain the inconsistency of the interpretation of data obtained from these studies.

Interpreting plasma AA concentrations from experimental treatments does not relate treatment plasma AA concentrations to contemporary rations formulated under commercial conditions and, since metabolic models inadequately predict degradability of protein in the rumen and passage of CP and AA to the intestine, there is a requirement for practical and simple on-farm methods to measure real time plasma AA concentrations in the cows. Taking a blood sample from the tail vein of dairy cows is easily performed on commercial dairy farms and concentrations of free AA in plasma from the tail vein are representative of intestinally absorbed AA and can be used as an index to determine AA availability to the mammary gland and surrounding tissue (Clark, 1975; Schingoethe, 1996).

6.4.2.1. Ranges of plasma AA concentrations

The LSD analysis determined that a composite of 6 blood samples/group was adequate to represent a specific group of cows. According to Oetzel (2003) a minimum of 8 cows should be sampled for tests with mean outcomes, which applies to most blood samples. However, our results suggest only 6 samples since plasma AA concentrations have relatively low variability. Even with the large variation in ingredients amongst the 20 TMR, the variation in some of the most important plasma AA amongst dairies was small (see the box-and-whisker plots in Figure 6.4). While it is difficult to compare plasma AA analysis between studies due to variations attributed to laboratory technique, results from our study compare well to other studies reporting plasma AA concentrations obtained from the same laboratory (Swanepoel et al., 2014; 2015).





Figure 6.4: Box-and-whisker plots show the distribution of plasma AA concentrations (µg/mL) for EAA (a, b, c) and NEAA (d, e) with the shaded box indicating the median, upper quartile (80th percentile) and lower quartile (20th percentile) of measured data points and the whiskers representing the maximum and minimum measured data points.

These box-and-whisker plots can therefore be used as an index of normal plasma AA values for contemporary dairy rations and as a benchmark of high vs. low levels in cases where metabolic models are not used to formulate to specific AA concentrations, or a confirmation of acceptable ration formulations (*i.e.*, when analyzed plasma AA values fall within the shaded box representing 20th to

104

80th percentile of all data points). In contrast, investigation of possible ration formulation issues may be suggested when analyzed plasma AA values are outside of their boxed range, especially for potentially limiting EAA.

Methods to analyse plasma AA are readily available at many commercial laboratories, thereby presenting an opportunity to obtain "real time" profiles of AA available for milk production, without analyzing the rations fed or estimating AA digestibility and/or duodenal AA flow data.

6.4.2.2. Possible drivers of plasma AA concentrations

6.4.2.2.1. Correlations of plasma AA with MCP flow from the rumen

Even though it is accepted that 40 to 80% of the AA requirements of a lactating cow is supplied through MCP flowing to the small intestine (Sniffen and Robinson, 1987) and that it is a higher quality protein than from most feeds (Schingoethe, 1996), MCP flow from the rumen did not affect plasma AA concentrations. It could be that the contribution of MCP to the total supply of AA is already so large that the variation in MCP among diets led to changes that were too small to detect, and that it is the AA profile of rumen undegradable CP (RUP) that affected plasma profiles. Due to the relatively narrow CP range of the 20 dairy rations (*i.e.*, 165 ± 2.3 g/kg DM), it is likely that feeding one protein takes away from others (Schingoethe, 1996), which was reported by Clark et al. (1992) when the MCP flow to the intestine was not affected by source of protein in the ration, but passage of AA to the intestine were altered, probably due to difference in RUP among dietary protein sources.

However, this lack of change in plasma AA concentrations do not preclude changes in MCP pools and shifts in microbial AA profiles due to changes in TMR ingredient profiles and/or feed additives, as suggested by Clark et al. (1992), since our method of MCP analysis estimates total microbial N, not specific AA flows.

6.4.2.2.2. Correlations of plasma AA with nutrient profiles of the TMR

Even though there were no correlations of plasma AA concentrations with ration CP, OM, aNDFom or fat levels ($r^2 < 0.16$), there were correlations of AA with RUP and starch concentration of the rations (Table 6.6).

The lack of a correlation of plasma AA concentrations with ration CP levels was expected since the protein provided by the ration is fundamentally changed by microorganisms in the rumen, digesting it into MCP, shorter peptide chains and free AA that pass to the lower digestive tract for absorption. While Clark et al. (1992) reported that additional dietary CP increased AA supply to the intestine, it did not affect MCP synthesis. A data review by Patton et al. (2015) also confirmed that, even though plasma concentrations of EAA increased linearly with model predicted duodenal flows (based on the assumption that ration balancing models predict duodenal EAA flows with acceptable accuracy and precision), the nutritional content of the rations did not affect plasma EAA concentrations.

Table 6.6: Correlations of plasma amino acid concentrations (μ g/mL) and the nutrient profile of the rations (g/kg DM) of the 20 dairy sites

	RU	P ¹	Sta	rch
	P Slope ²	r^2	P Slope ²	r^2
Essential amino acids (EAA)	1		*	
Thr	0.01	0.31	0.14	0.12
Trp	0.05	0.19	0.66	0.01
Leu	0.19	0.09	0.18	0.10
Arg	0.23	0.08	0.39	0.04
Lys	0.24	0.08	0.65	0.01
Phe	0.26	0.07	0.16	0.11
Ile	0.27	0.07	0.19	0.10
Val	0.44	0.03	0.10	0.14
His	0.47	0.03	0.04	0.22
Met	0.97	< 0.01	0.38	0.04
Total EAA	0.39	0.04	0.29	0.06
Ratio Lys:Met	0.28	0.06	0.19	0.09
Non-essential amino acids (NEAA)				
Gly	0.03	0.23	0.14	0.12
Ser	0.04	0.21	0.02	0.25
Ala	0.06	0.18	0.05	0.20
Tyr	0.19	0.09	0.86	< 0.01
Gln	0.19	0.09	0.03	0.23
Asp	0.74	0.01	0.87	< 0.01
Glu	0.80	< 0.01	0.48	0.03
Pro	0.87	< 0.01	0.47	0.03
Total NEAA	0.09	0.15	0.02	0.27
Total AA	0.10	0.14	0.56	0.02
Ammonia	0.73	0.01	0.75	< 0.01

¹ Rumen undegradable protein. All CP, aNDFom and Crude fat $r^2 < 0.16$. Organic matter $r^2 < 0.2$ (except for ammonia $r^2 = 0.35$) and so are not listed.

² Probability that the slope differs from 1.

A correlation of some AA with RUP level in the ration supports previous findings that outflow of RDP in these rations played a larger role in plasma AA profiles than dietary CP or MCP flow from the rumen *per se* (Clark et al., 1992). However, Boucher et al. (2007) showed that even though increased RDP concentrations increase MCP flow to the omasum, it does not change the flow of AA to the omasum. That RUP is negatively correlated to Thr, Trp, Ser and Gly ($P \le 0.05$) suggests that the higher RUP fractions in some rations, possibly at the expense of MCP, did not supply adequate amounts of these AA. Very little is known about the importance or functions of Ser, but it has been linked to cellular energy metabolism as well as production on Gly, Trp and Thr, all of which were also negatively correlated ($P \le 0.05$) with RUP levels in the ration. Starch was also correlated with plasma Ser concentrations, together with Gln ($P \le 0.03$), and both AA are linked to cell energy metabolism, while Ala was correlated to both RUP (negatively; P=0.06) and starch (positively; P=0.05). There was also a negative correlation between the starch level in the ration and plasma His concentrations (P < 0.04). Since His residues are important components of salivary, and pancreatic, α -amylase with uncertain roles in amyloclastic activity of the amylase enzyme (Ishikawa, et al., 1992; Tseng et al., 1999), this could explain the utilization of His as starch levels in the rations increased.

As with MCP, no correlation existed between RUP levels and milk production, which may be expected since a 12 year literature review reported that higher RUP levels in the diet does not consistently improve lactational performance, even though it changes plasma AA profiles (Santos et al., 1998). However there was a positive relationship (P<0.01) between milk production and fat concentration of the TMR (Table 6.5) which suggests that energy available to the animal, rather than protein and AA concentrations, were major drivers of milk production. According to a meta-analysis by Rabiee et al. (2012) of TMR fed systems, and a review by Schroeder et al. (2004) of pasture based systems, fat supplementation to the diet of dairy cows always has a positive effect on milk production regardless of the production system or fat saturation profile.

6.4.2.2.3. Correlations of plasma AA with ingredient profiles of the TMR

As expected, there were correlations between some major TMR ingredients and AA concentrations in the plasma, although most were relatively weak (Table 6.7). The only ingredients

which appeared in all 20 rations were alfalfa hay and CM, and the correlations were positive for increasing inclusion levels of these ingredients and all the AA in the plasma, except Gly, Gln, Ser and His in the case of alfalfa hay and Phe, Tyr and Leu in the case of CM. This corresponds with the lower concentrations of these AA in the two ingredients. It was interesting that the same AA that were negatively correlated with higher levels of RUP in the ration, were also negatively correlated to alfalfa hay inclusion levels in the TMR. Contrary to CM's higher correlation with the total non-essential AA (NEAA; $r^2=0.33$), alfalfa hay was more correlated with the total EAA ($r^2=0.24$). All major corn protein sources (*i.e.*, corn grain, corn silage, corn distillers grains) had a negative relationship with plasma Lys ($r^2=0.22$, 0.30 and 0.25 respectively) when included at higher levels in the TMR.

Table 6.7: Correlations of plasma amino acid	concentrations ((µg/mL) and	d the ingredie	ent profile
of the rations (g/kg TMR DM) of the 20 dairy	sites ¹			

	Canola meal ²	Alfalfa, hay	Corn, grain	Corn, silage	Corn distillers grains ³
Essential amino acids (EAA)					
Lys	0.14	0.23	0.22	0.30	0.25
Met	0.12	< 0.01	0.01	0.05	0.01
His	< 0.01	0.02	0.11	0.02	0.04
Phe	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.09
Leu	0.01	0.02	0.04	0.06	0.28
Val	0.01	0.34	0.25	0.30	0.05
Ile	0.01	0.36	0.21	0.31	0.07
Arg	0.04	0.21	0.19	0.28	0.24
Thr	0.30	0.01	< 0.01	0.02	0.19
Trp	0.08	0.28	< 0.01	0.02	0.38
Total EAA	0.04	0.24	0.18	0.26	0.04
Ratio Lys:Met	< 0.01	0.20	0.31	0.14	0.30
Non-essential amino acids (NEAA)					
Tyr	0.01	< 0.01	0.01	0.02	0.29
Gln	0.27	0.11	0.01	< 0.01	0.02
Glu	< 0.01	0.08	0.09	< 0.01	< 0.01
Ala	0.20	0.02	0.05	< 0.01	0.11
Ser	0.28	0.03	0.05	0.04	0.10
Gly	0.29	0.16	0.04	< 0.01	0.12
Asp	0.01	0.31	0.06	0.02	0.01
Pro	0.03	0.13	0.02	0.08	< 0.01
Total NEAA	0.33	0.03	0.06	< 0.01	0.04
Total AA	0.23	0.05	0.02	0.14	0.07
Ammonia	0.07	0.15	0.05	0.04	< 0.01

¹ Values reported are r².

² Combined solvent and expeller.

³ Combined wet and dry.

A strategic review suggested that Lys becomes the limiting AA when high levels of corn CP are fed (Robinson, 2010), which is consistent with the negative correlation between the proportion of TMR CP (g/kg) from corn CP and plasma Lys concentrations ($r^2=0.51$) in the current study (Figure 6.5a). In addition, high corn CP inclusion levels also had a strong negative correlation ($r^2=0.56$) with plasma Arg concentrations.

Figure 6.5: Relationship between the contribution of corn crude protein (CP) to total TMR CP (g/kg CP) and plasma AA concentrations (µg/ml) and milk production (kg/d) in the 20 groups of sampled cows.

6.4.2.2.4. Correlations of plasma AA with milk production

There were no correlations between any plasma AA and milk production. Even Lys, Met and the Lys:Met ratio had a poor relationship (*i.e.*, P>0.60) with milk production (Figure 6.6a & 6.6b).

However, contrary to expectation, even with corn CP contributions as high as 470 g/kg of total TMR CP, it had a slight positive correlation ($r^2=0.13$) with milk production (Figure 6.5b), which was mirrored by estimated MCP flow from the rumen ($r^2=0.05$).

Figure 6.6: Relationship between methionine (Met), lysine (Lys) and their ratio to milk production (kg/d) in the 20 groups of sampled cows.

This concurs with the suggestion that ration formulations by dairy consultants include other complementary CP sources that offset imbalances in AA profiles, and that the lack of a negative impact from low Lys plasma concentrations could be due to an increased contribution from MCP (which is higher in Lys than any dietary protein source) to total protein absorbed by the cows.

6.4.2.2.5. Inter-correlations of plasma AA

The correlations amongst many plasma AA concentrations (Figure 6.7) resembles the network of interactions which have been documented among nutritionally important minerals (Jurgens et al.,

2012). The AA involved in interactions with other AA included the branched-chain AA Ile, Val and Leu, as well as Met and Phe.

Figure 6.7: Inter-relationships amongst plasma AA concentrations in the 20 groups of sampled cows. Dotted lines represent correlations of $r^2=0.20-0.49$, solid lines for correlations of $r^2>0.50$.

Two AA that should be considered in combination are Phe and Tyr since the conversion of Phe to Tyr in the liver is regarded an obligatory step when Phe is catabolized and, since Phe is the primary source of Tyr this makes Tyr a conditionally EAA (Matthews, 2007). Indeed this was confirmed since Phe and Tyr were positively correlated (r^2 =0.48; Figure 6.8a), although adding the two AA did not improve their correlation to milk production over that of Phe alone (Figure 6.8b), suggesting that plasma AA concentrations are not predictors of milk production *per se*.

6.5. Conclusions

The average estimated MCP flow from the rumen (*i.e.*, 1703 g CP/day) was slightly lower than reported previously and MCP flow was likely limited by generally lower than optimal NDF (for MCP outflow) and RDP levels in the rations, together with a generally too high supply of rapidly fermentable carbohydrates. The positive correlation of plasma AA with the RUP levels in the ration, and the lack of correlation with estimated MCP flow, suggests that the former played a larger role in plasma AA profiles than MCP, which could support the lack of maximum MCP synthesis.

Figure 6.8: Relationship between Phenylalanine (Phe) and Tyrosine (Tyr) and to milk production (kg/d) in the 20 groups of sampled cows.

The lack of correlation between milk production and either MCP, plasma AA or RUP levels, but with a positive correlation with ration fat concentration, suggests that energy available to the cow, rather than protein, was driving milk production.

This study documents normal ranges of urine estimated MCP flowing from the rumen, and plasma AA concentrations, in early lactation multiparity Holstein cows in California fed a wide range of contemporary ration strategies with multiple ingredient profile combinations. The farms selected to create this database were well managed with animal groups representing a narrow range of production and DIM. This database can therefore be used as a benchmark to compare high, low and normal levels for these parameters as a real time guideline for normal MCP and AA values when models are not

used in feed formulation. The data can also be used as confirmation of acceptable ration formulations, or as a suggestion to investigate possible formulation issues, and pinpoint possible rumen microbial growth and/or absorbable AA problems in commercial groups of dairy cows. It also provides a database to interpret experimental study treatment levels of MCP and plasma AA, and to aid in determining the biological sensibility of these values under such conditions.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank all the dairies and nutritional consultants that participated for their interest,

assistance and patience during the completion of the study.

References

- AOAC 2005. Official methods of analysis of AOAC International, 18th ed. Association of official Analytical Chemists International, Gaithersburg, MD, USA.
- AOAC 2006. Official methods of analysis of AOAC International, 18th ed., AOAC International, Arlington, VA, USA.
- Arriola Apelo, S.I., Singer, L.M., Ray, W.K., Helm, R.F., Lin, X.Y., McGilliard, M.L., St-Pierre, N.R., Hanigan, M.D. 2014. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 2998-3005.
- Bateman, H.G., Clark, J.H., Patton, R.A., Peel, C.J., Schwab, C.G. 2001a. Accuracy and precision of computer models to predict passage of crude protein and amino acids to the duodenum of lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 649-664.
- Bateman, H.G., Clark, J.H., Patton, R.A., Peel, C.J., Schwab, C.G. 2001b. Prediction of crude protein and amino acid passage to the duodenum of lactating cows by models compared with in vivo data. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 665-679.
- Boucher, S.E., Ordway, R.S., Whitehouse, N.L., Lundy, F.P., Kononoff, P.J., Schwab, C.G. 2007. Effect of incremental urea supplementation of a conventional corn silage-based diet on ruminal ammonia concentration and synthesis of microbial protein. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 5619–5633.
- Burgos, S.A., Robinson, P.H., Fadel, J.G., DePeters, E.J. 2005. Ammonia volatilization potential: Prediction of urinary urea nitrogen output in lactating dairy cows. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 111, 261-269.
- Cameron, M.R., Klusmeyer, T.H., Lynch, G.L., Clark, J.H. 1991. Effects of urea and starch on rumen fermentation, nutrient passage to the duodenum, and performance of cows. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 1321-1336.
- Chen, X.B., Gomes, M.J. 1992 (Edited and reprinted 1995). Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives - An overview of the technical details. Int. Feed Res. Unit, Occasional Publ. Rowett Research Institute, Aberdeen, UK. http://www.macaulay.ac.uk/IFRU/pdf/chema.pdf (accessed 11 Sept 2014).
- Chen, X.B., Ørskov, E. R. 2004. Research on urinary excretion of purine derivatives in ruminants: Past, Present and future. In: Estimation of microbial supply in ruminants using urinary purine derivatives. Kluwer Academic publishers. Makkar, H.P.S., Harinder, P.S., Chen, X.B. (Eds.). p. 180-210.

- Chizzotti, M.L., Valadares Filho, S.C., Valadares, R.F.D., Chizzotti, F.H.M., Tedeschi, L.O., 2008. Determination of creatinine excretion and evaluation of spot urine sampling in Holstein cattle. Livest. Sci. 113, 218–225.
- Christen, K.A., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R., Karges, K.K., Gibson, M.L. 2010. Response of lactating dairy cows to high protein distillers grains or 3 other protein supplements. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 2095-2104.
- Clark, J.H. 1975. Lactational responses to postruminal administration of proteins and amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 58, 1178-1197.
- Clark, J.H., Klusmeyer, T.H., Cameron, M.R. 1992. Microbial protein synthesis and flows of nitrogen fractions to the duodenum of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 2304-2323.
- Clark, R.M., Chandler, P.T., Park, C.S. 1978. Limiting amino acids for milk protein synthesis by bovine mammary cells in culture. J. Dairy Sci. 61, 408-413.
- Cone, J.W., van Gelder, A.H., Driehuis, F. 1997. Description of gas production profiles with a three-phasic model. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 66, 31-45.
- Dewhurst, R.J., Mitton, A.M., Offer, N.W., Thomas, C. 1996. Effects of the composition of grass silage on milk production and nitrogen utilization by dairy cows. Anim. Sci. 62, 25-34.
- Doepel, L., Pacheco, D., Kennelly, J.J., Hanigan, M.D., Lopez, I.F., Lapierre, H. 2004. Milk protein synthesis as a function of amino acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 87, 1279-1297.
- Ferguson, J.D., Galligan, D.T., Thomsen, N. 1994. Principal descriptors of body condition score in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2695-2703.
- Fisher, L.J. 1972. Response of lactating cows to the intravenous infusion of amino acids. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 52, 377-384.
- Gonzalez-Ronquillo, M., Balcells, J., Guada, J.A., Vicente, F. 2003. Purine derivative excretion in dairy cows: Endogenous excretion and the effect of exogenous nucleic acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 1282-1291.
- Hanigan, M.D., Crompton, L.A., Metcalf, J.A., France, J. 2001. Modelling mammary metabolism in the dairy cow to predict milk constituent yield, with emphasis on amino acid metabolism and milk protein production: Model construction. J. Theor. Biol. 213, 223-239.
- Haque, M.N., Rulquin, H., Andrade, A., Faverdin, P., Peyraud, J.L., Lemosquet, S. 2012. Milk protein synthesis in response to the provision of an "ideal" amino acid profile at 2 levels of metabolizable protein supplies in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95, 5876-5887.
- Haque, M.N., Rulquin, H., Lemosquet, S. 2013. Milk protein responses in dairy cows to changes in postruminal supplies of arginine, isoleucine, and valine. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 420-430.
- Holter, J.B., Urban, W.E. 1992. Water partitioning and intake prediction in dry and lactating Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 1472-1479.
- Ishikawa, K., Matsui, I., Honda, K., Nakatani, H. 1992. Multi-functional roles of a histidine residue in human pancreatic alpha-amylase. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 183, 286-291.
- Jurgens, M., Bregendahl, K., Coverdale, J., Hansen, S. 2012. Nutrients and digestive systems. Review of nutrients and digestion. In: Animal feeding and nutrition. 11th Rev. Ed., Kendall Hunt publishing company, Dubuque, IA, USA. P. 51-52.
- Khorasani, G.R., Robinson, P.H. and Kennelly, J.J. 1993. Effects of canola meal treated with acetic acid on rumen degradation and intestinal digestibility in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 76: 1607-1616.
- Khorasani, G.R., Robinson, P.H. and Kennelly, J.J. 1994. Evaluation of solvent and expeller linseed meals as protein sources for dairy cattle. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 74: 479-485.
- Krishnamoorthy, U., Muscato, T.V., Sniffen, C.J., Van Soest, P.J. 1982. Nitrogen fractions in selected feedstuffs. J. Dairy Sci. 65, 217-225. research project topics and materials

- Krishnamoorthy, U., Sniffen, C.J., Stern, M.D., Van Soest, P.J. 1983. Evaluation of a mathematical model of rumen digestion and an in vitro simulation of rumen proteolysis to estimate the rumenundegraded nitrogen concentration of feedstuffs. Br. J. Nutr. 50, 555-568.
- Liu, K., Liu, Y., Liu, S.M., Xu, M., Yu, Z.P., Wang, X., Cao, Y.C., Yao, J.H. 2015. Relationships between leucine and the pancreatic exocrine function for improving starch digestibility in ruminants. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 2576-2582.
- Matthews, D.E. 2007. An overview of phenylalanine and tyrosine kinetics in humans. J. Nutr. 137 (6 Suppl 1), 1549-1575.
- Menke, K.H., Steingass, H. 1988. Estimation of the Energetic Feed Value Obtained from Chemical Analysis and In Vitro Gas Production Using Rumen Fluid. Anim. Res. Dev. 28, 7-55.
- Moorby, J.M., Dewhurst, R.J., Evans, R.T., Danelon, J.L. 2006. Effects of dairy cow diet forage proportion on duodenal nutrient supply and urinary purine derivative excretion. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 3552-3562.
- Mulrooney, C.N., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R. 2009. Canola meal replacing distillers grains with solubles for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 5669-5676.
- National Research Council. 2001. Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle. 7th Rev. Ed., National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- NFTA 2006. Moisture Task Force Report, 2.2.2.5 Laboratory Dry Matter by Oven Drying for 3 hours at 105°C, pp. 1-3. http://www.foragetesting.org/files/NFTAReferenceMethodDM-09-18-06.pdf (accessed 11 Sept 2014).
- Oetzel, G.R. 2003. Herd-based biological testing for metabolic disorders. Advances in Dairy Technology 15:275-285 (Proceedings of the 2003 Western Canadian Dairy Seminar) and Proceedings, Dairy Herd Problems Investigation Seminar, 36th Annual Meeting of the American Association of Bovine Practitioners, Columbus, OH.
- Patton, R.A., Hristov, A.N., Parys, C., Lapierre, H. 2015. Relationships between circulating plasma concentrations and duodenal flows of essential amino acids in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 4707–4734.
- Piepenbrink, M.S., Schingoethe, D.J., Brouk, M.J., Stegeman, G.A. 1998. Systems to evaluate the protein quality of diets fed to lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 1046-1061.
- Rabiee, A.R., Breinhild, K., Scott, W., Golder, H.M., Block, E., Lean, I.J. 2012. Effect of fat additions to diets of dairy cattle on milk production and components: A meta-analysis and meta-regression. J. Dairy Sci. 95, 3225-3247.
- Rauch, R.E., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2012. Effects of sodium bicarbonate and calcium magnesium carbonate supplementation on performance of high producing dairy cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 177, 180-193.
- Reynal, S.M., Broderick, G.A. 2005. Effect of dietary level of rumen-degraded protein on production and nitrogen metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 88, 4045-4064.
- Robinson, P.H. 2010. Impacts of manipulating ration metabolizable lysine and Met levels on the performance of lactating dairy cows: A systematic review of the literature. Livest. Sci. 127, 115-126.
- Robinson, P.H. Campbell Mathews, M., Fadel, J.G. 1999. Influence of storage time and temperature on in vitro digestion of neutral detergent fibre at 48 h, and comparison to 48 h in sacco neutral detergent fibre digestion. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 80, 257-266.
- Robinson, P.H., Fadel, J.G., Ivan, M. 1996a. Critical evaluation of diaminopimelic acid and ribonucleic acid as markers to estimate rumen pools and duodenal flows of bacterial and protozoal nitrogen. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 76, 587-597.

- Robinson, P.H., Givens, D.I., Getachew, G. 2004. Evaluation of NRC, UC Davis and ADAS approaches to estimate the metabolizable energy values of feeds at maintenance energy intake from equations utilizing chemical assays and in vitro determinations. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 114, 75-90.
- Robinson, P.H., Khorasani, G.R. and Kennelly, J.J. 1996b. Evaluation of linseed meal for dairy cows: Interaction with grain source on forestomach and whole-tract digestion. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 76: 209-214.
- Robinson, P.H., Khorasani, G.R., Kennelly, J.J. 1994. Forestomach and whole tract digestion in lactating dairy cows fed increasing levels of canola meal treated with acetic acid. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 552-559.
- Robinson, P.H., Meyer, D. 2010. Total mixed ration (TMR) sampling protocol. ANR Publication 8413, ANR Publications, University of California, Berkeley, CA, USA.
- Robinson, P.H., Sniffen, C.J., and Van Soest, P.J. 1985. Influence of feed intake on digestion and microbial yield in the forestomachs of dairy cattle. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 65: 437-444.
- Robinson, P.H., Swanepoel, N., Shinzato, I, Juchem, S.O. 2011. Productive responses of lactating dairy cattle to supplementing high levels of ruminally protected lysine using a rumen protected technology. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 168, 30-41.
- Robinson, P.H., Veira, D.M., Ivan, M. 1998. Influence of supplemental protein quality on rumen fermentation, rumen microbial yield, forestomach digestion, and intestinal amino acid flow in late lactation Holstein cows. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 78, 95-105.
- Rulquin, H., Verite, R. 1993. Amino acid nutrition of dairy cows: Productive effects and animal requirements. In: Recent Advances in Animal Production. Proc. Of 27th University of Nottingham Feed Manufacturer's Conference. pp 55-77.
- Schingoethe, D.J. 1996. Balancing the amino acid needs of the dairy cow. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 60, 153-160.
- Schroeder, G.F., Gagliostro, G.A., Bargo, F., Delahoy, J.E., Muller, L.D. 2004. Effects of fat supplementation on milk production and composition by dairy cows on pasture: a review. Livestock Sci. 86, 1-18.
- Schwab, C.G., Bozak, C.K., Whitehouse, N.L., Mesbah, M.M.A. 1992a. Amino acid limitation and flow to duodenum at four stages of lactation. 1. Sequence of lysine and methionine limitation. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 3486-3502.
- Schwab, C.G., Bozak, C.K., Whitehouse, N.L., Olson, V.M. 1992b. Amino acid limitation and flow to duodenum at four stages of lactation. 2. Extent of lysine limitation. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 3503-3518.
- Smith, D. 1969. Removing and Analyzing Total Non-structural Carbohydrates from Plant Tissue. Wisconsin Agric. Exp. Sta. Res. Report 41.
- Sniffen, C.J., Robinson, P.H. 1987. Symposium: Protein and fiber digestion, passage, and utilization in lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 70, 425-441.
- Stensig, T., Robinson, P.H. 1997. Digestion and passage kinetics of forage fiber in dairy cows as affected by fiber-free concentrate in the diet. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1339-1352.
- Stokes, S.R., Hoover, W.H., Miller, T.K., Blauweikel, R. 1991. Ruminal digestion and microbial utilization of diets varying in type of carbohydrate and protein. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 871-881.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2010a. Amino acid needs of lactating dairy cows: Impact of feeding lysine in a ruminally protected form on productivity of lactating dairy cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 157, 79-94.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2010b. Amino acid needs of lactating dairy cows: Predicting limiting amino acids in contemporary rations fed to high producing dairy cattle in California using metabolic models. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 161, 103-120.

- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2014. Determining the optimal ratio of canola meal and high protein dried distillers grain protein in diets of high producing Holstein dairy cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 189, 41-53.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2015. Effects of ruminally protected methionine and/or phenylalanine on performance of high producing Holstein cows fed rations with very high levels of canola meal. Anim. Feed Sci. Tech. 205, 10-22.
- Swanson, K.C., Matthews, J.C., Woods, C.A., Harmon, D.L. 2003. Influence of substrate and/or neurohormonal mimic on in vitro pancreatic enzyme release from calves postruminally infused with partially hydrolysed starch and/or casein. J. Anim. Sci. 81, 1323-1331.
- Timmermans Jr., S.J., Johnson, L.M., Harrison, J.H., Davidson, D. 2000. Estimation of the flow of microbial nitrogen to the duodenum using milk uric acid and allantoin. J. Dairy Sci. 83, 1286-1299.
- Tseng, C-C., Miyamoto, M., Ramalingam, K., Hemavathy, K.C., Levine, M.J., Ramasubbu, N. 1999. The roles of histidine residues at the starch-binding site in streptococcal-binding activities of human salivary amylase. Arch. Oral Biol. 44, 119-127.
- Vagnoni, D.B., Broderick, G.A. 1997. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1703-1712.
- Valadares, R.F.D., Broderick, G.A., Valadares Filho, S.C., Clayton, M.K. 1999. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 2686-2696.
- Van Soest, P.J. 1994. Nutritional ecology of the ruminant. 2nd Rev. Ed., Cornell University press, Ithica, NY, USA.
- Weeks, T.L., Luimes, P.H., Cant, J.P. 2006. Responses to amino acid imbalances and deficiencies in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 2177-2187.

Chapter 7. Experiment 4: Impacts of increased levels of ruminally protected phenylalanine, supplemented to rations containing high levels of canola meal, on performance of high producing Holstein

cows

Abstract

Even though studies supplementing Phe to dairy cattle are rare, it has been identified as being limiting in corn silage based rations, after Lys and Met, as well as being important to the mammary gland for overall milk production. Since canola meal (CM) is low in Phe, plasma Phe concentrations decrease as more CM is included in dairy rations. A previous study feeding 7.5 g of intestinally absorbable Phe/cow/day suggested it was not enough to support increased milk production since supplemented Phe was primarily used to support increased body condition score (BCS; Swanepoel et al., 2015). Our objective was to determine if supplementing 15 g of intestinally absorbable Phe/cow/day in a ruminally protected (RP) form (HCMP) to a ration containing 170 g CM/kg (HCM) would support increased milk production after fulfilling its apparent 1st priority of restoring previously mobilized peptides to muscle protein, thereby regaining animal performance expected to be lost with higher CM inclusion levels (*i.e.*, 130 g/kg (LCM) to 165 g/kg (HCM)) based upon (Swanepoel et al., 2015). The experimental design was a 3 x 3 Latin square using 3 pens of \sim 315 early lactation cows/pen with three 21 day periods. Dry matter (DM) intake was not affected (avg.: 27.5 ± 0.5 kg/day) by feeding RP Phe and there was no impact of treatment on milk and component yields, except a reduced lactose concentration (P=0.02) with Phe addition. Even though plasma Phe concentrations only differed numerically between treatments, Phe supplementation resulted in energy being diverted towards BCS gain as in Swanepoel et al. (2015), but this time not at the expense of milk components, suggesting that the higher Phe supplementation level was successful in supplying enough Phe to replace mobilized muscle protein while maintaining milk production. The lack in change of plasma Phe concentrations could be due to extensive catabolization by the liver or hepatic conversion of Phe into Tyr, which is supported by a small increase in plasma Tyr concentrations. Interestingly, addition of Phe to the HCM ration resulted in an increase in whole tract aNDFom and ADF digestibility. Phenylalanine released into the rumen when the RP Phe product was fed could have stimulated fibrolytic bacteria through a direct impact on microbes of free Phe, which has previously been shown to enhance growth and/or capabilities of cellulolytic bacteria. Total NE output decreased with the HCM treatment, but was corrected to the level of the LCM ration for the HCMP treatment suggesting that an even higher level of Phe supplementation may have additional benefits on milk production. Keywords: Plasma amino acids; Phenylalanine supplementation; Body condition change; Fiber digestibility.

Abbreviations: AA, amino acid; ADF, acid detergent fiber; ADIN, acid detergent insoluble N; AL, allantoin; aNDFom, amylase-treated NDF free of residual ash; BCS, body condition score; BCAA, branched-chain AA; CM, canola meal; CP, crude protein; DC305, DairyComp 305 management system; DDG, dried distillers grains; DHIA, Dairy Herd Improvement Association; DM, dry matter; EAA, essential AA; MCP, microbial CP; MP, metabolizable protein; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; NEAA, non-essential AA; NE_L, net energy for lactation; OM, organic matter; PUN, plasma urea N; RP, rumen protected; SCC, somatic cell count; SG, specific gravity; TMR, total mixed ration. List of

AA: Aspartic acid (Asp), Threonine (Thr), Serine (Ser), Glutamic acid (Glu), glycine (Gly), Alanine (Ala), Valine (Val), Methionine (Met), Isoleucine (Ile), Leucine (Leu), Tyrosine (Tyr), Phenylalanine (Phe), Tryptophan (Trp), Histidine (His), Arginine (Arg), Proline (Pro).

7.1. Introduction

Even though studies supplementing Phe to dairy cattle are rare, it has been identified as potentially limiting in corn silage based rations (Piepenbrink et al., 1998; Mulrooney et al., 2009; Christen et al., 2010), after Lys and Met. However as these limitations are determined using extraction efficiencies across the mammary gland, and since Lys is taken up by the mammary gland regardless of its requirement, it may always appear to be first limiting (Nichols et al., 1998) regardless of the ration fed. This suggests that amino acids (AA) identified as potentially limiting after Lys, such as Met, Phe and Leu, could be more probable limiting AA. As summarized by Schwab et al. (1975), several studies have suggested Phe to be the limiting AA together with Lys (Vik-Mo et al., 1974) or Thr, His and Met (Derrig et al., 1974) when casein and/or glucose were abomasally infused.

An AA supplementation study reported that the mammary gland has a specific requirement for Phe and Tyr which increases as milk protein production increases (Guinard and Rulquin, 1994), and that supplemented Phe was extracted by the mammary gland in amounts equal to its secretion in milk protein. This indicates that Phe is not extracted in excess and is almost exclusively utilized to support milk production. Indeed, Iroshan et al. (2013) showed that milk protein yield decreased when Phe was absent from AA infusions thereby indicating that limited Phe negatively affected milk and milk protein secretion, and confirming the importance of Phe in milk production.

Since CM is low in Phe compared to other protein supplements, the plasma concentration of Phe decreases as CM inclusion in the ration increases (Swanepoel et al., 2014). A survey study looking at comparisons between milk production, TMR ingredient profiles and plasma AA concentrations within 20 California (CA) dairy farms confirmed that plasma Phe concentrations are negatively correlated to the inclusion level of CM in the ration and that milk yield was negatively correlated with all plasma AA concentrations except Phe (Swanepoel et al., *in review*), supporting the hypothesis that Phe is important relative to milk production. Other studies feeding CM have shown a similar decline in plasma Phe compared to other protein sources (Christen et al., 2010) or a decrease in Phe proportions

in metabolizable protein (MP) with higher ration CM inclusions (Martineau et al., 2014), even though there were no changes in plasma Phe concentrations with different inclusion levels of CM (Mulrooney et al., 2009).

The declining plasma concentrations of Met and Phe with increasing CM inclusion levels (Swanepoel et al., 2014) led us to a study to determine if Met and/or Phe was limiting performance of cows when fed high levels of CM (Swanepoel et al., 2015). As results suggested that Met was likely oversupplied at 8 g of intestinally absorbable Met/cow/day, and 7.5 g of intestinally absorbable Phe/cow/day was insufficient to support increased milk production, it appeared that the supplemented Phe was directed towards body condition score (BCS) gain as a 1st priority.

This study was designed to determine if supplementing higher levels of ruminally protected (RP) Phe than in Swanepoel et al., (2015) would be beneficial to performance of early lactation dairy cows by supplying enough Phe to support increased milk production, after fulfilling its apparent 1st priority of restoring previously mobilized peptides to muscle protein.

7.2. Materials and methods

The experimental design was a 3 x 3 Latin square using 3 pens of ~315 early lactation cows/pen with three 21 day experimental periods. The study took place during winter from 22 Jan to 11 March 2014 with temperatures between 2.5 and 26.5°C and humidity between 31 and 100%. All cows were cared for relative to applicable laws of the state of California and the USA, and were consistent with requirements for "The care and use of animals for scientific purposes", as per the South African National Standard (SANS 10386-2008).

7.2.1. Farm and management

The commercial dairy selected (near Hanford, CA, USA) was the same one used in Swanepoel et al. (2015). Cows were randomly allocated to one of four early lactation pens from a single fresh pen on a weekly basis and, once confirmed pregnant, were moved from these pens to mid lactation pens. Only three of the four early lactation pens were used. At the start of period 1, treatments were randomly allocated to the three pens and rotated after each 21 day experimental period.

7.2.2. Diets

Mixing of the TMR and all other farm practices were as outlined in Swanepoel et al. (2014). Since the optimum level of CM inclusion in the TMR was established to be in the range of 120 - 135 g/kg (Swanepoel et al., 2014) a Low CM treatment (LCM), with CM included at ~130 g/kg dry matter (DM), was the positive control to establish the degree to which performance is negatively impacted when CM inclusion level is increased (Table 7.1). The other two treatments consisted of the same base TMR based on alfalfa hay, whole crop winter wheat and corn silages, and corn grain, with a premix containing most dry ingredients (*i.e.*, almond hulls, fuzzy and cracked pima cottonseed, wheat straw, liquid molasses, mineral premix, CM), with a higher CM inclusion targeted at 170 g/kg of total ration DM (*i.e.*, High CM rations; HCM).

Table 7.1: Chemical analysis of ingredients used in the total mixed rations (g/kg dry matter) fed to the treatment groups¹

Dry matter	Organic matter	Crude protein	ADF ²	aNDFom ³	aNDF ⁴	Lignin(sa) ⁵
902	902	198	276	348	364	66.5
902	897	192	307	364	379	63.0
967	935	47.5	202	260	268	71.0
903	922	407	191	275	287	80.0
148	946	79.7	183	200	204	11.5
295	929	73.8	286	473	490	25.0
892	942	306	104	330	331	15.0
906	953	236	288	387	406	116
857	987	74.4	24.0	85.0	85.0	<1.0
361	884	89.4	340	452	491	41.0
929	871	33.1	461	689	719	48.0
	Dry matter 902 907 903 148 295 892 906 857 361 929	Dry matterOrganic matter902902902897907935903922148946295929892942906953857987361884929871	Dry matterOrganic matterCrude protein90290219890289719290793547.590392240714894679.729592973.889294230690695323685798774.436188489.492987133.1	Dry matterOrganic matterCrude proteinADF290290219827690289719230796793547.520290392240719114894679.718329592973.828689294230610490695323628885798774.424.036188489.4340	Dry matterOrganic porteinCrude porteinADF2aNDFom390290219827634890289719230736490793547.520226090392240719127514894679.718320029592973.828647389294230610433090695323628838785798774.424.085.036188489.434045292987133.1461689	Dry matterOrganic proteinCrude proteinADF2aNDFom3aNDF490290219827634836490289719230736437996793547.520226026890392240719127528714894679.718320020429592973.828647349089294230610433033190695323628838740685798774.424.085.085.036188489.434045249192987133.1461689719

n = 3. One sample/period, all combined for a single analysis.

² Acid detergent fiber, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

³ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

⁴ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

⁵ Lignin treated with sulphuric acid, ash free.

Cows were fed *ad libitum* to achieve ~ 10 g/kg refusals on an as fed basis, with each pen receiving a total of ~16,000 kg of as-mixed TMR/day in 2 feedings. During the 1^{st} feeding of the day, between 04:30 and 07:30 h, cows were fed one full ~11,000 kg load of TMR, which contained the ruminally

protected (RP) AA, to a clean bunk as bunks were cleared of all residual feed while the cows were at morning milking. Between 11:00 and 12:30 h a second ~5,000 kg load of TMR was fed. The "TMR Tracker" system (Digi-Star LLC, Fort Atkinson, WI, USA) kept a record of the actual ingredient profiles of each load of TMR mixed as well as weights for each load of TMR mixed and fed, which were used together with daily refusals to calculate DM intake/cow/pen.

7.2.3. The rumen protected AA products

The RP Met product (Smartamine M; Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA, USA) contains 750 g/kg D, L-Methionine with a 250 g/kg fat encapsulation (stearic acid) and a pH sensitive intestinal release. The RP Phe product was manufactured by QualiTech Inc. (Chaska, MN, USA) containing 600 g/kg Phe combined with 400 g/kg fat as a matrix. The products used, as well as methods of evaluation, were fully described in Swanepoel et al. (2015).

Treatments were created by adding RP Met alone (HCM) or in combination with RP Phe (HCMP) to the High CM ration by mixing 41.2 g/cow/day of RP Phe (estimated to deliver 15 g of intestinally absorbable Phe/cow/day) and 3.4 g/cow/day of RP Met (estimated to deliver 2.0 g of intestinally absorbable Met/cow/day) into the base TMR by adding a pre-weighed bag of the RP product(s) to the dry ingredient premix prior to its addition to the TMR mixer.

Since Swanepoel et al. (2015) reported that Phe supplementation alone had no effect on animal performance and that Phe only became limiting in the combination treatment after requirements for Met were met, Met was added as part of the treatment ration to both the HCM treatments in this study in order to avoid a possible Met limitation from inhibiting the animal response to Phe supplementation. However, since it was concluded that delivery of 8.0 g of intestinally absorbable Met/cow/day in Swanepoel et al. (2015) likely oversupplied Met, thereby leading to a reduction in milk and lactose yields, Met supplementation was reduced in this study to deliver only 2 g of absorbable Met to the intestine, a level corresponding to the calculated Met delivery by the optimum CM ration fed in Swanepoel et al. (2014).

7.2.4.1. Total mixed rations and ingredients

The TMR and feed ingredients were sampled twice during the last 7 days (*i.e.*, the sampling week) of each of the 3 experimental periods as described by Swanepoel et al. (2015), resulting in 18 TMR samples for chemical analysis while ingredient samples from all three periods were pooled (*n*=3 samples/ingredient). All TMR samples, silages and other wet ingredients were weighed, dried at 55°C for 48 h and air equilibrated for 24 h before being sent for chemical analysis to the UC Davis service laboratory. All samples were ground to pass a 1 mm screen on a model 4 Wiley Mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ, USA) and analysed for DM, ash, N, acid detergent insoluble N (ADIN), neutral detergent fiber (aNDFom), acid detergent fiber (ADF), lignin treated with sulphuric acid (lignin(sa)), starch and fat as described by Swanepoel et al. (2015). Soluble carbohydrates (*i.e.*, free sugars) were determined by high-performance liquid chromatography as described by Johansen et al. (1996). Minerals were determined using the methods of Tracy and Moeller (1990), Meyer and Keliher (1992) and Jones (2001).

7.2.4.2. Animal measurements

For a cow to be eligible for sampling in any sampling week in each of the periods, and therefore inclusion in statistical analysis, they had to have been in their originally assigned pen for the entire 9 week study. Daily data backups of the electronic herd record system DairyComp 305 (DC305; Valley Agricultural Software, Tulare, CA, USA) were made to crosscheck cow movements. Cow sampling was performed on specified days during normal morning lockup (*i.e.*, ~50 min/pen/day for normal health and reproductive checks immediately after the morning milking).

7.2.4.2.1. Milk production and composition

Milk yields were recorded for each cow on day 21 of each experimental period by Dairy Herd improvement association (DHIA) personnel. Milk samples were collected by drawing a small representative sub-sample from the sample collection flask (after a short period of mixing) and preserving it with a 2-Bromo-nitropropane-1, 3-diol for subsequent analytical testing. Fat, true

protein, lactose and somatic cell count (SCC) were determined with the Bentley Combi using optical infrared analysis at the DHIA laboratory in Hanford (CA, USA).

7.2.4.2.2. Body condition score

A group of ~170 cows/pen were scored for BCS throughout the study. This was completed by the same trained scorer on the first day of the study and on day 21 of each experimental period. The 5 point BCS system of Ferguson et al. (1994) was used and adapted as described in Swanepoel et al. (2014) to include intermediate points between the ¹/₄ point scores when cows could not be clearly scored to a ¹/₄ point.

7.2.4.2.3. Urine

Spot urine samples were collected on day 20 of each experimental period from the first ~40 cows which voluntarily urinated during normal morning lockup and immediately placed in ice. The specific gravity (SG) of each untreated urine sample was measured on site using a digital handheld pen refractometer (Atago USA Inc., Bellevue, WA, USA). Only cows with repeated urine samples (*i.e.*, collected in 2 or 3 periods) were retained for allantoin (AL) analysis and samples were treated and analyzed as described by Swanepoel et al. (2014). Sulfuric acid, 1.4 ml of 100 ml/L, was required to reduce the pH to <2 immediately after collection. The average concentration of the inter-run standards over all runs were used to correct sample concentrations between runs, as described by Swanepoel et al. (2015).

7.2.4.2.4. Blood plasma

Blood was collected on day 19 of each experimental period from the tail vein of the same group of 18 cows/pen with collection, treatment and analysis for free AA and plasma urea N (PUN) following the same methods as outlined in Swanepoel et al. (2014).

7.2.4.2.5. Fecal

Fecal collection was on day 19 of each experimental period by rectal grab sampling the same group of 18 blood cows/pen described above. At the end of the 3rd experimental period, the 18 cows/pen collected in each period were combined into a final analytical set by grouping samples from the same 6 cows/pen into 3 groups/period in order to support the assumption that the intake of the

group was equal to the TMR fed. Thus a total of 27 fecal samples were created (*i.e.*, 3/pen/period) that were frozen at -20°C and subsequently analyzed for DM, ash, aNDFom, ADF, lignin(sa) and N after drying and grinding as described earlier for feed and TMR samples.

7.2.5. Calculations

Final oven DM of TMR, DM intake per cow/pen, milk energy concentration (MJ/kg) and output (MJ/day), partial net energy (NE) output (MJ/day), NE for lactation (NE_L) density (MJ/kg DM) of the diets, BCS change, urine volume (L/day) as well as microbial crude protein (CP) production (g CP/day) was calculated as described by Swanepoel et al. (2015).

Whole tract apparent digestibility (g/kg DM) was calculated for organic matter (OM) as:

```
1 - [((Lignin(sa)<sub>TMR</sub> x 0.95)/OM<sub>TMR</sub>) / (Lignin(sa)<sub>Feces</sub> / OM<sub>Feces</sub>)]
```

and apparent nutrient (i.e., CP, aNDFom and ADF) digestibility (g/kg DM) was calculated as:

1 – [((Lignin(sa)_{TMR} x 0.95)/Nutrient_{TMR}) / (Lignin(sa)_{Feces} / Nutrient_{Feces})]

assuming that lignin(sa) in the TMR is 950 g/kg indigestible and will be recovered in feces (Stensig and Robinson, 1997).

7.2.6. Statistical analysis

Cows were excluded from statistical analysis if they moved from their originally assigned pen at any time during the study, for any period of time, for health or any other reason. The final number of eligible cows included in statistical analysis of milk production was 539, and 326 for the BCS dataset. Outlier analysis (completed blind to treatments by excluding values deemed to be biologically implausible), excluded 12 cows from the milk production dataset (*i.e.*, 2 cows for a high milk fat concentration, 7 cows for low milk yields and 3 cows for high SCC), and 1 cow was removed from the BCS dataset due to an abnormally high BCS change between two experimental periods. A final group of 18 (*i.e.*, 6 cows/pen) cows were randomly selected from the eligible blood cows for plasma AA analysis. A group of 171 urine samples were selected for AL analysis, representing 80 cows which had repeated urine samples between periods.

Animal production, BCS, urine AL, apparent digestibility and plasma AA concentrations were analysed using the MIXED procedure of SAS (2000) for a 3 x 3 Latin square design, with cow nested

within pen in the random statement and period, pen and treatment as fixed effects. Dry matter intake (n = 3 pens, calculated on a pen basis with 3 pens/period), TMR component and ingredient composition and NE balance (n = 3 pens) used pen as the experimental unit in the GLM option of SAS (2000) with period, pen and treatment as fixed effects.

Reported values are least squares means with differences accepted as significant if $P \le 0.05$ and trends accepted if $P \le 0.10$.

7.3. Results

7.3.1. Ration evaluation

The chemical composition of the ingredients used in the TMR (Table 7.1) was similar to ingredients listed in NRC (2001) as well as the ingredients used in Swanepoel et al., (2014 and 2015).

As per design, the LCM ration had a lower inclusion (P<0.01) of CM compared to the HCM ration (126 vs. 167 g/kg DM; Table 7.2). However, even with the change in CM inclusion, there was no difference in the chemical profiles of the LCM vs. HCM rations (Table 7.2). This was achieved by balancing the reduced inclusion of CM with an increased inclusion of dried corn distillers grains (DDG; P<0.01), molasses (P<0.01), and pima cottonseed (P=0.02), together with decreased inclusion of steam flaked corn grain (P=0.01). There was no difference in the ingredient or chemical profiles of the two HCM rations.

The only difference in the ingredient profiles amongst the treatment rations was inclusion of 3.4 and 41.2 g/cow/day of RP Met and RP Phe respectively (which was equal to the targeted 3.4 and 41.7 g/cow/day). The TMR met all nutrient requirements of lactating dairy cows producing 45 to 50 liters of milk/day (NRC, 2001).

7.3.2. Animal measurements

7.3.2.1. Dry matter intake and apparent whole tract digestibility

The DM intake (Table 7.3) was not affected (avg: 27.5 +/- 0.46 kg/day) by treatment and were similar to those in Swanepoel et al. (2015).

Р

LCM¹ HCM² HCMP³ **SEM** LCM vs. HCM⁴ Ingredient profile, g/kg DM⁵ Alfalfa, hay (High quality) 43.5 45.0 44.5 0.48 0.26 Premix Almond, hulls 116.0 115.9 116.0 0.03 0.26 43.4 43.4 Cottonseed, Pima cracked 43.6 0.02 0.02 Sodium bicarbonate 7.79 8.16 8.17 0.011 0.19 *Humatech*⁶ 4.31 4.29 4.29 0.098 0.92 Mineral, premix⁷ 14.4 14.4 14.4 0.07 0.79 EnerG II[§] 12.9 12.6 12.6 0.06 0.08 *Canola, pellets (solvent)* 126 167 167 0.3 < 0.01Wheat, straw 15.8 15.7 15.7 0.10 0.75 11.62 6.36 6.36 0.094 < 0.01 Molasses, liquid Corn distillers grains, dry 75.2 28.128.1 0.47 < 0.01RPM Product9 0.00 0.17 0.17 0.001 < 0.01RPP Product¹⁰ 0.00 0.00 2.12 0.007 < 0.01Alfalfa, hay (Medium quality) 63.1 64.5 62.8 0.43 0.51 Corn, grain flaked 186 196 196 0.4 0.01 179 174 175 Wheat, silage 1.6 0.23 Corn, silage 73.2 78.8 78.7 2.39 0.31 26.7 25.2 25.1 0.60 0.28 Citrus, wet/pulp Nutrient profile, g/kg DM¹¹ 0.54 Dry matter 568 563 562 6.4 Organic matter 909 910 911 0.6 0.28 Crude protein (CP) 164 161 160 1.2 0.03 ADICP¹² 82.2 83.0 87.4 2.00 0.24 aNDF¹³ 314 308 308 2.2 0.05 aNDFom¹⁴ 298 293 293 1.9 0.05 ADF¹⁵ 218 219 222 2.4 0.32 Fat 47.5 45.4 45.4 0.87 0.08 Lignin(sa)16 45.8 47.7 47.8 0.75 0.17 Starch 171 172 178 2.6 0.05 38.6 42.5 42.4 2.04 0.15 Sugars Ca 9.03 9.33 9.64 0.206 0.10 Р 4.10 4.13 4.10 0.047 0.60 Κ 15.4 15.3 15.0 0.10 0.05 3.03 0.49 3.07 3.06 0.039 Mg Cl 5.65 5.53 5.56 0.095 0.39 S 3.01 2.802.81 0.029 < 0.01Na 4.89 4.97 0.43 4.98 0.083 mg/kg DM 83.4 87.4 85.2 24.05 0.35 Zn 44.3 45.7 7.49 Mn 46.6 0.06 Fe 418 433 403 74.3 0.98 Cu 13.8 14.4 14.4 4.91 0.32 1.36 1.958 0.52 Mo 1.66 1.38

Table 7.2: Ingredient profile and chemical composition (g/kg dry matter) of total mixed rations fed to cows

Treatments

¹ Low canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 126 g/kg dry matter.

 2 High canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 167 g/kg dry matter, with 2 g of intestinally absorbable Met as part of the base ration.

0.34

0.34

0.116

0.08

0.37

³ High canola meal ration and 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe.

Se

⁵ Based on average ingredient composition during sampling week for each pen, each period, using TMR tracker system.

⁶ DPX 9902. Mixture of humic and fulvic organic acids. Humatch Inc. Houston, Texas, USA.

⁷ Premix (988 g/kg DM) contained 15.1 g/kg NDF, 24 g/kg Starch, 27.6 g/kg Fat, 1.6 g/kg N, 205.5 g/kg Ca, 5.2 g/kg P, 36.2 g/kg Mg, 1.1 g/kg K, 1.9 g/kg S, 95.3 g/kg Na, 133.1 g/kg Cl, 0.37 g/kg Fe, 3.84 g/kg Zn, 0.68 g/kg Cu,1.06

g/kg Mn, 437 IU/lb Vit-E on a DM basis.

⁸ Nutritech Solutions, Ltd. Abbotsford, BC, Canada.

⁹ Ruminally protected Met (Smartamine M, Adisseo USA Inc., Alpharetta, GA, USA). Fed at 3.4 g/cow/d to deliver 2 g intestinally absorbable Met.

¹⁰ Ruminally protected Phe (QualiTech Inc., Chaska, MN, USA). Fed at 41.7 g/cow/d to deliver 15 g intestinally absorbable Phe.

¹¹ Total mixed ration samples collected twice during sampling week for each pen, each period (*i.e.*, 18 total samples).

¹² Acid detergent insoluble CP (g/kg of CP).

¹³ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

¹⁴ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

¹⁵ Acid detergent fiber, expressed inclusive of residual ash.

¹⁶ Lignin treated with sulphuric acid.

Apparent total tract digestibility of OM and CP was not affected by the treatments, but apparent

aNDFom (P=0.01) and ADF (P<0.01) digestibility was increased for the HCMP vs. HCM treatments

(443 vs. 421 and 413 vs. 385 g/kg DM respectively).

Table 7.3: Dry matter (DM) intakes (kg/d) and apparent total tract digestibility (g/kg DM) of total mixed rations (TMR) and urine analysis of cows fed TMR with low canola meal (CM), high CM and high CM supplemented with ruminally protected Phe

	Treatments				Р)
	LCM ¹	HCM ²	HCMP ³	SEM	LCM vs. HCM	HCM vs. HCMP
Dry matter intakes (kg/d) ⁴	27.3	27.5	27.7	0.46	0.81	0.84
TMR Digestibility (g/kg DM) ⁵						
Organic matter	662	666	672	3.6	0.38	0.10
Crude protein	617	617	605	8.0	0.97	0.32
aNDFom ⁶	432	421	443	6.2	0.18	0.01
Acid detergent fiber	395	385	413	6.4	0.17	< 0.01
n = 80 cows						
Urine analysis						
Allantoin (AL, mg/L)	3000	2898	2938	80.7	0.27	0.67
Specific gravity	1.026	1.025	1.026	0.0005	0.23	0.28
Urine volume (L/day)	19.3	19.8	19.3	0.44	0.32	0.31
Bacterial CP yield (g/d)	1932	1903	1882	34.2	0.48	0.61

¹ Low canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 126 g/kg dry matter.

 2 High canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 167 g/kg dry matter, with 2 g of intestinally absorbable Met as part of the base ration.

³ High canola meal ration and 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe.

⁴ n=3 Pens

⁵ Based on 9 final fecal samples of 6 cows/pen combined into 3 groups/period and 18 final TMR samples, collected twice/pen/period.

⁶ Neutral detergent fiber assayed with heat stable amylase, expressed exclusive of residual ash.

7.3.2.2. Milk production and its composition

There was no impact of treatments on milk or component yields (Table 7.4). Milk component concentration was not different for LCM *vs*. HCM, but lactose concentration was lower (P=0.02) with Phe addition to the HCM ration (47.2 *vs*. 47.3) compared to HCM alone.

Table 7.4: Production performance and body scores for cows fed total mixed rations with low
canola meal (CM), high CM and high CM supplemented with ruminally protected Phe

	Treatments				Р	
	LCM ¹	HCM ²	HCMP ³	SEM	LCM vs. HCM	HCM vs. HCMP
n = 527 cows						
Yield (kg/d)	47.21	47.52	47.72	0.367	0.32	0.52
Milk	1.58	1.57	1.59	0.014	0.80	0.38
Fat	1.34	1.34	1.34	0.009	0.55	0.90
True protein	2.23	2.25	2.25	0.017	0.33	0.77
Lactose	131.7	131.9	132.5	0.98	0.82	0.57
Components (g/kg)						
Fat	33.56	33.30	33.48	0.224	0.24	0.42
True protein	28.49	28.44	28.34	0.105	0.33	0.07
Lactose	47.29	47.31	47.20	0.073	0.68	0.02
Energy density (MJ/kg)	2.80	2.79	2.79	0.010	0.22	0.79
Somatic cell count ('000)	120	122	128	12.1	0.85	0.62
n = 325 cows						
Body condition score (BCS)	2.61	2.58	2.59	0.019	< 0.01	0.28
BCS change (unit/28 d)	0.016	-0.061	-0.002	0.0131	< 0.01	< 0.01

¹ Low canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 126 g/kg dry matter.

 2 High canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 167 g/kg dry matter, with 2 g of intestinally absorbable Met as part of the base ration.

³ High canola meal ration and 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe.

7.3.2.3. Body condition score

The BCS (Table 7.4) was higher (P<0.01) for the LCM treatment compared to HCM and it was also the only treatment with a positive BCS change (*i.e.*, 0.016 units/28 days) which differed (P<0.01) from the HCM treatment. Both HCM treatment cows lost BCS during the study, but the negative BCS change for HCMP was less (P<0.01) than that of HCM alone (-0.002 vs. -0.061 units/28 days).

7.3.2.4. Urine

Urine volume (avg: 19.5 +/- 0.44 L/day), urine AL concentrations (avg: 2945 +/- 80.7 mg/L) and

calculated microbial CP (MCP) flow (avg: 1906 +/- 34.2 g/day) from the rumen (Table 7.3) did not

differ among treatments. However, even though the AL concentrations in this study was lower (avg:


2945 vs. 3678 mg/L) than Swanepoel et al. (2015), the higher urine volume (avg: 19.5 vs. 16.7 L/day) resulted in a similar estimated MCP yield (avg: 1906 vs. 2093 g CP/day) between the two studies and are therefore within ranges (763 to 1959 g CP/day) previously reported in studies collecting and measuring MCP from duodenal samples, as outlined by Swanepoel et al. (2015).

7.3.2.5. Blood plasma

There were no changes in plasma AA concentrations (Table 7.5) for HCM *vs.* HCMP, except for the Lys:Met ratio which tended (P=0.05) to be lower in the HCMP treatment (3.12 vs. 3.31), but that was mainly due to a lower plasma Lys concentration rather than an increase in plasma Met, which was part of the base TMR in both HCM treatments. However, even with different ingredient compositions, the plasma AA concentrations between the LCM and HCM rations were very similar with the only difference being a lower (P=0.01) plasma Leu concentration (23.0 *vs.* 24.8 µg/mL) for the HCM ration compared to LCM, which corresponds with the decline in plasma Leu concentrations in Swanepoel et al. (2014) with higher inclusion levels of CM in the ration.

Other differences included a tendency (P=0.04) for the LCM ration to have a higher plasma Ser concentration compared to HCM (8.95 *vs.* 9.85 µg/mL). Plasma Phe and Tyr concentrations did not differ between the LCM and HCM rations but, when they are considered in combination, the combined PheTyr concentration tended to be lower (P=0.05) for the HCM ration compared to LCM (17.4 *vs.* 18.8 µg/mL), which corresponds with the decrease in plasma Phe and Tyr concentrations as CM inclusion in the ration increases (Swanepoel et al., 2014). All essential AA (EAA) and non-essential AA (NEAA) concentrations were intermediate to the two highest CM inclusion rations from Swanepoel et al. (2014), which was expected since our HCM ration contained CM at a level intermediate to those two rations. Most AA concentrations were slightly lower, but still very similar to, concentrations in Swanepoel et al. (2015), except for Gln concentrations which were lower (avg: 37.0 vs. 48.1 µg/mL).

7.3.2.6. Partial net energy balance

The Partial NE balance (Table 7.6) for each treatment was calculated to determine where energy was utilized. Total milk energy output did not different among treatments. There was a difference in



Table 7.5: Free amino acid, ammonia (µg/ml) and urea concentration (mg/dL) in plasma of cows fed total mixed rations with low canola meal (CM), high CM and high CM supplemented with ruminally protected Phe

	Treatments			Р		
	LCM ¹	HCM ²	HCMP ³	SEM	LCM vs. HCM	HCM vs. HCMP
$n = 18 \ cows^4$						
Essential amino acids						
Threonine	12.1	12.3	12.9	0.61	0.73	0.36
Valine	33.0	34.1	33.3	0.98	0.29	0.45
Methionine	3.72	3.82	3.89	0.148	0.55	0.70
Isoleucine	15.8	16.0	15.5	0.49	0.71	0.35
Leucine	24.8	23.0	22.5	0.64	0.01	0.48
Phenylalanine	8.80	8.19	8.63	0.376	0.10	0.23
Tryptophan	13.8	14.3	14.3	0.48	0.33	0.94
Lysine	11.7	12.3	11.9	0.48	0.34	0.51
Histidine	7.60	7.71	7.63	0.250	0.72	0.80
Arginine	14.1	14.1	13.9	0.49	0.91	0.78
Lys:Met ratio	3.23	3.31	3.12	0.108	0.37	0.05
Non-essential amino acids						
Homocystine	0.46	0.48	0.52	0.031	0.47	0.08
Aspartic acid	1.13	1.07	1.01	0.073	0.52	0.52
Tyrosine	10.04	9.16	9.48	0.423	0.06	0.48
Serine	9.85	8.95	8.70	0.400	0.04	0.56
Glutamic acid	6.94	7.26	6.83	0.300	0.18	0.08
Glutamine	37.8	35.8	37.3	1.33	0.17	0.30
Glycine	28.9	27.1	26.1	1.50	0.32	0.60
Alanine	23.1	23.5	24.8	0.77	0.64	0.18
3-Methylhistidine	0.57	0.56	0.56	0.032	0.91	0.96
Asparagine	6.45	6.18	6.02	0.305	0.49	0.67
Proline	11.9	11.4	11.1	0.38	0.25	0.58
Phe + Tyr	18.84	17.35	18.11	-	0.05	0.30
Ammonia	2.04	2.00	1.93	0.060	0.27	0.09
Plasma urea N (mg/dL)	11.61	12.22	11.67	0.418	0.07	0.10

¹ Low canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 126 g/kg dry matter.

 2 High canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 167 g/kg dry matter, with 2 g of intestinally absorbable Met as part of the base ration.

³ High canola meal ration and 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe.

⁴ A randomly selected group of 6 cows/pen/period was used for amino acid analysis as it was decided that additional samples would not change significance of differences.



While there were no differences in the calculated dietary NE_L densities (avg: 6.4 ± 0.10 MJ/kg

DM) between treatments, the decrease in total NE output with the HCM vs. LCM diets (173.4 vs.

176.7; P=0.02), was corrected back to the level of the LCM diet when Phe was added to the HCM

(176.6 vs. 173.4; P=0.03).

Table 7.6: Partial net energy balance for cows fed total mixed ration	ns w	ith low	canola	meal
(CM), high CM and high CM supplemented with ruminally protected	Phe			

		Treatments			Р	
	LCM ¹	HCM ²	HCMP ³	SEM	LCM vs. HCM	HCM vs. HCMP
Milk energy output (MJ/d) BCS ⁴ energy (MJ/d) Total Net Energy (MJ/d) ⁵	131.7 0.73 176.7	131.9 -2.73 173.4	132.5 -0.11 176.6	0.98 0.586 0.26	0.82 <0.01 0.02	0.57 <0.01 0.03
NE _L ⁶ (MJ/kg DM)	6.48	6.31	6.37	0.095	0.46	0.79

Low canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 126 g/kg dry matter.

² High canola meal ration: Canola meal included at 167 g/kg dry matter, with 2 g of intestinally absorbable Met as part of the base ration.

³ High canola meal ration and 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe.

⁴ Body condition score.

⁵ Total NE calculated as the sum of maintenance, milk and BCS energy. Maintenance energy (MJ/d) calculated using a constant body weight of 673 kg for all treatments (i.e., 44.23 MJ/d).

⁶ Net energy available for lactation. n = 3 pens.

7.4. Discussion

The suggestion that Met was oversupplied in our previous study (Swanepoel et al., 2015) was due to a decline in milk and lactose yields when 8 g of intestinally absorbable Met was supplemented to the high CM ration. The absence of such a decline in the current study, together with a similar redirection of energy from milk lactose production towards BCS gain, suggests that the level of supplemented Met was enough to prevent a Met limitation, if it existed, but low enough to prevent negative effects due to its oversupply.

This study was designed to deliver 15 g of Phe to the intestine, which is 9.9% higher than the estimated intestinal Phe delivery levels for the HCM ration. However, plasma Phe concentrations did not differ between treatments and were only 5.4% higher for HCMP vs. HCM. This is equal to the previously targeted level (Swanepoel et al., 2015) where a plasma Phe increase of 5.5% was expected to yield a production response. As Phe supplementation reduced the plasma Lys: Met ratio from 3.31



in the HCM ration to 3.12 in the HCMP ration, mainly due to a reduction in Lys rather than increased Met, this suggests that Lys was utilized when the limiting AA, in this case Phe, was fed. This repeats our previous finding that correcting the Lys:Met ratio to the theoretical optimum of 3:1 (Chalupa and Sniffen, 2006) does not necessarily improve milk production, suggesting that it is not the Lys:Met ratio that elicits the milk production response, but rather the concentration of Met relative to its requirement.

Plasma Phe concentrations were only proportionally increased by half of what was supplemented, which corresponds with previous findings that Phe is extensively catabolized by the liver and that increased absorption of Phe will result in increased removal (up to 0.49 of portally absorbed Phe) by the liver (Lapierre et al., 2005). However, this was not reflected by an increased PUN concentration in plasma of the HCMP treatment. Indeed, the tendency for PUN to be higher (Figure 7.1) in the HCM treatment compared to LCM and HCMP suggests that the HCM ration was limiting in Phe, leaving the other AA unutilized and catabolized, resulting in higher plasma PUN concentrations, while supplementation of Phe to HCM alleviated the AA limitation. This corresponds with results by Iroshan et al. (2013) in which a Phe deficiency increased PUN concentrations compared to abomasal infusion of a complete AA mixture, suggesting that excess AA not used for milk protein synthesis was converted to urea.



Figure 7.1: Changes in the plasma urea N concentrations (mg/dL) for cows fed the low CM (LCM), high CM (HCM) and high CM ration supplemented with 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe (HCMP).



Phe supplementation did not decrease plasma Trp concentrations in this study as it did in (Swanepoel et al., 2015). Indeed, compared to the lower plasma Phe and Tyr concentrations (Figure 7.2B) with Phe supplementation to the high CM ration in Swanepoel et al. (2015), the small increase in plasma Tyr concentrations in this study (Figure 7.2D) could be due to hepatic conversion of Phe into Tyr, directing Phe hydroxylase towards Phe hydroxylation, instead of Trp, since there are unknown factors that influence activity of, and therefore the substrate used by, the hydroxylase enzyme, and studies show conflicting results about enhancing or inhibiting effects of Phe on Trp hydroxylation (Kaufman, 1971; Guinard and Rulquin, 1994).



Figure 7.2: Changes in the plasma Phe and Tyr concentrations (µg/mL) for (plots A&B) cows fed the high canola meal (HCM) ration and high CM ration supplemented with 7.5 g of intestinally delivered Phe (HCMP) in Swanepoel et al. (2015) and (plots B&D) cows fed the low CM (LCM), high CM (HCM) and high CM ration supplemented with 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe (HCMP) in the current study.

Addition of Phe to the HCM ration resulted in an increase in whole tract aNDFom and ADF digestibility. Although the change could be due to random variation, since it may not be large enough to be biologically impactful, it is consistent with the numerically lower MCP flow from the rumen in



the HCMP treatment since higher fiber digestibility can result in lower outflows of MCP from the rumen due to a deficiency of fibrous particles for microbes to adhere to (Van Soest, 1994). As it is likely that a portion of the Phe contained in the RP Phe product was released in the rumen (~10 g Phe/cow/d), the enhanced fiber digestion could be due to increased concentrations of ammonia, possibly from degradation of the released Phe, stimulating fibrolytic bacteria in the rumen (Van Soest, 1994). However, this seems unlikely due to the low level of Phe release in the rumen. Even though it has long been accepted that most ruminal bacterial species use ammonia as their sole source of N (Argyle and Baldwin, 1989), other research shows that availability of free AA directly affects, and can stimulate growth rate of, microbes in the rumen (Cotta and Russel, 1982; Argyle and Baldwin, 1989), even though the consensus is that it is a group of AA, rather than specific individual AA that has this stimulatory effect. However, Soto et al. (1994) suggested cellulolytic bacteria growth rate can be stimulated by peptides or specific AA, as long as adequate energy is available, without affecting MCP flow from the rumen or rumen nutrient digestibility. Specific supplementation of branchedchain AA (BCAA) were shown to increase in vitro NDF digestibility (Yang, 2002) while Zhang et al. (2013) reported that only Ile affected DM and NDF degradability of wheat straw, in this case negatively, during in vitro fermentation.

The requirement of specific AA, specifically Phe, for growth of ruminal organisms has been suggested and studied for decades (Bryant et al., 1959; Allison, 1965). The major role of Phe and its precursors phenyl-acetic acid and phenylpropionic acid, in ruminal fiber degradation have been previously established (Stack et al., 1983; Morrison et al., 1990) in both continuous-culture and batch culture experiments, suggesting that the affinity of bacteria for cellulose can be improved by changing their adherence capabilities and/or altering enzyme assembly for more efficient substrate conversion with an exogenous supply of Phe and its precursors. Atasoglu et al. (2001) confirmed that Phe synthesis from peptides in cellulolytic bacteria were lower than any other AA and that Phe is essential for growth of cellulolytic bacteria, which agrees with Stack et al. (1983), indicating that cellulose digestion was limited by Phe biosynthesis. Even though these earlier studies used AA concentrations well above what would normally occur *in vivo*, it suggests that delivery of higher levels of free Phe



to the rumen, through ruminal release of the RP Phe in our case, could be supplementing an AA that is required by the microbes, thereby enhancing growth and/or capabilities of cellulolytic bacteria and so fiber digestibility in the rumen would increase.

Supplementation of Phe resulted in energy being diverted towards BCS gain (Figure 7.3A&B), as in Swanepoel et al. (2015) but this time the change was statistically significant and not at the expense of milk protein and fat components, but rather from milk lactose, possibly suggesting that the higher Phe supplementation level was successful in supplying enough Phe to replace mobilized muscle protein while maintaining milk production. Again, Phe could have stimulated release of the peptide ghrelin, which may have prevented fat mobilization from body stores (Vancleef et al., 2015).



Figure 7.3: Changes in the body condition score (BCS) energy (MJ/d) for (A) cows fed the high canola meal (HCM) ration and high CM ration supplemented with 7.5 g of intestinally delivered Phe (HCMP) in Swanepoel et al. (2015) and (B) cows fed the low CM (LCM), high CM (HCM) and high CM ration supplemented with 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe (HCMP) in the current study.

Due to numerical differences in DM intake between treatments, there was no difference in the calculated dietary NE_L densities of the treatment rations. However, the change in energy utilization among treatments is reflected in differences in total NE output which decreased with the higher CM inclusion (Figure 7.4B). In Swanepoel et al. (2015), total NE output was numerically reduced with Phe supplementation (Figure 7.4A) to the high CM ration but, in the current study, it was increased to the level of the LCM diet, which was determined to contain an optimum CM level in Swanepoel et al. (2014), when Phe was added to the HCM ration thereby suggesting that supplementation of Phe to



HCM regained animal performance that was lost by the HCM diet alone. This suggests that a further increase in the level of Phe supplementation may have additional benefits on milk production.



Figure 7.4: Changes in the total net energy (MJ/d) for (A) cows fed the high canola meal (HCM) ration and high CM ration supplemented with 7.5 g of intestinally delivered Phe (HCMP) in Swanepoel et al. (2015) and (B) cows fed the low CM (LCM), high CM (HCM) and high CM ration supplemented with 15 g of intestinally delivered Phe (HCMP) in the current study.

7.5. Conclusions

Even though plasma Phe concentrations did not change between treatments (possibly due to Phe being catabolized by the liver, converted to Tyr or utilized for production responses), Phe supplementation increased BCS gain, probably restoring peptides to the muscle tissue, but not at the expense of milk production and components. Results suggest that delivery of free Phe to the rumen, through ruminal release of the RP Phe product, could have enhanced growth and/or capabilities of cellulolytic bacteria and therefore aNDFom and ADF digestibility in the rumen. The restoration of decreased total NE output with the HCM diet to the same level as the LCM diet with Phe supplementation, together with the positive production responses with only a small increase in plasma Phe, merits further investigation with even higher levels of Phe to determine if it supports an increase in milk production and/or components after fulfilling its apparent 1st priority of restoring peptides to muscle tissue.



Acknowledgements

The authors thank Mr William van Die and the personnel (i.e., George, Nacho, Pedro, Junior,

José) at Cloverdale Dairy for their interest, assistance and patience during the completion of the study.

The senior author also thanks Dr. Peter Robinson and fellow students Kristan Reed, Noe Gomez and

Casey Dykier for help during sample collection and processing. Very special thanks go to Grace Cun

for going above and beyond in both assistance and support.

References

- Allison, J. 1965. Phenylalanine biosynthesis from phenylacetic acid by anaerobic bacteria from the rumen. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 18, 30–3
- Argyle, J.L., Baldwin, R.L. 1989. Effects of amino acids and peptides on rumen microbial growth yields. J. Dairy Sci. 72, 2017–2027.
- Atasoglu, C., Newbold, C.J., Wallace, R.J. 2001. Incorporation of [¹⁵N] Ammonia by the Cellulolytic Ruminal bacteria *Fibrobacter succinogenes* BL2, *Ruminococcus albus* SY3, and *Ruminococcus flavefaciens* 17. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 2819–2822.
- Bryant, M.P., Robinson, I.M., Chu, H. 1959. Observations on the Nutrition of Bacteroides Succinogenes—A Ruminal Cellulolytic Bacterium. J. Dairy Sci. 42, 1831–1847.
- Chalupa, W., Sniffen, C. 2006. Balancing rations on the basis of amino acids: The CPM-Dairy approach. Proc. 21st Annual Southwest nutrition and management conference, Tempe, AZ, February 23-24, pp. 96-109.
- Christen, K.A., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, R., Karges, K.K., Gibson, M.L., 2010. Response of lactating dairy cows to high protein distillers grains or 3 other protein supplements. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 2095–2104.
- Cotta, M.A., Russell, J.B. 1982. Effect of Peptides and Amino Acids on Efficiency of Rumen Bacterial Protein Synthesis in Continuous Culture. J. Dairy Sci. 65, 226–234.
- Derrig, R.G., Clark, J.H., Davis, C.L. 1974. Effect of abomasal infusion of sodium caseinate on milk yield, nitrogen utilization and amino acid nutrition of the dairy cow. J. Nutr. 104, 151-159.
- Ferguson, J.D., Galligan, D.T., Thomsen, N. 1994. Principal descriptors of body condition score in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2695-2703.
- Guinard, J., Rulquin, H. 1994. Effect of graded levels of duodenal infusions of casein on mammary uptake in lactating cows. 2. Individual amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 3304-3315.
- Iroshan, I.H., Lapierre, H., Doepel, L. 2013. The effect of a limited supply of phenylalanine, threonine, and tryptophan on milk yield and composition. In: Energy and Protein metabolism and nutrition in sustainable animal production. Pp. 115-116. J.W. Oltjen et al. (eds). EAAP publication No. 134, DOI 10.3920/978-90-8686-781-3, Wageningen Academic Publishers 2013.
- Johansen, H. N., Glitso, V. and Knudsen, K. E. B. 1996. Influence of Extraction Solvent and Temperature on the Quantitative Determination of Oligosaccharides from Plant Materials by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography. J. Agric. Food Chem. 44:1470-1474.
- Jones, J. B. 2001. Laboratory Guide for Conducting Soil Tests and Plant Analysis, pp. 227-228.
- Kaufman, S. 1971. The Phe hydroxylating system from mammalian liver. Adv. Enzymol. 35, 245-319.
- Lapierre, H., Berthiaume, R., Raggion, G., Thivierge, M.C., Doepel, L., Pacheco, D., Dubreuil, P., Lobley, G.E. 2005. The route of absorbed nitrogen into milk protein. Anim. Sci. 80, 11-22.



- Martineau, R., Ouellet, D.R., Lapierre, H. 2014. The effect of feeding canola meal on concentrations of plasma amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 1603–1610.
- Meyer, G.A., Keliher, P.N. 1992. Overview of analysis by inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry. In: Montaser, A., Golightly, D.W. (Eds.), Inductively Coupled Plasmas in Analytical Atomic Spectrometry. VCH Publishers Inc., New York, NY, pp. 473–516.
- Morrison, M., Mackie, R.I., Kistner, A. 1990. 3-phenylpropanoic acid improves the affinity of Ruminococcus albus for cellulose in continuous culture. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 56, 3220–3222.
- Mulrooney, C.N., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R. 2009. Canola meal replacing distillers grains with solubles for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 5669-5676.
- National Research Council. 2001. Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle. 7th Rev. Ed., National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- Nichols, J.R., Schingoethe, D.J., Maiga, H.A, Brouk, M.J., Piepenbrink, M.S. 1998. Evaluation of corn distillers grains and ruminally protected lysine and methionine for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 482–491.
- Piepenbrink, M.S., Schingoethe, D.J., Brouk, M.J., Stegeman, G.A. 1998. Systems to evaluate the protein quality of diets fed to lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 1046–1061.
- SAS Institute Inc., SAS/STAR[®] Software: Changes and enhancements, Release 9.2. 2000. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA.
- Schwab, C.G., Satter, L.D., Clay, A.B. 1975. Response of lactating dairy cows to abomasal infusion of amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 59, 1254-1270.
- Soto, R.C., Muhammed, S.A., Newbold, C.J., Stewart, C.S., Wallace, R.J. 1994. Influence of peptides, amino acids and urea on microbial activity in the rumen of sheep receiving grass hay and on the growth of rumen bacteria in vitro. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 49, 151–161.
- Stack, R.J., Hungate, R.E., Opsahl, W.P. 1983. Phenylacetic acid stimulation of cellulose digestion by Ruminococcus albus 8. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 46, 539–544.
- Stensig, T., Robinson, P.H. 1997. Digestion and passage kinetics of forage fiber in dairy cows as affected by fiber-free concentrate in the diet. J. Dairy Sci. 80, 1339-1352.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.H., Erasmus, L.J. 2015. Effects of ruminally protected methionine and/or phenylalanine on performance of high producing Holstein cows fed rations with very high levels of canola meal. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 205, 10–22.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.R., Erasmus, L.J. 2014. Determining the optimal ratio of canola meal and high protein dried distillers grain protein in diets of high producing Holstein dairy cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 189, 41-53.
- Swanepoel, N., Robinson, P.R., Erasmus, L.J. In Review. Rumen microbial protein flow, and plasma amino acid concentration, spectrum in early lactation multiparity Holstein cows fed commercial rations. Submitted to Livestock Science.
- Tracy, M.L., Möller, G. 1990. Continuous flow vapour generation for inductively coupled argon plasma spectrometric analysis. Part 1. Selenium. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 73, 404–410.
- Vancleef, L., Van Den Broeck, T., Thijs, T., Steensels, S., Briand, L., Tack, J., Depoortere, I. 2015. Chemosensory signalling pathways involved in sensing of amino acids by the ghrelin cell. Sci. Rep. 5, 15725.
- Van Soest, P.J. 1994. Nutritional ecology of the ruminant. 2nd Rev. Ed., Cornell University press, Ithica, NY, USA.
- Vik-Mo, L., Huber, J.T., Bergen, W.G., Lichtenwalner, R.E., Emery, R.S. 1974. Blood metabolites in cows abomasally infused with casein or glucose. J. Dairy Sci. 57, 1024-1030.



- Yang, C.-M.J. 2002. Response of forage fiber degradation by ruminal microorganisms to branchedchain volatile fatty acids, amino acids, and dipeptides. J. Dairy Sci. 85, 1183–1190.
- Zhang, H.L., Chen, Y., Xu, X.L., Yang, Y.X. 2013. Effects of Branched-chain Amino Acids on In vitro Ruminal Fermentation of Wheat Straw. Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci. 26, 523–528.



Chapter 8: General Discussion

8.1. Conclusions and implications

Responses to AA supplementation of dairy cattle rations over a period now exceeding 30 years have been inconsistent and unpredictable. Although authors provide many reasons to justify the seemingly random (but generally low or no) responses to AA supplementation, it is clear that AA limitations, requirements and production responses are governed by much more than their plasma AA concentrations. The perceived correction of a theoretical AA deficiency through its supplementation consistently increases its plasma concentrations while often eliciting small increases in milk protein concentration (Rulquin and Pisulewski, 2006; Weeks et al., 2006; Haque et al., 2012). In contrast, in most cases an estimated imbalance of AA manifests as a small increase in milk fat concentration, or a bit lower ratio of protein:fat in milk (Chamberlain et al., 1992; Varvikko et al., 1999; Robinson et al., 2000; Cant et al., 2001; Kim et al., 2001; Weekes et al., 2006). Supplementation of AA to diets in which they are not limiting can cause an imbalance, with unexpected effects on animal performance by, for instance, reducing DM intake (Karunanandaa et al., 1994; Robinson et al., 2000; Rulquin and Pisulewski, 2006), sequestration of AA in body protein that exacerbates the AA deficiency (Weekes et al., 2006) or unexpectedly stimulating lactose synthesis (Robinson et al., 1999).

Overall, the inconsistency in responses to AA supplementation in these studies all speak to AA bioactivity, rather than AA limitations. Under this hypothesis, there is a significant downside risk to supplementing AA as AA that are not specifically required can change body AA balances and pools. Thus AA bioactivity, under these changed circumstances, may stimulate a response that is not expected and may not always be deemed positive by commercial dairy producers.

While low level Phe supplementation of a high CM ration had no effect at all on animal performance, the combined Met and Phe treatment diverted energy away from milk components towards BCS gain, suggesting that Phe only expressed its bioactivity in the Met and Phe combination treatment. Results suggest that combined supplementation of Met and Phe may have rectified a Met limitation, by supplying Phe which then became 2nd limiting after Met requirements were met, but that the amount of Phe was not sufficient to support a sustained milk production response in favor of



BCS recovery. Early post-ruminal supplementation of casein has consistently resulted in increased milk production in lactating cows (*e.g.*, Clark, 1975). However, the elements in casein that caused those increases were never identified, and trying to recreate those improvements by supplementing individual AA were not successful. The failure of single AA supplementation to elicit positive production responses similar to casein may be due to a combination of factors that were not supplied by a single AA. As suggested by Clark (1975), AA may be co-limiting with each single AA giving a response which is not experimentally detectable until the total response from several AA are added. Indeed, protein yield is not dependent on only one AA because AA functions are highly interrelated (Doepel et al., 2004).

Varying the inclusion levels of CM and HPDDG resulted in an optimum CM inclusion level of ~126 g/kg DM, and including CM at levels above this resulted in a general decline in cow performance in experiment 1, 2 and 4. As plasma Phe, Leu and Met concentrations decreased with higher CM inclusion in the ration, it suggested that these AA may be limiting. However, supplementing the high CM ration with RP Met and/or Phe did not elicit the response expected in Experiment 2. It has been suggested that it is not blood AA concentrations *per se* that limits milk protein production, but rather metabolic capability which determines maximum velocity of milk protein production (Cant et al., 2001) or gastrointestinal events (Bequette et al., 1996), both of which are under hormonal control. Weekes et al. (2006) suggested it is difficult to know whether an AA supplementation has corrected a deficiency or induced an imbalance, and AA deficiencies and symptoms are poorly diagnosed and inadequately described. Even though Weekes et al. (2006) strived to induce large AA imbalances, changes in metabolic and regulatory pathways dampened expected negative effects on milk protein yields.

Nevertheless, a change in energy utilization with supplementation of Phe was reflected in differences in NE_L output in our Experiments, which decreased when CM inclusion increased. In Experiment 2, the NE_L output was numerically reduced with Phe supplementation. However, when Phe was added in Experiment 4, total NE_L output of the high CM diet was restored to the level of the low CM diet, which contained the optimum CM level as determined in Experiment 1, suggesting that



supplementation of Phe to a high CM ration regained animal performance that was lost when CM inclusion was increased above optimal.

Supplementing Phe in Experiments 2 and 4 resulted in energy being diverted towards BCS gain at the expense of milk protein and fat components at low Phe levels, but at the expense of milk lactose when Phe levels were higher, suggesting that supplemented Phe does not maintain milk production until fulfilling its apparent 1st priority of restoring previously mobilized peptides to muscle protein. Two *in vivo* studies evaluating the ability of the mammary gland to utilize peptide AA have confirmed use of Phe and Leu peptides for milk protein synthesis (Backwell et al., 1994; 1996). However, Bequette et al. (1998) showed that the contribution of peptides to total Phe supply for milk production decreased upon Phe supplementation, while uptake and utilization of supplemented free Phe from the blood increased. Increases in mammary blood flow in response to AA limitations (Bequette et al., 2000) demonstrate the ability of the mammary gland to compensate for deficiencies (Cant et al., 2003). Weekes et al. (2006) also suggested that the lactating cow has great flexibility to maintain milk protein yields under conditions of single AA limitations, with the mammary gland displaying an ability to extract milk precursors from the blood virtually regardless of their concentrations. This ability may abrogate the classic 'limiting AA' theory. Previously reported impacts of independent AA on casein fractional synthesis rate provide additional evidence contradicting the single-limiting AA theory (Arriola Apelo et al., 2014b)

Research has not been able to identify the factors that optimize synthesis and secretion of milk in the mammary gland in the context of AA. Even though many research groups have tirelessly tried to identify 'limiting' AA, answers may be elsewhere (Bequette and Backwell, 1997; Bequette et al. 1998). It is time to reconsider the 'limiting' AA or 'broken stick' concept of AA nutrition of lactating dairy cows in favor of accepting that many AA are bioactive and can change animal performance, even when they are not 'limiting' milk production *per se*, which is likely the normal situation in commercial practice with multi-feed rations. Thus recommendations to use RPAA products must consider the potential for unwanted effects, which could be deemed negative, and are associated with oversupply, or unnecessary supply, of AA to the intestinal absorptive site relative to animal 'needs'.



Our results strongly suggest that AA should be viewed as bioactive metabolites to the extent that they can change animal performance characteristics, even when they are not 'limiting' *per se*, and that their supplementation to practical dairy cattle rations should be approached with extreme caution for this reason.

8.2. Future research and critical evaluation

If SG had been measured on the urine collected in Experiment 1, MCP flow could have been calculated instead of using the PDC index, which is not a quantitative predictor of MCP synthesis, to determine differences in MCP flow amongst treatments. However, it is not known which of the two methods are the best in predicting changes in MCP synthesis. Indeed, the PDC index is not reported in many studies, limiting the ability for a comparison with other research.

The high level of Met supplementation in Experiment 2 was unnecessary and should have been avoided. The original calculated requirement for Met was 2.0 g of intestinally absorbable Met/cow/day, however outside influences insisted that metabolic model predictions specified that 8.0 g of Met was required. This oversupply was corrected in Experiment 4, showing that the lower Met supplementation was adequate to provide required Met.

Experiment 3 documented normal ranges of urine estimated MCP flowing from the rumen, and plasma AA concentrations which could be used as a benchmark to compare high, low and normal levels of these parameters. A possible next step would be to use the dataset to identify a dairy farm feeding a ration with a possible MCP or AA limitation, and validate the procedure by reformulating the ration, or supplementing AA, to rectify the imbalance and determine its effect on production.

The highest CM inclusion level in Experiment 1 was 200 g/kg TMR DM while subsequent experiments were not as high. However, even though the level of 170 g/kg TMR DM in Experiment 2 and 4 was not as high as the first, it was still above the optimum CM inclusion level of ~126 g/kg, and should therefore show similar nutrient limitations as the 200 g/kg ration, even though positive responses to supplementation may have been slightly dampened at the levels used in Experiments 2 and 4.

144



There was an effect of supplementation of RP Phe on whole tract NDF digestibility in Experiment 4, even though it was unexpected and seemed unlikely. Since this finding cannot be compared with previous experiments, where fecal samples were not obtained, future research supplementing RP AA should determine if our observed effect on digestibility was real and to try and explain how supplementary AA could affect animal digestion.

The largest limitation of doing research on a commercial farm, which seems to draw the attention of many reviewers, is the inability to determine individual cow DM intake. Even though the size of the sampling groups in our experiments should more than make up for the lack of individual intake data, researching a method to determine intakes of individual cows under commercial situations, by way of marker analysis or otherwise, could prove advantageous to researchers and farmers.

Since Experiment 4 showed that supplementation of Phe to a high CM ration regained animal energy output, even though not exactly as anticipated, a further increase in the level of Phe supplementation may have additional benefits on milk production. However, since AA should be considered bioactive, we expect that supplementation of additional Phe may have unpredictable, or even detrimental, effects.

As synthesis of Tyr depends largely on conversion of Phe to Tyr through Phe hydroxylase activity, and since studies showed that an additional supply of Tyr to the mammary gland reduces the requirement for Phe (together with the possibility that conversion of Phe to Tyr is not efficient enough to supply all Tyr requirements for milk production in high producing dairy cows), it would be beneficial to investigate possible lactation responses if Phe supplementation was enhanced with the addition of Tyr, or if part of the Phe is replaced by Tyr. However, since there is some evidence to suggest reduced efficiency of milk protein synthesis when peptide bound Phe is replaced by free Phe, methods to promote production of peptides in the rumen, or perhaps supplementation of peptide bound AA, merits further investigation.

Even though our study results suggested that Phe and Met should be considered as bioactive metabolites, bioactivity of AA is not a new concept. The entire Chapter 2 Literature Review speaks to bioactivity of AA, rather than specific AA limitations, even though it took the compilation of 30



years of research into one chapter to make that clear. Supplementation studies still strive to find the one AA, or combination of AA, that will stimulate milk production as casein did in many early studies, but lactation responses to AA supplementation still cannot be predicted or explained with confidence and hope of such a 'golden study' is deteriorating. Indeed, if I had written the Literature Review before any of the studies were completed, I may have approached this project differently. I believe the research currently under way by researchers investigating effects of supplemental AA on molecular pathways and enzyme activity is the correct path to the future.



References

- Acharya, I.P., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Casper, D.P. 2015. Response of lactating dairy cows to dietary protein from canola meal or distillers' grains on dry matter intake, milk production, milk composition, and amino acid status. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 95, 267–279.
- Appuhamy, J.A.D.R.N., Knapp, J.R., Becvar, O., Escobar, J., Hanigan, M.D. 2011. Effects of jugularinfused lysine, methionine, and branched-chain amino acids on milk protein synthesis in highproducing dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 1952–1960.
- Arriola Apelo, S.I., Bell, A.L., Estes, K., Ropelewski, J., de Veth, M.J., Hanigan, M.D. 2014a. Effects of reduced dietary protein and supplemental rumen-protected essential amino acids on the nitrogen efficiency of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 5688–5699.
- Arriola Apelo, S.I., Singer, L.M., Ray, W.K., Helm, R.F., Lin, X.Y., McGilliard, M.L., St-Pierre, N.R., Hanigan, M.D. 2014b. Casein synthesis is independently and additively related to individual essential amino acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 2998–3005.
- Backwell, F.R., Bequette, B.J., Wilson, D., Calder, A.G., Metcalf, J.A., Wray-Cahen, D., MacRae, J.C., Beever, D.E., Lobley, G.E. 1994. Utilization of dipeptides by the caprine mammary gland for milk protein synthesis. Am. J. Physiol. 267, R1–R6.
- Backwell, F.R., Bequette, B.J., Wilson, D., Metcalf, J.A., Franklin, M.F., Beever, D.E., Lobley, G.E., MacRae, J.C. 1996. Evidence for the utilization of peptides for milk protein synthesis in the lactating dairy goat in vivo. Am. J. Physiol. 271, R955–R960.
- Bateman, H.G., Clark, J.H., Patton, R.A., Peel, C.J., Schwab, C.G. 2001b. Prediction of crude protein and amino acid passage to the duodenum of lactating cows by models compared with in vivo data. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 665–679.
- Bateman, H.G., Clark, J.H., Patton, R.A., Peel, C.J., Schwab, C.G. 2001a. Accuracy and precision of computer models to predict passage of crude protein and amino acids to the duodenum of lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 649–664.
- Bauman, D.E., Griinari, J.M. 2003. Nutritional regulation of milk fat synthesis. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 23, 203-227.
- Bell, J.M. 1993. Factors affecting the nutritional value of canola meal: A review. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 73, 689–697.
- Bequette, B.J., Backwell, F.R. 1997. Amino acid supply and metabolism by the ruminant mammary gland. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 56, 593–605.
- Bequette, B.J., Backwell, F.R., Crompton, L.A. 1998. Current concepts of amino acid and protein metabolism in the mammary gland of the lactating ruminant. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 2540–2559.
- Bequette, B.J., Backwell, F.R.C., MacRae, J.C., Lobley, G.E., Crompton, L.A., Metcalf, J.A., Sutton, J.D. 1996b. Effect of Intravenous Amino Acid Infusion on Leucine Oxidation Across the Mammary Gland of the Lactating Goat. J. Dairy Sci. 79, 2217–2224.
- Bequette, B.J., Hanigan, M.D., Calder, A.G., Reynolds, C.K., Lobley, G.E., MacRae, J.C. 2000. Amino acid exchange by the mammary gland of lactating goats when histidine limits milk production. J. Dairy Sci. 83, 765–775.
- Bequette, B.J., Metcalf, J.A., Wray-Cahen, D., Backwell, F.R., GFtton, J.D., Lomax, M.A., Macrae, J.C., Lobley, G.E. 1996a. Leucine and protein metabolism in the lactating dairy cow mammary gland: responses to supplemental dietary crude protein intake. J. Dairy Res. 63, 209–222.
- Boila, R.J., Ingalls, J.R. 1994. The post-ruminal digestion of dry matter, nitrogen and amino acids in wheat-based distiller' dried grains and canola meal. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 49, 173-188.



- Boucher, S.E., Ordway, R.S., Whitehouse, N.L., Lundy, F.P., Kononoff, P.J., Schwab, C.G. 2007. Effect of incremental urea supplementation of a conventional corn silage-based diet on ruminal ammonia concentration and synthesis of microbial protein. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 5619–5633.
- Brito, A.F., Broderick, G.A. 2007. Effects of different protein supplements on milk production and nutrient utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 1816–1827.
- Broderick, G.A. 2003. Effects of varying dietary protein and energy levels on the production of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 1370-1381.
- Broderick, G. A., Faciola, A.P., Armentano, L.E. 2015. Replacing dietary soybean meal with canola meal improves production and efficiency of lactating dairy cows1. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 5672–5687.
- Burgos, S. A., Robinson, P.H., Fadel, J.G., DePeters, E.J. 2005. Ammonia volatilization potential: Prediction of urinary urea nitrogen output in lactating dairy cows. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 111, 261–269.
- Burgos, S.A., Embertson, N.M., Zhao, Y., Mitloehner, F.M., DePeters, E.J., Fadel, J.G. 2010. Prediction of ammonia emission from dairy cattle manure based on milk urea nitrogen: Relation of milk urea nitrogen to ammonia emissions. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 2377-2386.
- Canola Council of Canada. 2011. Annual report. Canola Council of Canada, Winnipeg, MB, Canada. http://archive.canola-council.org/uploads/2011%20Annual%20Report_web.pdf (accessed 3 Sept 2015).
- Canola Council of Canada. 2012. Annual report. Canola Council of Canada, Winnipeg, MB, Canada. http://www.canolacouncil.org/media/536168/2012%20Annual%20Report.pdf (accessed 3 Sept 2015).
- Canola Council of Canada. 2013. Annual report. Canola Council of Canada, Winnipeg, MB, Canada. http://www.canolacouncil.org/media/549926/2013_annual_report.pdf (accessed 3 Sept 2015).
- Canola Council of Canada. 2014. Annual report. Canola Council of Canada, Winnipeg, MB, Canada. http://www.canolacouncil.org/media/565099/ccc-ar2014.pdf (accessed 3 Sept 2015).
- Cant, J.P., Trout, D.R., Qiao, F., McBride, B.W. 2001. Milk composition responses to unilateral arterial infusion of complete and histidine-lacking amino acid mixtures to the mammary glands of cows. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 1192–1200.
- Castillo-Lopez, E., Ramirez Ramirez, H.A., Klopfenstein, T.J., Hostetler, D., Karges, K., Fernando, S.C., Kononoff, P.J. 2014. Ration formulations containing reduced-fat dried distillers grains with solubles and their effect on lactation performance, rumen fermentation, and intestinal flow of microbial nitrogen in Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 1578-1593.
- Čermáková, J., Kudrna, V., Illek, J., Blažková, K., Haman, J. 2012. Effects of a rumen-protected form of methionine and a methionine analogue on the lactation performance of dairy cows. Czech J. Anim. Sci. 57, 410–419.
- Chen, X.B., Gomes, M.J. 1995. Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives An overview of the technical details. Rowett Res. Institute, Bucksburn, Aberdeen AB2 9SB, UK 1–21.
- Chen, X.B., Ørskov, E. R. 2004. Research on urinary excretion of purine derivatives in ruminants: Past, Present and future. In: Estimation of microbial supply in ruminants using urinary purine derivatives. Kluwer Academic publishers. Makkar, H.P.S., Chen, X.B. (Eds.). p. 180-210.
- Chen, Z.H., Broderick, G.A., Luchini, N.D., Sloan, B.K., Devillard, E. 2011. Effect of feeding different sources of rumen-protected methionine on milk production and N-utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 1978–1988.
- Chingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R., Garcia, A.D. 2009. Invited review: The use of distillers products in dairy cattle diets. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 5802-5813.



- Chizzotti, M.L., Valadares Filho, S.D.C., Valadares, R.F.D., Chizzotti, F.H.M., Tedeschi, L.O. 2008. Determination of creatinine excretion and evaluation of spot urine sampling in Holstein cattle. Livest. Sci. 113, 218–225.
- Choung, J.-J., Chamberlain, D.G. 1992. Protein nutrition of dairy cows receiving grass silage diets. Effects on silage intake and milk production of postruminal supplements of casein or soya-protein isolate and the effects of intravenous infusions of a mixture of methionine, phenylalanine and tryptophan. J. Sci. Food Agric. 58, 307-314.
- Christen, K.A., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R., Karges, K.K., Gibson, M.L. 2010. Response of lactating dairy cows to high protein distillers grains or 3 other protein supplements. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 209.
- Clark, J.H. 1975. Lactational responses to postruminal administration of proteins and amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 58, 1178–1197.
- Clark, J.H., Spires, H.R., Derrig, R.G., Bennink, M.R. 1977. Milk production, nitrogen utilization and glucose synthesis in lactating cows infused postruminally with sodium caseinate and glucose. J. Nutr. 107, 631–644.
- Derrig, R.G., Clark, J.H., Davis, C.L. 1974. Effect of abomasal infusion of sodium caseinate on milk yield, nitrogen utilization and amino acid nutrition of the dairy cow. J. Nutr. 104, 151–159.
- Dewhurst, R.J., Mitton, A.M., Offer, N.W., Thomas, C. 1996. Effects of the composition of grass silages on milk production and nitrogen utilization by dairy cows. Anim. Sci. 62, 25–34.
- Doelman, J., Purdie, N.G., Osborne, V.R., Cant, J.P. 2008. Short communication: The effects of histidine-supplemented drinking water on the performance of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 91, 3998–4001.
- Doepel, L., Pacheco, D., Kennelly, J.J., Hanigan, M.D., López, I.F., Lapierre, H. 2004. Milk protein synthesis as a function of amino acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 87, 1279–1297.
- Firkins, J.L., Hristov, A.N., Hall, M.B., Varga, G.A., St-Pierre, N.R. 2006. Integration of ruminal metabolism in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 89 Suppl 1, E31–E51.
- Fraser, D.L., Ørskov, E.R., Whitelaw, F.G., Franklin, M.F. 1991. Limiting amino acids in dairy cows given casein as the sole source of protein. Livest. Prod. Sci. 28, 235–252.
- Giallongo, F., Hristov, A.N., Oh, J., Frederick, T., Weeks, H., Werner, J., Lapierre, H., Patton, R.A., Gehman, A., Parys, C. 2015. Effects of slow-release urea and rumen-protected methionine and histidine on performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 3292–3308.
- Gonzalez-Ronquillo, M., Balcells, J., Guada, J. A, Vicente, F. 2003. Purine derivative excretion in dairy cows: Endogenous excretion and the effect of exogenous nucleic acid supply. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 1282–1291.
- Grau, C.R., Steele, R. 1954. Phenylalanine and tyrosine utilization in normal and phenylalaninedeficient young mice. J. Nutr. 53, 59–71.
- Grings, E.E., Roffler, R.E., Deitelhoff, D.P. 1992. Responses of dairy cows to additions of distillers dried grains with solubles in alfalfa-based diets. J. Dairy Sci. 75, 1946-1953.
- Guinard, J., Rulquin, H. 1994. Effect of Graded-Levels of Duodenal Infusions of Casein on Mammary Uptake in Lactating Cows. 2. Individual Amino-Acids. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 3304–3315.
- Hadrová, S., Křížová, L., Richter, M., Třináctý, J., Dračková, M. 2012. The effect of duodenal infusion of histidine on milk yield, milk composition, and plasma amino acids in. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 21, 555–565.
- Hanigan, M.D., Crompton, L.A., Bequette, B.J., Mills, J.A.N., France, J. 2002. Modelling mammary metabolism in the dairy cow to predict milk constituent yield, with emphasis on amino acid metabolism and milk protein production: model evaluation. J. Theor. Biol. 217, 311–330.



- Haque, M.N., Rulquin, H., Andrade, A., Faverdin, P., Peyraud, J.L., Lemosquet, S. 2012. Milk protein synthesis in response to the provision of an "ideal" amino acid profile at 2 levels of metabolizable protein supply in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95, 5876–87.
- Haque, M.N., Rulquin, H., Lemosquet, S. 2013. Milk protein responses in dairy cows to changes in postruminal supplies of arginine, isoleucine, and valine. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 420–30.
- Harper, A.E., Miller, R.H., Block, K.P. 1984. Branched-chain amino acid metabolism. Ann. Rev. Nutr. 4, 409–454.
- Havlin, J.M., Robinson, P.H., Karges, K. 2015. Impacts of dietary fat level and saturation when feeding distillers grains to high producing dairy cows. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 99, 577-590.
- Hollmann, M, Allen, M.S., Beede, D.K. 2011. Diet fermentability influences lactational performance responses to corn distillers grains: A meta-analysis. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 2007-2021.
- Hopkins, B. A., Rakes, A.H., Daniel, T.E., Zimmerman, C.A., Croom, W.J. 1994. Effects of intraperitoneal L-leucine, L-isoleucine, L-valine, and L-arginine on milk fat depression in early lactation cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 1084–1092.
- Hristov, A.N., Hanigan, M., Cole, A., Todd, R., McAllister, T.A., Ndegwa, P.M., Rotz, A, 2011. Review: Ammonia emissions from dairy farms and beef feedlots. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 1-35.
- Huang, X., Khan, N.A., Zhang, X., Yu, P. 2015. Effects of canola meal pellet conditioning temperature and time on ruminal and intestinal digestion, hourly effective degradation ratio, and potential nitrogen to energy synchronization in dairy cows. J dairy Sci 98, 8836–8845.
- Hubbard, K.J., Kononoff, P.J., Gehman, A.M., Kelzer, J.M., Karges, K., Gibson, M.L. 2009. Short communication: The effect of feeding high protein distillers dried grains on milk production of Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 2911–2914.
- Huhtanen, P., Hetta, M., Swensson, C. 2011. Evaluation of canola meal as a protein supplement for dairy cows: A review and a meta-analysis. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 529–543.
- Huhtanen, P., Vanhatalo, A., Varvikko, T. 2002. Effects of abomasal infusions of histidine, glucose, and leucine on milk production and plasma metabolites of dairy cows fed grass silage diets. J. Dairy Sci. 85, 204–216.
- Iroshan, I.H., Lapierre, H., Doepel, L. 2013. The effect of a limited supply of phenylalanine, threonine, and tryptophan on milk yield and composition, in: Oltjen, J.W. et al. (Ed.), Energy and Protein Metabolism and Nutrition Is Sustainable Animal Protection, EAAP Publication. pp. 115–116.
- Jayasinghe, N., Kalscheur, K.F., Anderson, J.L., Casper, D.P. 2014. Ruminal degradability and intestinal digestibility of protein and amino acids in canola meal. J. Dairy Sci. 97 (E-Suppl. 1), 566–567.
- Jorgensen, G.N., Larson, B.L. 1968. Conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine in the bovine mammary secretory cell. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 165, 121–126.
- Kanjanapruthipong, J., Leng, R. A. 1998. Purine Derivatives Excreted in Urine as an Indicator Estimating Microbial Yield from the Rumen: A - Review. Asian-Australasian J. Anim. Sci. 11, 209-216.
- Kelzer, J.M., Kononoff, P.J., Gehman, A.M., Tedeschi, L.O., Karges, K., Gibson, M.L. 2009. Effects of feeding three types of corn-milling coproducts on milk production and ruminal fermentation of lactating Holstein cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 5120–5132.
- Kelzer, J.M., Kononoff, P.J., Tedeschi, L.O., Jenkins, T.C., Karges, K., Gibson, M.L. 2010. Evaluation of protein fractionation and ruminal and intestinal digestibility of corn milling coproducts. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 2803–2815.
- Kendall, E.M., Ingalls, J.R., Boila, R.J. 1991. Variability in the rumen degradability and postruminal digestion of the dry matter, nitrogen and amino acids of canola meal. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 71, 739– 754.



- Kim, C.-H., Choung, J-J., Chamberlain, D.G. 2001. Estimates of the efficiency of transfer of Lhistidine from blood to milk when it is the first limiting amino acid for secretion of milk protein in the dairy cow. J. Sci. Food Agric. 81, 1150-1155.
- Kleinschmit, D.H., Anderson, J.L., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R. 2007a. Ruminal and intestinal degradability of distillers grains plus solubles varies by source. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 2909-2918.
- Kleinschmit, D.H., Schingoethe, D.J., Hippen, A.R., Kalscheur, K.F. 2007b. Dried distillers grains plus solubles with corn silage or alfalfa hay as primary forage source in dairy cow diets. J. Dairy Sci. 90, 5587-5599.
- Korhonen, M., Vanhatalo, A., Huhtanen, P. 2002. Evaluation of isoleucine, leucine, and valine as a second-limiting amino acid for milk production in dairy cows fed grass silage diet. J. Dairy Sci. 85, 1533–1545.
- Korhonen, M., Vanhatalo, A., Varvikko, T., Huhtanen, P. 2000. Responses to graded postruminal doses of histidine in dairy cows fed grass silage diets. J. Dairy Sci. 83, 2596–2608.
- Křížová, L., Třináctý, J., Richter, M., Hadrová, S., Pozdíšek, J. 2008. Effect of ruminally-protected leucine supplement on milk yield and plasma amino acids in dairy cows. Agric. Food Sci. 17, 351–359.
- Kröber, T.F., Sutter, F., Senn, M., Langhans, W., Kreuzer, M. 2001. Effects of supplying leucine and methionine to early-lactating cows fed silage-concentrate based diets with a calculated deficiency in leucine and methionine. Anim. Res. 50, 5–20.
- Lapierre, H., Berthiaume, R., Raggio, G., Thivierge, M.C., Doepel, L., Pacheco, D., Dubreuil, P., Lobley, G.E. 2005. The route of absorbed nitrogen into milk protein. Anim. Sci. 80, 11–22.
- Lee, C., Giallongo, F., Hristov, A.N., Lapierre, H., Cassidy, T.W., Heyler, K.S., Varga, G.A., Parys, C. 2015. Effect of dietary protein level and rumen-protected amino acid supplementation on amino acid utilization for milk protein in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 1885–1902.
- Lee, C., Hristov, A.N., Cassidy, T.W., Heyler, K.S., Lapierre, H., Varga, G.A., de Veth, M.J., Patton, R.A., Parys, C. 2012. Rumen-protected lysine, methionine, and histidine increase milk protein yield in dairy cows fed a metabolizable protein-deficient diet. J. Dairy Sci. 95, 6042–56.
- Liu, C., Schingoethe, D.J., Stegeman, G.A. 2000. Corn distillers grains versus a blend of protein supplements with or without ruminally protected amino acids for lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 83, 2075-2084.
- Liu, K.S., Rosentrater, K.A. Eds. 2011. Distillers Grains: Production, Properties, and Utilization. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Mackle, T.R., Dwyer, D.A., Bauman, D.E. 1999. Effects of branched-chain amino acids and sodium caseinate on milk protein concentration and yield from dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 161–171.
- Maesoomi, S.M., Ghorbani, G.R., Alikhani, M., Nikkhah, A. 2006. Short communication: Canola meal as a substitute for cottonseed meal in diet of midlactation Holsteins. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 1673–1677.
- Martineau, R., Ouellet, D.R., Lapierre, H. 2013. Feeding canola meal to dairy cows: a meta-analysis on lactational responses. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 1701–14.
- Martineau, R., Ouellet, D.R., Lapierre, H. 2014. The effect of feeding canola meal on concentrations of plasma amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 1603–1610.
- Maxin, G., Ouellet, D.R., Lapierre, H. 2013. Ruminal degradability of dry matter, crude protein, and amino acids in soybean meal, canola meal, corn, and wheat dried distillers grains. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 5151–60.



- Mepham, T.B., Linzell, J.L. 1966. A quantitative assessment of the contribution of individual plasma amino acids to the synthesis of milk proteins by the goat mammary gland. Biochem. J. 101, 76– 83.
- Mepham, T.B. 1982. Amino acid utilization by lactating mammary gland. J. Dairy Sci. 65, 287–298.
- Metcalf, J.A., Beever, D.E., Sutton, J.D., Wray-Cahen, D., Evans, R.T., Humphries, D.J., Backwell, F.R., Bequette, B.J., MacRae, J.C. 1994. The effect of supplementary protein on in vivo metabolism of the mammary gland in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 1816–1827.
- Mjoun, K., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R., Schingoethe, D.J. 2010. Ruminal degradability and intestinal digestibility of protein and amino acids in soybean and corn distillers grains products. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 4144–4154.
- Mjoun, K., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R., Schingoethe, D.J., Little, D.E. 2010b. Lactation performance and amino acid utilization of cows fed increasing amounts of reduced-fat dried distillers grains with solubles. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 288-303.
- Mjoun, K., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A.R., Schingoethe. 2010a. Performance and amino acid utilization of early lactation dairy cows fed regular or reduced-fat dried distillers grains with solubles. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 3176-3191.
- Mulrooney, C.N., Schingoethe, D.J., Kalscheur, K.F., Hippen, A,R. 2009. Canola meal replacing distillers grains with solubles for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92, 5669–5676.
- Murthy, G.S., Singh, V., Johnston, D.B., Rausch, K.D., Tumbleson, M.E. 2006. Evaluation and strategies to improve fermentation characteristics of modified dry-grind corn processes. Cereal Chem. 83, 455-459.
- National Research Council, 2001. Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle, 7th rev. ed. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- National Research Council. 2003. Air emissions from animal feeding operations: Current knowledge, future needs. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC. http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10586.html. (Last accessed 7/30/2015).
- Nernberg, L. 2012. After the crush: Increasing canola demand through research and promotion. In: Proc. Sask Canola Producer Conference and AGM (January 12). Saskatoon, SK, Canada.
- Newkirk, R. 2009. Canola meal feed industry guide. 4th Edition. Canola Council of Canada, Winnipeg, MB, Canada. http://www.canolacouncil.org/media/516716/canola_meal_ feed_guide_english.pdf. (Last accessed 8/3/2015).
- Newkirk, R.W., Classen, H.L., Scott, T.A., Edney, M.J. 2003. The digestibility and concentration of amino acids in toasted and non-toasted canola meals. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 83, 131–139.
- Nichols, J.R., Schingoethe, D.J., Maiga, H.A., Brouk, M.J., Piepenbrink, M.S. 1998. Evaluation of corn distillers grains and ruminally protected lysine and methionine for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 482-491.
- Osorio, J.S., Ji, P., Drackley, J.K., Luchini, D., Loor, J.J. 2013. Supplemental Smartamine M or MetaSmart during the transition period benefits postpartal cow performance and blood neutrophil function. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 6248–63.
- Pacheco, D., Patton, R.A., Parys, C., Lapierre, H. 2012. Ability of commercially available dairy ration programs to predict duodenal flows of protein and essential amino acids in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95, 937–963.
- Patton, R.A. 2010. Effect of rumen-protected methionine on feed intake, milk production, true milk protein concentration, and true milk protein yield, and the factors that influence these effects: A meta-analysis. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 2105–2118.



- Paz, H.A., Klopfenstein, T.J., Hostetler, D., Fernando, S.C., Castillo-Lopez, E., Kononoff, P.J. 2014. Ruminal degradation and intestinal digestibility of protein and amino acids in high-protein feedstuffs commonly used in dairy diets. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 6485–98.
- Paz, H.A., Kononoff, P.J. 2014. Lactation responses and amino acid utilization of dairy cows fed lowfat distillers dried grains with solubles with or without rumen-protected lysine supplementation. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 6519–6530.
- Piepenbrink, M.S., Schingoethe, D.J. 1998. Ruminal degradation, amino acid composition, and estimated intestinal digestibilities of four protein supplements. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 454–461.
- Piepenbrink, M.S., Schingoethe, D.J., Brouk, M.J., Stegeman, G.A. 1998. Systems to evaluate the protein quality of diets fed to lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 1046–1061.
- Piepenbrink, M.S., Schingoethe, D.J., Brouk, M.J., Stegeman, G.A. 1998. Systems to evaluate the protein quality of diets fed to lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81, 1046–1061.
- Reynal, S.M., Broderick, G.A. 2005. Effect of dietary level of rumen-degraded protein on production and nitrogen metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 88, 4045–4064.
- Richter, M., Svobodová, J., Křížová, L., Třináctý, J., Homolka, P. 2010. Effect of duodenal infusions of leucine on milk yield and plasma amino acids in dairy cows. Czech J. Anim. Sci. 55, 351–358.
- Robinson, P.H. 2010. Impacts of manipulating ration metabolizable lysine and methionine levels on the performance of lactating dairy cows: A systematic review of the literature. Livest. Sci. 127, 115–126.
- Robinson, P.H. 2013. SHIELD Dairy ration evaluator. Department of Animal Science, UC Davis, Davis, CA, USA. http://animalscience.ucdavis.edu/faculty/robinson/Projects/pdf/SHIELD Project.pdf.
- Robinson, P.H., Chalupa, W., Sniffen, C.J., Julien, W.E., Sato, H., Fujieda, T., Watanabe, K., Suzuki, H. 1999. Influence of postruminal supplementation of methionine and lysine, isoleucine, or all three amino acids on intake and chewing behavior, ruminal fermentation, and milk and milk component production. J. Anim. Sci. 77, 2781–2792.
- Robinson, P.H., Karges, K., Gibson, M.L. 2008. Nutritional evaluation of four co-product feedstuffs from the motor fuel ethanol distillation industry in the Midwestern USA. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 146, 345-352.
- Rulquin, H., Pisulewski, P.M. 2006. Effects of graded levels of duodenal infusions of leucine on mammary uptake and output in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Res. 73, 328–339.
- Schwab, C.G., Satter, L.D., Clay, B. 1976. Response to lactating dairy cows to abomasal infusion of amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 59, 1254–1270.
- Schwab, C.G., Satter, L.D., Clay, B., 1976. Response to lactating dairy cows to abomasal infusion of amino acids. J. Dairy Sci. 59, 1254–1270.
- Shingfield, K.J. 2000. Estimation of microbial protein supply in ruminant animals based of renal and mammary purine metabolite excretion. A review. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 9, 169-212.
- Shingfield, K.J., Offer, N.W. 1998. Evaluation of the spot urine sampling technique to assess urinary purine derivative excretion in lactating dairy cows. Anim. Sci. 66, 557-568.
- Stefansson, B.R., Kondra, Z.P. 1975. Tower Summer Rape. Can. J. Plant Sci. 55, 343-344.
- Susmel, P., Spanghero, M., Stefanon, B., Mills, C.R. 1995. Nitrogen balance and partitioning of some nitrogen catabolites in milk and urine of lactating cows. Livest. Prod. Sci. 44, 207–219.
- Swanepoel, N., 2009. Estimating amino acid limitations in California dairy rations and the effect of feeding a ruminally protected lysine supplement on animal. MSc Dissertation. University of Pretoria, South Africa.
- Tas, B.M., Susenbeth, A., 2007. Urinary purine derivates excretion as an indicator of in vivo microbial N flow in cattle: A review. Livest. Sci. 111, 181–192.



- Třináctý, J., Křížová, L., Richter, M., Černý, V., Říha, J. 2009. Effect of rumen-protected methionine, lysine or both on milk production and plasma amino acids of high-yielding dairy cows. Czech J. Anim. Sci. 54, 239–248.
- Tripathi, M.K., Mishra, A.S. 2007. Glucosinolates in animal nutrition: A review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 132, 1-27.
- Tylutki, T.P. 2015. Nitrogen in Ruminants. In: Proceedings, California/Nevada, ARPAS Continuing Education Conference, Harris Ranch, CA. Section 5: 8 pp.
- Tylutki, T.P., Fox, D.G., Durbal, V.M., Tedeschi, L.O., Russell, J.B., Van Amburgh, M.E., Overton, T.R., Chase, L.E., Pell, A.N. 2008. Cornell Net Carbohydrate and Protein System: A model for precision feeding of dairy cattle. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 143, 174–202.
- USDA foreign agricultural services. 2011. Global agricultural information network. Gain Report number CA11015, USDA, Washington DC, USA.
- Van Niekerk, B.D., Reid, J.T., Bensadoun, A., Paladines, O.L. 1963. Urinary creatinine as an index of body composition. J. Nutr. 79, 463–473.
- Vanhatalo, A., Huhtanen, P., Toivonen, V., Varvikko, T., 1999. Response of dairy cows fed grass silage diets to abomasal infusions of histidine alone or in combinations with methionine and lysine. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 2674–2685.
- Varvikko, T., Vanhatalo, A., Jalava, T., Huhtanen, P. 1999. Lactation and metabolic responses to graded abomasal doses of methionine and lysine in cows fed grass silage diets. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 2659–2673.
- Vik-Mo, L., Huber, J.T., Bergen, W.G., Lichtenwalner, R.E., Emery, R.S. 1974. Blood metabolites in cows abomasally infused with casein or glucose. J. Dairy Sci. 57, 1024–1030.
- Wang, C., Liu, H.Y., Wang, Y.M., Yang, Z.Q., Liu, J.X., Wu, Y.M., Yan, T., Ye, H.W. 2010. Effects of dietary supplementation of methionine and lysine on milk production and nitrogen utilization in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 3661–3670.
- Weekes, T.L., Luimes, P.H., Cant, J.P. 2006. Responses to amino acid imbalances and deficiencies in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 2177–2187.
- Williams, W.L., Tedeschi, L.O., Kononoff, P.J., Callaway, T.R., Dowd, S.E., Karges, K., Gibson, M.L. 2010. Evaluation of in vitro gas production and rumen bacterial populations fermenting corn milling (co)products. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 4735–4743.
- Wisner, R. December 2010. Distillers Grain Price Relationships and Export Developments. AgMRC Renewable energy & climate change newsletter. http://www.agmrc.org/ renewable_energy/ethanol/distillers-grain-price-relationships-and-export-developments/ (accessed 3 Sept 2015). Agricultural Marketing Resource Center, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa, USA.
- Womack, M., Rose, W.C. 1946. The partial replacement of dietary phenylalanine by tyrosine for purposes of growth. J. Biol. Chem. 166, 429–434.
- Yu, Z.P., Xu, M., Wang, F., Liu, K., Yao, J.H., Wu, Z., Qin, D.K., Sun, F.F. 2014. Effect of duodenal infusion of leucine and phenylalanine on intestinal enzyme activities and starch digestibility in goats. Livest. Sci. 162, 134–140.
- Zanton, G.I., Bowman, G.R., Vázquez-Añón, M., Rode, L.M. 2014. Meta-analysis of lactation performance in dairy cows receiving supplemental dietary methionine sources or postruminal infusion of methionine. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 7085–7101.
- Zanton, G.I., Heinrichs, A.J., Jones, C.M. 2013. Short communication: Effects of level of rumendegradable protein and corn distillers grains in corn silage-based diets on milk production and ruminal fermentation in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 4638-4642.

v=vtb List of research project topics and materials



- Zhou, M.M., Wu, Y.M., Liu, H.Y., Liu, J.X. 2015. Effects of phenylalanine and threonine oligopeptides on milk protein synthesis in cultured bovine mammary epithelial cells. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 99, 215–220.
- Zinn, R.A. 1993. Characteristics of ruminal and total tract digestion of canola meal and soybean meal in a high-energy diet for feedlot cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 71, 796–801.